Engineering of Block Copolymer Nanotemplates for Optoelectronics

This thesis is submitted as a partial fulfilment of the Ph.D. programme in Physics

by

Lokesh Kumar Jangir

2012RPH9559



Department of Physics

Malaviya National Institute of Technology Jaipur

December 2017

©Malaviya National Institute of Technology Jaipur 2017 All Right Reserved

Thesis is dedicated to my family



MALAVIYA NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY JAIPUR (Institute of National Importance under NITs Act, Established by Govt. of India) मालवीय राष्ट्रीय प्रौद्योगिकी संस्थान जयपुर JLN Marg, Jaipur-302017 (India)

Declaration

I herewith declare that I have produced this thesis without the prohibited assistance of third parties and without making use of aids other than those specified; notions taken over directly or indirectly from other sources have been identified as such. This thesis has not previously been presented in identical or similar form to any other Indian or foreign examination board.

The thesis work was conducted from January, 2013 to December 2017 under the supervision of Dr. Kamlendra Awasthi and Prof. K C Swami at Department of Physics, Malaviya National Institute of Technology Jaipur.

Lokesh Kumar Jangir



MALAVIYA NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY JAIPUR (Institute of National Importance under NITs Act, Established by Govt. of India) मालवीय राष्ट्रीय प्रौद्योगिकी संस्थान जयपुर JLN Marg, Jaipur-302017 (India)

Supervisor's Certificate

This is to certify that the thesis entitled "Engineering of Block Copolymer Nano templates for Optoelectronics" is being submitted by Mr. Lokesh Kumar Jangir (ID No. 2012RPH9559), to the Malaviya National Institute of Technology Jaipur for the award of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Physics, is a bonafied record of original research work carried out by his. He has worked under our guidance and supervision and has fulfilled the requirement for the submission of this thesis, which has reached the requisite standard.

The result contained in this thesis have not been submitted in part or full, to any other university or institute for the award of any degree or diploma.

(Dr. Kamlendra Awasthi) Assistance Professor Department of Physics MNIT Jaipur (India) (Prof. K C Swami) Retd. Professor Department of Physics MNIT Jaipur (India)

Acknowledgements

At very first, I express my sincere gratitude and the best regards to my supervisor Dr. Kamlendra Awasthi, for his guidance during my Ph.D. His knowledge and dedication towards the work always motivates me. He was always available to solve my problems with his kind behaviour. I am very thankful to him to encourage and support me during my journey of research. I am very thankful to my co-supervisor Prof. K. C. Swami who always supported and encouraged me for doing my research work. He is very knowledgeable and kindhearted person.

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to Dr. Manoj Kumar, Assistant Professor, MNIT Jaipur for his consistent valuable discussions.

I, sincerely thank to the Head, department of Physics for giving me this opportunity to work in this laboratory. I also thank to all the Faculty members, Department of Physics, MNIT Jaipur for their suggestions during my research work and for their kind support.

I would like to extend my sincere thanks to Dr. Anjali Awasthi, Mrs. Sarika Kashyap, Dr. Kumud Kant Awasthi and Dr. Garima Awasthi for their support and encouragement.

I express my heartiest thanks to my friends and labmates Anil Kumar, Yogita Kumari, Rajesh Jangir, Kamakshi, Rini Singh, Pooja Kumari, Anoop M D, Shivani Shishodia, Prashant Sharma, Ritesh Dadhich, Aakanksha, and Jyoti from Soft Materials & High Pressure Physics Lab., Department of physics, MNIT Jaipur specially Yogesh kumar, Manish Kumar, Karam Chand and Manoj Kumar for their co-operation and making the journey memorable. I would also like to thank to all research scholars, Department of Physics, MNIT Jaipur for their moral support and always available with a solution to my problems.

I specially thank to Dr. K C Bhamu, NPDF fellow, National Chemical Laboratory, Pune, for being a friend, a senior and always having confidence in me for completing this journey.

I am thankful to all the staff members of Department of Physics and Material Research Centre (MRC), MNIT Jaipur for their kind support From deep of my heart, I am thankful to my parents and my wife (Poonam Kumari) who always encouraged me to pursue my goals and for always being my strength to face every difficulty and challenge in my life.

I also acknowledge the Ministry of Human Resources and Development, New Delhi, for providing me financial assistance under Institute Fellowship to out my Ph.D. work.

(Lokesh Kumar Jangir)

Abstract

In the present investigations, different chemical routes were optimized for the synthesis of ZnO nanoparticles with and without doping of various rare earth elements. Supramolecular assembly of diblock copolymer PS-*b*-P4VP and additive HABA have been explored for the fabrication of well-ordered array of ZnO nanostructures for their optoelectronic applications. Synthesized ZnO nanoparticles were studied for their action against Bacillus subtilis biofilm formation.

Zinc oxide nanoparticles (ZnO NPs) were synthesized by chemical methods using different precursors (zinc chloride, zinc nitrate hexahydrate and zinc acetate) and media (water, ethanol, and methanol). An effort has been made to precisely control the particle size and optical band gap by various methods, while maintaining the crystal structure. Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) analysis confirmed that the particle sizes of the synthesized ZnO nanoparticles were in the range of 5 nm to 20 nm. X-ray diffraction (XRD) studies were in tandem with the TEM studies and confirmed the hexagonal crystal structure for all the samples. Absorption spectra of these nanoparticles exhibit broad peaks in the range of 274 to 376 nm. Optical band gap values of the synthesized ZnO NPs were found to be in the range of 3.2 eV to 3.32 eV. The photoluminescence (PL) spectra show two emission peaks; one at 393âÅS420 nm which corresponds to band gap excitonic emission, and another located at 520-550 nm, due to the presence of defects. Variations in peak positions of the emission spectra are due to changes in the defect densities on the surfaces of the nanoparticles which were synthesized with different precursors. The number of sub peaks obtained from Gaussian peak function fitting of PL spectra shows the possible energy levels, the types of defects present in the samples and also their influence on the optical properties.

The synthesis of size controlled ZnO and rare-earth (RE) (terbium (Tb), erbium (Er), Europium (Eu)) doped ZnO nanoparticles (NPâĂŹs) via simple chemical route have been done. The structural, morphological and optical characterization was done using x-ray diffraction (XRD), transmission

electron microscopy (TEM), diffuse reflectance spectra (DRS) and photo luminescence (PL) spectroscopy. The formation of almost spherical, wurtzite phase with average crystallite size 12 nm of ZnO and RE doped ZnO was confirm by XRD and TEM. Decrease in band gap was observed in RE doped ZnO as compared to pure ZnO NPâĂŹs. Photo luminescence (PL) measurements reveal enhancement of visible luminescence intensity in RE^{3+} ZnO as compared to pure ZnO. RE doped ZnO shows characteristic peaks along with broad visible luminescence of ZnO originates from multiple intrinsic or extrinsic defects. The luminescence from RE³⁺ is enabled by energy transfer from defect centers of the host nanocrystal lattice to dopant sites. ZnO-RE energy transfer facilitates efficient intra-4f orbital transitions (${}^{5}D_{4} - {}^{7}F_{j}$ for Tb^{3+} , ${}^{5}D_{0} - {}^{7}F_{j}$ for Eu³⁺ and ${}^{4}F_{9/2} - {}^{4}I_{15/2}$, ${}^{4}S_{3/2} - {}^{4}I_{15/2}$ for Er³⁺) related characteristic green or red emission. Modulation of energy transfer dynamics is imperative to use the ZnO-based phosphor materials in future applications like optoelectronics and multi-colour emission displays. This can be achieved by the manipulation of defects through bottom up techniques, which is most viable, as suggested by the above studies.

The preparation and characterization of PS-*b*-P4VP block copolymer nanotemplates have been discussed. Ordered nanotemplates have been prepared using supramolecular assembly from diblock PS-*b*-P4VP and low molar mass additive HABA. Solvent annealing in a selective solvent (1-4 dioxane) affects the mobility of each block and results in the ordering of blocks. The molecular weight and volume fraction of one of the blocks determines the morphology of templates. It has been found that the cylindrical nanotemplates changes to lamellar when the relative volume fraction of minority block (P4VP/HABA) increases from \hat{a} Lij 0.3 \hat{a} LŠ 0.5. Ex situ approach were opt for deposition of ZnO nanoparticles in order to obtain the regular assembly of the nanoparticles for different optoelectronic applications.

With the advancements in medicine, technology and research strategies the world has witnessed a rise in spectrum of options available for treatment and prevention of diseases. By understanding the complex nature of interaction of pathogen with host and its environment, the focus has shifted from conventional therapy to modern improved preventive strategies. Nanoparticles have shown immense potential and have been effective in eradicating bacterial biofilm, which is the common cause of drug resistance development and repeated bacterial proliferation. Hence, in order to explore the same, in this study ZnO nanoparticles have been synthesized by different routes and their

action against Bacillus subtilis biofilm formation was evaluated. The dose dependent reduction in biofilm biomass and density was observed as a result of nanoparticle exposure. There was ~ 86% reduction in biofilm formation after treatment of ZnO NPs. Change in surface morphology of the Bacillus subtilis cells was observed which could be due to oxidative stress induced by ZnO nanoparticles. The oxidative stress was estimated by measurement of the catalyse activity that also showed dose dependent decrease.

List of Abbreviations

- **AFM** Atomic force microscopy
- DAPI 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
- **EDX** Electron diffraction x-ray spectroscopy
- **Er** Erbium
- **Eu** Europium
- **FITC** fluorescein isothiocyanate
- **FFT** Fast fourier transform
- **FTIR** Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy
- HABA 2-(4-hydroxyphenylazo) benzoic acid
- **OSC** Organic solar cell

PC Polycarbonate

- **PET** Polyethylene terephthalate
- **PS-b-P2VP** Poly (styrene)-b-poly (2-vinylpyridine)
- PS-b-P4VP Poly (styrene)-b-poly (4-vinylpyridine)
- **PS-b-PB** Poly (styrene)-b-poly (butadiene)
- PS-b-PDMS Polystyrene-b-polydimethylsiloxane
- **PS-b-PEB-b-PMMA** Poly (styrene-b-(ethylene-co-butylene)-b-methyl methacrylate)
- **PS-b-PEO** Poly (styrene)-b-poly (ethylene oxide)
- **PS-b-PFS** Poly (styrene)-b-poly (ferrocenyldimethylsilane)
- **PS-b-PI** Poly (styrene)-b-poly (isoprene)
- **PS-b-PMMA** Poly (styrene-b-methyl methacrylate)
- **PSC** Polymer solar cell

- **PL** Photoluminescence
- **RE** Rare earth
- **SEM** Scanning electron microscopy
- $\mathsf{TEM}\xspace$ Transmission electron microscopy
- **Tb** Terbium
- $\ensuremath{\mathsf{UV}}\xspace{-}\ensuremath{\mathsf{Visible}}\xspace$ spectroscopy
- **XRD** X-ray diffraction
- ZnO Zinc oxide

Contents

Lis	t of	Tables	8			xvii
Lis	t of	Figure	es			xix
1	Gen	eral Iı	ntroduct	ion		1
	1.1	Introd	uction		•	1
	1.2	Block	copolyme	rs		2
		1.2.1	Diblock	copolymers		3
		1.2.2	Triblock	copolymers		3
		1.2.3	Self asse	mbly \ldots	•	3
		1.2.4	Suprame	plecular assembly		5
	1.3	Zinc o	xide (ZnC)	\mathcal{O}) nanostructures $\ldots \ldots \ldots$		6
		1.3.1	Crystal S	Structure		7
		1.3.2	Native d	efects in ZnO		8
		1.3.3	Synthesi	s of ZnO NP's		8
	1.4	RE do	ped ZnO	NP's		9
	1.5	Applic	ations of	RE doped ZnO		10
	1.6	Block	copolyme	r nanotemplates directed nanostructures		10
	1.7	Motiva	ation & ol	bjectives of the work	•	11
2	Brie	ef Revi	ew of Li	terature		13
	2.1	Introd	uction		•	13
	2.2	ZnO N	νP's			14
		2.2.1	Synthesi	s methods of ZnO NP's		15
		2.2.2	RE-dopi	ng in ZnO		15
		2.2.3	Optical ₁	properties of ZnO and RE-doped nanostructures		15
			2.2.3.1	UV Visible spectra		15
			2.2.3.2	Low temperature photoluminescence	•	18

			2.2.3.3 Room temperature photo-luminescence	20
		2.2.4	Antibacterial Properties of ZnO	22
		2.2.5	Applications of RE doped ZnO nanostructures	24
	2.3	Block	copolymer thin films	25
	2.4	Order	ing in thin films	25
		2.4.1	Thermal annealing	26
		2.4.2	Solvent annealing	27
	2.5	Block	copolymer directed nanostructures	30
		2.5.1	Preparation of porous nanotemplates	31
		2.5.2	Deposition of inorganic material into the nanotemplates	31
		2.5.3	Removal of remaining polymer matrix	34
	2.6	Applie	cations of ordered ZnO nanostructures $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	35
		2.6.1	Light emitting diodes (LEDs)	35
		2.6.2	Gas sensors	37
		2.6.3	Field emitters	38
		2.6.4	Photovoltaics	39
	2.7	Concl	usions	40
3	Mat	terials	and Methods	41
		Introduction		
-	3.1	Introd	luction	41
-	$3.1 \\ 3.2$	Introd Mater	and	41 41
_	$3.1 \\ 3.2$	Introd Mater 3.2.1	luction	41 41 42
_	3.1 3.2	Introd Mater 3.2.1 3.2.2	luction	 41 41 42 42
_	3.13.23.3	Introd Mater 3.2.1 3.2.2 Techn	luction	 41 41 42 42 42 42
_	3.13.23.3	Introd Mater 3.2.1 3.2.2 Techn 3.3.1	luction	41 41 42 42 42 42 43
_	3.13.23.3	Introd Mater 3.2.1 3.2.2 Techn 3.3.1 3.3.2	luction	 41 41 42 42 42 42 43 43
-	3.13.23.3	Introd Mater 3.2.1 3.2.2 Techn 3.3.1 3.3.2 3.3.3	luction	 41 41 42 42 42 42 43 43 44
-	3.13.23.33.4	Introd Mater 3.2.1 3.2.2 Techn 3.3.1 3.3.2 3.3.3 Chara	luction	 41 41 42 42 42 42 43 43 44 45
-	3.13.23.33.4	Introd Mater 3.2.1 3.2.2 Techn 3.3.1 3.3.2 3.3.3 Chara 3.4.1	luction	41 41 42 42 42 42 43 43 43 44 45 45
	3.13.23.33.4	Introd Mater 3.2.1 3.2.2 Techn 3.3.1 3.3.2 3.3.3 Chara 3.4.1 3.4.2	luction	41 41 42 42 42 42 43 43 43 44 45 45 46
	3.13.23.33.4	Introd Mater 3.2.1 3.2.2 Techn 3.3.1 3.3.2 3.3.3 Chara 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3	luction	41 41 42 42 42 42 43 43 43 44 45 45 46 48
	3.13.23.33.4	Introd Mater 3.2.1 3.2.2 Techn 3.3.1 3.3.2 3.3.3 Chara 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3 3.4.4	luction	41 41 42 42 42 42 43 43 43 43 44 45 45 46 48 49
	3.13.23.33.4	Introd Mater 3.2.1 3.2.2 Techn 3.3.1 3.3.2 3.3.3 Chara 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3 3.4.4 3.4.5	huction	 41 41 41 42 42 42 42 43 43 43 44 45 45 46 48 49 51
	3.13.23.33.4	Introd Mater 3.2.1 3.2.2 Techn 3.3.1 3.3.2 3.3.3 Chara 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3 3.4.4 3.4.5 3.4.6	huction	 41 41 42 42 42 42 42 43 43 43 44 45 45 46 48 49 51 52
	3.13.23.33.4	Introd Mater 3.2.1 3.2.2 Techn 3.3.1 3.3.2 3.3.3 Chara 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3 3.4.4 3.4.5 3.4.6 3.4.7	luction	 41 41 42 42 42 42 43 43 43 44 45 45 45 46 48 49 51 52 53
	3.13.23.33.4	Introd Mater 3.2.1 3.2.2 Techn 3.3.1 3.3.2 3.3.3 Chara 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3 3.4.4 3.4.5 3.4.6 3.4.7 3.4.8	luction	$\begin{array}{c} 41\\ 41\\ 42\\ 42\\ 42\\ 43\\ 43\\ 44\\ 45\\ 45\\ 45\\ 46\\ 48\\ 49\\ 51\\ 52\\ 53\\ 53\\ 53\end{array}$

CONTENTS

		3.4.10	Crystal violet (CV) assay	54
		3.4.11	Scanning electron micrograph for bacterial biofilm	54
4	\mathbf{Syn}	thesis	and Characterization of ZnO NP's	55
	4.1	Introd	uction	55
	4.2	Exper	imental details	56
		4.2.1	ZnO by $ZnCl_2$ in water medium	56
		4.2.2	ZnO by $ZnCl_2$ in methanol medium	56
		4.2.3	ZnO by $ZnCl_2$ in ethanol medium	57
		4.2.4	ZnO by $Zn(NO_3)_2.6H_2O$ in water medium $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	57
		4.2.5	ZnO by green synthesis method	57
		4.2.6	ZnO by Zinc acetate in DMSO medium	57
	4.3	Result	s and discussion	57
		4.3.1	X-ray Diffraction (XRD)	58
		4.3.2	Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)	59
		4.3.3	Diffuse Reflectance Spectroscopy (DRS)	62
		4.3.4	Photo luminescence (PL) spectroscopy	64
	4.4	Conclu	usion	68
5	\mathbf{Syn}	thesis	of RE doped ZnO NP's and their Characterization	69
	5.1	Introd	luction	69
	5.2	Exper	imental details	70
		5.2.1	Synthesis of pure and RE doped ZnO NP's	70
		5.2.2	Synthesis of RE doped ZnO NP's \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	70
	5.3	Result	s and Discussion	70
		5.3.1	X-ray Diffraction (XRD)	71
		5.3.2	Scaning Electron Microscopy (SEM)	72
		5.3.3	Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)	74
		5.3.4	UV-Vis. Diffuse Reflectance Spectroscopy (DRS)	75
		5.3.5	Photo luminescence (PL) spectroscopy	78
	5.4	Conclu	usion	83
6	Blo	ck cop	olymer directed nanostructures	85
	6.1	Introd	uction	85
	6.2	Exper	imental details	86
		6.2.1	Deposition of thin films of supramolecular assembly	87
		6.2.2	Ordering in thin films and surface reconstruction	87
		6.2.3	Deposition of NP's into the templates	88

	6.3	Results and	d discussion	. 89
		6.3.1 Ver	tically aligned cylindrical porous templates	. 89
		6.3.2 Ver	tically aligned lamellar templates	. 93
		6.3.3 Swi	tching behavior of thin film	. 94
		6.3.4 ZnO	O and RE doped ZnO NP's deposition in nanotemplates	. 95
	6.4	Application	ns	. 97
	6.5	Conclusion	s	. 97
_	•			
7	Ant	ibacterial	activities of ZnO NP's	99
	7.1	Introductio	on	. 99
	7.2	Results and	d discussion	. 101
		7.2.1 Ant	bibacterial activity	. 101
		7.2.2 Effe	ect of ZnO NP's on <i>Bacillus subtilis</i> biofilm formation	. 102
		7.2.3 Cry	rstal Violet Assay	. 103
		7.2.4 Sca	nning Electron Micrographs	. 104
	7.3	Conclusion		. 106
8	Cor	clusion an	d future aspects	107
	8.1	Introductio	on	. 107
	8.2	Future sco	pe of the work	. 109
Bi	ibliog	graphy		111

List of Tables

2.1	Basic properties of ZnO	14
2.2	Various methods for synthesis of ZnO nanostructures	16
2.3	Various methods for synthesis of RE doped ZnO nanostructures	17
2.4	peak position and possible origin of bound exciton lines in ZnO	19
2.5	Positions and proposed origin of room temperature PL peaks in ZnO	21
2.6	Applications of RE-doped ZnO nanostructures	24
4.1	Lattice parameters for all the samples and corresponding JCPDS card	
	numbers	59
4.2	Summary of present work	62
4.3	Band position, relative intensities and bandwidth in individual band after	
	Gaussian fitting of PL of ZnO NP's \hdots	67
5.1	Calculated Lattice parameter, crystalline size and optical band-gap of NP's	78

List of Figures

1.1	Schematic diagram of linear di-block (AB), triblock (ABA, BAB and	
	ABC) and AB multi-block copolymers [1]	2
1.2	(a) Equilibrium morphologies of the bulk of AB diblock copolymers: S and	
	$\mathbf{S}' = \mathbf{sphere}, \mathbf{L} = \mathbf{lamellae}, \mathbf{G} \text{ and } \mathbf{G}' = \mathbf{gyroid}, \mathbf{and} \mathbf{C} \text{ and } \mathbf{C}' = \mathbf{cylinder}.$	
	(b) Theoretical phase diagram of AB diblocks and (c) Experimental phase	
	portrait of polyisoprene-block-polystyrene copolymers, here f_A represents	
	the volume fraction of block A, $PL = perforated lamellae [2]$	4
1.3	Schematic representation of ZnO crystal structures: hexagonal Wurtzite	
	(a) and cubic zinc blende (b). The shaded black and grey spheres repre-	
	sent oxygen and zinc atoms respectively	7
1.4	The schematic of calculated defect's levels in ZnO film $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	8
2.1	(a) UV-Vis spectra of pure and Eu^{3+} doped ZnO (0.1, 0.2 and 0.3 mole%)	
	doped samples (b) Comparison of bandgap energies with the variation in	
	concentration of Europium [3]	18
2.2	Solid state PL measurements for ZnO nanorods at different temperature	
	doped with Tb precursor; (a) Near band edge emission and (b) visible	
	PL spectra due to distinct intra-4f transition [4]	20
2.3	PL spectra of \mathbb{RE}^{3+} doped ZnO nanorods synthesized using different con-	
	centrations (atom%) of (a) Tb^{3+} and (b) Eu^{3+} precursors. (c and d) Time	
	delayed PL spectra of Tb^{3+} and Eu^{3+} doped ZnO [4]	22
2.4	(a) Variation of correlation length with annealing temperature, (b) Time	
	evolution of lateral ordering at an annealing temperature 270°C, and (c)	
	Thickness dependence of lateral ordering annealed at $270^{\circ}C$	27
2.5	AFM images of as-deposited $PS-b-P4VP$ thin film (a), before (b) and	
	after (d) surface reconstruction of thin film annealed in the vapours of	
	solvent 1-dioxane, and before (c) and after (e) surface reconstruction of	
	thin film annealed in the vapours of solvent toluene/THF	29
2.6	Process flow for the fabrication of ordered array of metal oxides NP's $$	33

LIST OF FIGURES

2.7	Scheme for the fabrication of ordered array of nanodots (top) and SEM	
	images of the ordered array of metal nanodots (a) Au, (b) Pt, and (c)	
	Pd. Inset shows the FFT of the image	33
2.8	SEM images of metal oxide NP's	34
2.9	I-V curves of the ZnO/GaN heterostructures	36
2.10	EL spectra of ZnO/p-GaN LED (a) and a ZnO film-based LED (b). The	
	insets show the schematic of the respective LEDs [5]	36
2.11	Gas response of different dia size ZnO nanowire sensors [6]	38
3.1	Schematic for the synthesis of ZnO (left) NR's using different precurssors	
	and solvents and RE-doped ZnO (right) NP's	43
3.2	Process flow for the dip coating	44
3.3	Schematic for the solvent annealing of block copolymer thin film	45
3.4	Schematic diagram of X-ray diffractometer	46
3.5	Schematic diagram of SEM	47
3.6	Schematic diagram of TEM	48
3.7	Schematic diagram of UV-Visible	49
3.8	Schematic for working of AFM (left), and Vander walls force variation	
	with the distance between tip and sample	51
3.9	Schematic for working of photoluminescence	52
4.1	XRD spectra of all ZnO NP's	58
4.2	TEM image, diffraction pattern and HRTEM image of ZnO synthesized	
	by method 4.2.1 (a, b & c) and 4.2.2 (d, e & f). $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	60
4.3	TEM image, diffraction pattern and HRTEM image of ZnO synthesized	
	by method 4.2.3 (g, h & i), 4.2.4 (j, k & l), 4.2.6 (m, n & o) and 4.2.5 (p.	
	q & r)	61
4.4	Room temperature diffuse reflectance spectra of ZnO NP's prepared by	
	method 4.2.1 to 4.2.6	63
4.5	UV Vis absorption spectra of ZnO NP's prepared by method 4.2.1 to 4.2.6.	63
4.6	Kubelka-Munk function versus energy plots of all the ZnO samples	64
4.7	PL spectra of all the ZnO samples $(\lambda_{exc} = 325nm)$	65
4.8	Gaussian fitted Photo luminescence spectra and corresponding possible	
	energy level diagram for all the ZnO samples $(\lambda_{exc} = 325nm)$	66
5.1	XRD patterns of undoped ZnO and Er, Eu and Tb doped ZnO NP's	71
5.2	XRD patterns of undoped ZnO and 1.5 wt% RE doped (<i>Er, Eu, Tb</i>) ZnO	
	NP's. (a) represents the enlarged peaks of the spectra , (b) indicates the	
	shifting in most intense peaks towards lower angle	71

5.3	SEM image Tb doped (a .5 wt% Tb, b 1.5 wt% Tb, c 2 wt% Tb and d 5	
	wt% Tb) ZnO NP's	73
5.4	EDX spectra of different wt% Tb doped ZnO NP's	73
5.5	TEM, HRTEM and SAED pattern of undoped (a) and 1.5 wt% RE (Tb	
	(b), Er (c) and Eu (d)) doped ZnO NP's	74
5.6	Room temperature DRS spectra of different wt $\%$ doped Er, Eu and Tb	
	doped ZnO NP's	76
5.7	UV-V is absorption spectra of different wt $\%$ doped Er, Eu and Tb doped	
	ZnO NP's	76
5.8	Kubelka-Munk function versus energy plots of different wt% doped Er,	
	Eu and Tb doped ZnO NP's	77
5.9	DRS, UV-Vis absorption spectra and Kubelka-Munk function versus en-	
	ergy plots of undoped and 1.5 wt% RE (Er, Tb and Eu) doped ZnO	
	NP's	77
5.10	Room temperature PL spectra of different wt% doped Er, Eu and Tb	
	doped ZnO NP's. $(\lambda_{erc} = 325nm)$	79
5.11	PL spectra of undoped and 1.5 wt% RE (Er, Tb and Eu) doped ZnO	
	NP's. $(\lambda_{exc} = 325nm)$.	81
5.12	Schematic of energy level diagram and possible transitions for RE (Tb.	
	Er and Eu) doped ZnO NPs	82
	/ I	
6.1	Chemical structure of PS- b -P4VP/HABA supramolecular assembly (left)	
	and schematic for the fabrication of nanotemplates (right)	87
6.2	Scheme for the fabrication of ordered ZnO and RE doped ZnO nanos-	
	tructures	88
6.3	AFM height image of PS- <i>b</i> -P4VP/HABA ($M_n^{PS} = 35.5 \ kg/mol, M_n^{P4VP} =$	
	4.4 kg/mol) thin films $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	90
6.4	AFM height image of PS- <i>b</i> -P4VP/HABA ($M_n^{PS} = 35.5 \ kg/mol, M_n^{P4VP} =$	
	4.4 kg/mol) thin films after immersing in ethanol	91
6.5	AFM height images of PS-b-P4VP/HABA ($M_n^{PS} = 130 \ kg/mol, M_n^{P4VP} =$	
	75 kg/mol) thin films, (left) without annealing and (right) annealed in	
	1-4 dioxane	92
6.6	AFM height images of PS-b-P4VP/HABA ($M_n^{PS} = 130 \; kg/mol, M_n^{P4VP} =$	
	75 kg/mol) thin films after immersing in ethanol	92
6.7	AFM height and phase images of PS-b-P4VP/HABA ($M_n^{PS} = 33 \; kg/mol$,	
	$M_n^{P4VP} = 8 \ kg/mol$) thin films (left) without annealing and (right) an-	
	nealed in the vapours of 1-4 dioxane	93

LIST OF FIGURES

6.8	(a, b) AFM images of PS-b-P4VP/HABA ($M_n^{PS} = 33 \ kg/mol, \ M_n^{P4VP} =$
	8 kg/mol) thin films annealed in 1-4 dioxane and after immersing in ethanol. 94
6.9	AFM images of PS-b-P4VP/HABA ($M_n^{PS} = 33 \ kg/mol, \ M_n^{P4VP} = 8$
	kg/mol) thin films annealed in chloroform and after immersing in ethanol. 95
6.10	AFM images of an array of ZnO nanostructures in nanotemplate 96
6.11	AFM images of an array of RE doped ZnO nanostructures in nanotemplate. 96
7.1	Antibacterial activity of ZnO NP's on <i>Bacillus subtilis</i> at concentration
	of (a) 2mg/ml (b) 5mg/ml (c) 10mg/ml. \ldots
7.2	Fluorescence micrographs (a) Control (witout ZnO NP's) (b) at ZnO
	concentration of 1mg/ml (c) 2mg/ml (d) 5 mg/ml (e) 10 mg/ml 102
7.3	Biofilm formation setup (a) before incubation and (b) after incubation
	with ZnO NP's. The concentration ZnO NP's in tubes: control (first
	2 tubes from left), 0.5 mg ml ⁻¹ (2 tubes in mid) and 1 mg ml ⁻¹ (first 2
	tubes from right)
7.4	(1) Dissolution of Crystal Violet Dye: (a) Acetic acid (b) Blank (c) Con-
	trol (d, e), treated with ZnO NP's with concentrations 0.2 and 0.5 mg
	ml^{-1} respectively. (2) Graph showing crystal violet absorbance at 550
	nm by blank, control and ZnO NP's treated samples
7.5	Scanning Electron Micrographs of biofilm: (a, c, e, g) Control; (b, d, f, h)
	treated with ZnO with concentration 0.2 mg ml-1. The arrows indicate:
	Red: biofilm (a) Black: adhered cells (a, b) Gold: linear chain formation,
	Red: biofilm (a) Black: adhered cells (a, b) Gold: linear chain formation, initial stage (b, d) Blue: deformed cells (h, f) Green: viable cell (g, h)
	Red: biofilm (a) Black: adhered cells (a, b) Gold: linear chain formation, initial stage (b, d) Blue: deformed cells (h, f) Green: viable cell (g, h) Dark Red: EPS (g, h, i) White: embedded NP's (d, h)

1

General Introduction

1.1 Introduction

Ordered nanostructures have attracted a great attention as they have wide range applications from optoelectronics to biomedicine. Various techniques are known for patterning in nanometer range, such as X-ray lithography, e-beam or electron beam lithography, imprint lithography and Photo lithography [7–9]. But it is very difficult to achieve ordered nano structures of size less than 30 nm over a large area with the lithographic techniques mentioned above. This calls for a simple and effective patterning technique to generate large area ordered nanostructures with dimensions less than 30 nm. Fabrication of ordered nanostructurs using block copolymer nanotemplate is an efficient approach [10, 11]. Block copolymers are phase-separated and self-assembled into nanostructured morphologies due to the covalent linkage of the two blocks. These block copolymer thinfilms with micro-phase separated blocks involves several steps for best utilization [12, 13]. Furthermore block copolymers provides variety of morphology such as spherical, cylindrical, lamellar and gyroidal. The nanoparticles (NP's) incorporation into these self-assembled blocks is relatively simple since no external field is required for deposition of NP's [13]. It is a great challenge to get stable nanosturctures in an ordered fashion. The stability along with controlled arrangement of these NPs in an ordered fashion above substrate is a great challenge. Various methods have been adopted for selective deposition of metallic NP's into the desired block of the block copolymer domain by preloading or post-loading of NP's. Here pre-loading is the process of loading the block copolymer solution with NP's before deposition onto the surface. In this the pre-synthesized metallic NP's and block copolymer solution are mixed. Now these NP's selectively interact with blocks to form nanopatterned block copolymer arrays. Whereas post-loading is the process of loading the NP's after the fabrication of the thin

film of nanotemplates [14, 15]. Among these methods post-loading methods widely used for deposition of metallic NP's, since this approach is relatively simple. Moreover, this method can be easily extended to fabricate large area templates and hence samples. For example, E. Bhoje Gowd *et al.* and co-workers have used 4-vinyl pyridine (polystyreneblock-poly) (PS-*b*-P4VP) nanotemplates for the deposition of Au, Pt and Pd NP's [16]. Furthermore supramolecular assembly (SMA) plays a crucial role in the fabrication of metal-oxide nanostructures.

This thesis work is an effort to prepare an ordered nanostructure of optically active material via template method. Pure and rare earth (RE) doped ZnO NP's were synthesized via simple chemical route in the diameter regime 5-15 nm. The supramolecular assembled thin film of block copolymer PS-*b*-P4VP and low molecular mass aditive 2-(4-hydroxyphenylazo)benzoic acid (HABA) were deposited on silicon substrate using dip coating technique. These films were further annealed 1-4 dioxane atmosphere in order to get ordering. Further, these thin films were rinsed using ethanol for selective removal of the block P4VP which is bonded with HABA. The obtained nanoporous template were used for deposition of pre-synthesized ZnO and RE doped ZnO NP's. These prepared nanostructures has potential application in optoelectronics devices such as LED's, solar cells etc... Antibacterial activity and biofilm activity of ZnO were also studied.

1.2 Block copolymers

Polymers are long chain molecules and broadly they are categorized into two types of polymers; homo-polymer and co-polymer. Homo-polymers consists only one type of monomers where as block copolymer consists of two or more than two monomers. The arrangement of monomers in co-polymers may be random or periodic. If the arrangement is periodic then copolymer is known as block copolymer.



Figure 1.1: Schematic diagram of linear di-block (AB), triblock (ABA, BAB and ABC) and AB multi-block copolymers [1].

So, block co-polymers are the polymers comprising of the blocks of monomers repeating in a particular sequence and according to the number of blocks they are called di, tri or multi block copolymers. Figure 1.1 represents the schematic representation of different block copolymers.

1.2.1 Diblock copolymers

Diblock copolymers consist of two monomers grouped together in a homogenous block of the polymer chains. The phase diagram for possible morphologies and their dependency on tha degree of polymerization (N), the volume fraction (f) and on the Flory-Huggins interaction parameter (χ) as well as schematic representation of the morphologies have been addressed in section 1.2.3. Diblock copolymers represents the simplest architectures rather than the other block copolymers (triblock and multiblock) and these are the most investigating block copolymers for the device applications. Most of diblock copolymers are consisting of PS, here are some examples for diblock copolymers; PS-*b*-PMMA, PS*b*-P4VP, PS-*b*-P2VP, PS-*b*-PEO, PS-*b*-PI, PS-*b*-PB. Among them PS-*b*-PMMA and PS*b*-P4VP have been extensively investigated for different structures, ordering, alignment and fabrication of nanostructures.

1.2.2 Triblock copolymers

Triblock copolymers consists of three dissimilar monomers (ABC triblock copolymer) grouped in homogenous blocks having repulsive interactions among them. The phase separation of microdomains in triblock copolymers not only depends on f, N and χ but also depends on the mutual interactions between the blocks A-B, B-C and C-A, and the blocks sequence. Therefore, they have more complexed morphologies as compaired to diblock copolymers. Zeng *et al.* have focused on the dependency of morphology on the sequence of block and strength of interactions between the blocks and theoretically calculated the phase diagram for the morphology of triblock copolymers [17].

1.2.3 Self assembly

Block copolymers are covalently bonded polymers. The formation of large domains restricted by connectivity between the polymers, leads to so called microphase separation. The theoretical descriptions of micro-phase separation has been developed by Helfand, Wassermann [18] and Leibler [19] and finally Matsen and Bates combined them in 1996 [20]. The appearance of micro-domains are determined by three principal factors the total degree of polymerization $N_{total}(= N_A + N_B)$, the Flory-Huggins interaction parameter χ , and volume fraction ((f_A and f_B) of the blocks A and B respectively (

1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION

 $f_A + f_B = 1$ [21]. The degree of incompatibility of blocks is specified by the χ parameter, which drives the phase separation between the blocks, A and B. Equation (1.1) describes the relation between χ_{AB} and temperature (T)

$$\chi_{AB} = \left(\frac{z}{k_B T}\right) \left[\varepsilon_{AB} - \frac{1}{2} (\varepsilon_{AA} + \varepsilon_{BB})\right]$$
(1.1)

where z is the number of nearest neighbors in the polymer, k_B is the Boltzman constant, T is the temperature in kelvin, ε_{AA} , ε_{BB} and ε_{AB} are the interaction energy of the repeated unit A-A, B-B, and A-B, respectively. The degree of polymerization predestinate the radius of gyration R_g which indirectly determine the size of the micro-domains. Characteristic stretching is associated with the polymer growth to fill the space, this N accommodates the entropic contribution towards the Gibbs free energy of the block copolymer.



Figure 1.2: (a) Equilibrium morphologies of the bulk of AB diblock copolymers: S and S' = sphere, L = lamellae, G and G' = gyroid, and C and C' = cylinder. (b) Theoretical phase diagram of AB diblocks and (c) Experimental phase portrait of polyisoprene-*block*-polystyrene copolymers, here f_A represents the volume fraction of block A, PL = perforated lamellae [2].

Chemical incompatibility among the blocks causes repulsion between them which causes phase A to penetrate into phase B. The incompatibility is described by the χ parameter, which is a function of temperature, which inherently specifice the enthaplic contribution towards the total Gibbs free energy. The curve between the product χN and f (the volume fraction of one of the blocks) expresses phase balance between entropy and enthalpy of the block. Hence this curve is considered as a phase diagram (figure 1.2). The mechanism for formation of the different morphologies is affected by two factors: one mediated by the chain stretching, the contribution towards entropy and other is the intefacial energy between the two blocks, the enthalpic contribution. During microphase separation, the blocks get separated in such a way that the interfacial lowered so that the total energy is minimized. minimize the interfacial area to lower the total interfacial energy. This phase separation results in the chain stretching, directed away from the preffered polymer chain conformation. The relative volume fraction wrt diblock is the major factor controlling the degree of stretching. The well known mechanism for the morphological transition 'the cone-column mechanism' is described in Figure 1.2. When there is a high asymmetry between the diblocks, the smaller block usually prefers to aggregate into spherical microdomain, hence allowing the other block to surround them "coronas" (figure 1.2 a). This process increases the configurational entropy by lowering the interfacial area when compared to other morphologies making it energetically more favourable. As the effective volume fraction f_A increased at a fixed temperature, the corona volume fraction gets decreased resulting in the formation of less curved interfaces (figure 1.2 b and c). This changes forces the polymer chains to adopt new arrangements so as to reduce stretching. This leads to the morphological transformation of spheres to cylinders and then to lamellae(figure 4.2 b). The length scale of each domain is of the order of the corresponding radius of gyration [22], which results in structure sizes of $\sim 10 - 40$ nm. Block copolymers can be aligned in the bulk and thin films. Several reports have been proposed to make ordered block copolymers highly interesting for technological applications such as nanofabrication [23]. It is known that block copolymers films can be aligned by shear [24], or by exploiting surface properties such as the surface roughness, [25, 26] or else by using electric fields [27–29]. This way large-area ordered nanostructures can be processed cost-efficiently, without the use of lithography [30] which can be used as nanostructured templates.

1.2.4 Supramolecular assembly

Supramolecular assembly (SMA) is the process in which the small molecules called additives are attached with the one of the copolymer blocks via some specific interactions. The addition of these small molecules swells significantly one of the blocks and induces the interesting phase behavior of the block copolymers. These small molecules are associated with the co-polymer with weak interactions or noncovalent bonds. Generally, they interact with co-polymer via hydrogen bond. These molecules attach with one of the block, resulting in the alteration of the relative volume fraction of that block which in-turn changes the morphology. Another advantage with the SMA is the readily removal of these small molecules by selective solvents which make them interesting for the fabrication of variety of functional nanomaterials. An example of the supramolecular complex system is PS-*b*-P4VP and pentadecylphenol (PDP) which has been widely investigated by Ikkala and co-workers [31]. The chemical structures and schematic representation of PS-*b*-P4VP and PDP are shown in figure 1.3 (a), PDP molecules possess the hydroxyl group which is bonded with pyridine group of P4VP via hydrogen bond. PDP molecules have polar backbone and non-polar alkyl tails with a sufficient repulsion between them. This repulsion is responsible to form the structures within structures with two length scale (figure 1.3 (b)). So, PDP molecules are microphase separated from P4VP and non-polar alkyl tails are aligned normal to the P4VP copolymer (shown in figure 1.3 (a)).

1.3 Zinc oxide (ZnO) nanostructures

An extensive research in the field of science and technology for nanomaterials has been going on since past decades. The structural, thermal, electronic and optical properties altered drastically when the size of the materials is reduced to the nanometer scale. ZnO, a II-VI compound semiconductor with a wide bandgap of $\sim 3.4 \ eV$, is a versatile material with wide range of applications in optical devices (like light-emitting diodes (LEDs), UV laser, optical waveguides, solar cells etc...), field emission devices, photocatalysis, UV sensors, security printing, antibacterial and gas sensing [32–37]. Its vast and diverse morphology, easy and economic synthesis and thermal, mechanical as well as chemical stability of ZnO makes it a popular choice in optical devices. However, the promise of these nanocrystals as a technological material for such applications may ultimately depend on tuning their behavior by doping. Impurities can modify the properties of the material including optical, electronic, and magnetic properties [38–40]. It is required to control the size, shape, crystal structure and synthesis of novel nanostructures in order to design these properties of ZnO for practical applications. However, for some applications, such as nano-electronics and fluorescent imaging it has been noticed that tuning of band gap only by changing the morphology or size of nanocrystals is sufficient. Doping of appropriate impurity in semiconductor material plays an important role for desired optoelectronic and photovoltaic applications [41-43]. ZnO is considered as a unique host material for doping of optically active impurities which have luminescence

at room temperature [44]. Generally, semiconducting NP's are known to exhibit exotic physicochemical properties due to quantum confinement effect. Considering these advantages, there was a recent sruge in review articles, describing the progress in the growth and applications of various ZnO nanostructures having different morphologies [45, 46].

1.3.1 Crystal Structure

ZnO crystallizes in its thermodynamically stable wrutzite structure at ambient conditions. However, zinc-blend and rock-salt structures are also favorable crystal structures. In Schoenflies notation the wrutzite structure belongs to the class C6v4 (Space group) and to P63mc class in Hermann-Mauguin notation. The primitive unit cell of ZnO consist of two formula units, in which each zinc ion is surrounded by four oxygen ions in a tetrahedral coordination and vice versa [47]. The piezoelectric properties and crystallographic polarity of ZnO is due to the noncentrosymmetric tetrahedral coordination in ZnO which is a key factor in crystal growth and defect creation. Out of these the polar and the (1010) surfaces are found to be stable while the (1120) face is less stable [48]. For an ideal wrutzite structure, the lattice parameters derived from X-ray diffraction, at room temperature are a = b = 3.25Å and c = 5.20Å with a c/a ratio of 1.6. However, the lattice parameters aandbÅ typically ranges from 3.2475 to 3.2501Å and c-parameter from 5.2042 to 5.2075Å. This variation is directly related to the concentration of foreign atoms, external strains, defects and temperature [47].



Figure 1.3: Schematic representation of ZnO crystal structures: hexagonal Wurtzite (a) and cubic zinc blende (b). The shaded black and grey spheres represent oxygen and zinc atoms respectively

1.3.2 Native defects in ZnO

It is of prime importance to control the defects and its associated charge carriers for the device applications of ZnO materials. The defects are directly correlated to doping which exploits the properties of ZnO materials, minority carrier lifetime and luminescence efficiency. This may be directly correlated to the diffusion mechanisms connected to growth, processing and devices degradation.



Figure 1.4: The schematic of calculated defect's levels in ZnO film

There are a number of intrinsic defects in ZnO with different ionization energies: oxygen vacancy (V_O) , Zn vacancy (V_{Zn}) , zinc interstitial (Zn_i) , oxygen interstitial (O_i) and antisite oxygen O_{Zn} . The predominant ionic defect types are Zn interstitials and oxygen vacancies [49–51]. The energy levels of the native defects in ZnO film were calculated, as shown in figure 1.4. The atomic and electronic structures of the native defects in ZnO have been extensively investigated, both theoretically and experimentally [49–53].

1.3.3 Synthesis of ZnO NP's

There are several methods reported for the synthesis of ZnO nanostructures having different structures, shapes, and morphologies. Basically, the methods are chemical, physical, or mechanical, such as sol gel process [54], chemical vapor de-position [55], microwave synthesis [56], direct precipitation [57], homogeneous precipitation [58], micro emulsion synthesis [59], spray pyrolysis [60], plasma synthesis [61], ball milling [62], wet chemical synthesis [63], solvo-thermal and hydro thermal synthesis [64], pulsed laser ablation technique [65], combustion flame [66] etc... Out of these methods, the coprecipitation method is simple to implement, economically effective, and high yielding method for obtaining NP's at desired room temperature [67–69]. This method is steady, fast, and spontaneous for the controlled growth of ZnO NPs by controlling the various parameters such as temperature, pH, and the type of solvent and reacting time of precursors to form co-precipitation.

1.4 RE doped ZnO NP's

For enhance the performance properties of ZnO without changing it's physio-chemical properties numerous studies are taking place by researchers to find the optimum solution. Thus, modifications are taking place by adding impurity or defect at the time of synthesis of NP's [70] The addition of impurities or foreign atoms to a compound by creating defect for enhancing its physical properties is termed as doping. Here, doping is required to modify the physical properties of nanostructures [71, 72]. Tuning of electrical conductivity, optical, luminescent, magnetic, and other physical properties of semiconductor material can be achieved by doping of impurities into the semiconductor lattices [73]. Due to wide band gap, pure ZnO is an insulator so electrical devices would not operate without having impurities. A small change in the concentrations of native or non-native defects can improve the conductivity of ZnO over 10 orders of magnitude. So, the doping is required for using ZnO in different devices. In ZnOnanostructures, there are basically two types of defects: intrinsic defects and extrinsic defects. The interstitial of zinc and oxygen, and vacancies at the bonding between zinc and oxygen are intrinsic or native point defects of ZnO NP's. Since the oxygen vacancies and zinc interstitials are dominant native or relevant donor, so the formation of donor levels are highly probable, if the Fermi energy band is at the valence band [74]. The zinc vacancies are the main native acceptor in ZnO. Oxygen anti-site has considered as deep acceptors because it has the highest defect formation energy even for oxygen rich conditions among the native point defects of ZnO NP's. Extrinsic defects are classified into two types: n-type and p-type. The n-type ZnO are obtained by doping with III Group elements (Al, In etc...), transition metal elements (Pb, Mn, Fe, Ni, Co etc...) and RE metals (Eu, Er, Gd, Tb etc...) [75–79]. These elements incorporate on the zinc lattice site and become shallower effective mass donors. With the help of hydrogen free electron concentration of n-type ZnO can be achieved. It is very difficult to formation of p-type ZnO because of the asymmetric doping limitations in ZnO nanostructures for practical as well as industrial applications [80]. The RE elements are considered as good dopants in ZnO due to their optical and high conductivity properties [75–77, 81]. RE doped wide band gap semiconductors has the importance for display applications involving UV, visible, and infrared light emission because of wide band gap that exhibits less thermal quenching of emissions than narrow gap semiconductors. Furthermore the

studies of RE (Tb, Eu, Gd etc...) doped ZnO suggest that these materials may useful in optoelectronic spintronic applications [82, 83]. Thus the doping of RE helps to modify the properties of ZnO nanostructures by modifying their crystal structure, morphology, size, and surface defects [78, 82].

1.5 Applications of RE doped ZnO

Due to their unique and versatile features and properties, the RE-doped ZnO nanostructures can be used in various industrial applications [84, 85]. They are used in the field of electronics and semiconductor industry for developing single electron transistors, photodetectors, fabricated LEDs, laser diodes, flat panel displays, transparent electrodes, nano-generators, solar cells, optical waveguides, PZT transducers, surface acoustic wave devices and optoelectronic devices [40, 84, 86–107]. They are used in the field of spintronics for making solid state devices for memory storage and electromagnetic devices. They are used in sensing applications and for photocatalysis. They show photocatalytic degradation of various anionic and cationic dyes [108–111]. With this, they are used for regulated and controlled drug release over sites and can be helpful in anticancer and antibacterial activities [84, 85, 112]. As a micronutrient, zinc can also be used as a supplement for plants and animals. The RE doped ZnO NP's have several other applications in printing inks, fire resistant materials, artificial fertilizer, fingerprint analysis, cigarette filters and bio-sensors for the detection of various enzymes and other bio-molecules.

1.6 Block copolymer nanotemplates directed nanostructures

The ordered block copolymers thin films can be used for fabrication of the nanostructures with higher aspect ratio. However, commercially available alumina nanotemplates have the high aspect ratio but block copolymer nanotemplates provide a denser array of pores with less size of pores and periodicity and it comes with variety of patterns because of their self-assembly into various morphologies on nanometer scale. Block copolymer nanotemplates with porous structures normal to the substrate are mainly used for the fabrication of ordered nanostructures. Mainly the cylindrical and lamellar block copolymer structures are used for the fabrication of nanorods, nanowires, nanodots and nanowalls [113–115]. The fabrication process mainly involves three steps;

- 1 Selective removal of one of the block and creation of nanoporous templates.
- 2 Backfilling of porous channels with inorganic materials
- 3 Removal of remaining polymer matrix via different techniques.

There are the different ways to remove the polymer block like UV etching, chemical etching, depending on the chemical nature of the block copolymer. Nanoporous channels can be filled by sol-gel method or direct deposition of NP's into the templates. In sol-gel method the reaction conditions have to be controlled carefully. Another way is the deposition of pre-synthesized inorganic NP's into the templates. It offers the flexibility to tailor the properties of NP's before deposition and can be controlled by their assembly time. Polymer templates/matrix can be removed by UV irradiation, pyrolysis and plasma etching.

1.7 Motivation & objectives of the work

Block copolymer nanotemplates using supramolecular assembly of diblock copolymer PS-b-P4VP and additive HABA have been explored for the fabrication of ZnO and RE doped ZnO nanostructures. The main objectives of the thesis are as follows;

- To synthesize ZnO NP's and optimization of their particle size.
- To synthesize RE doped ZnO NP's.
- To fabricate the block copolymer nanotemplates with different morphologies varying their molecular weight and the volume fraction.
- To fabricate the ordered ZnO and RE doped ZnO nanostructures using the prepared block copolymer nanotemplates.
- Antibacterial and biofilm activity of ZnO.

1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION
Brief Review of Literature

2.1 Introduction

The popularity of small length scale devices with high efficiency and low power consumption promotes the field of nanomaterials in the industrial applications. The low scale patterning with high resolution on the substrate is key factor for the rate of advancement in the semiconductor industry. The nanoscale patterning on a substrate with a 40 nm has been achieved by conventional UV photo lithography. Further improvement in the pattering structures in terms of scale makes the process complicated and increase the overall cost. The advance techniques for the nano patterning as nano-imprint lithography, extreme UV photo lithography, and interference lithography are still facing some difficulties for next generation device applications. These issues intensify the growing interest in self-assembly of materials which offers the well-ordered structures with a precise control at atomic or molecular level. For the device application of self-assembly, the nanomaterials, as a device component, are to be deposited on the substrate in a wellorganized manner. Block copolymers have great interest over more than a decade for their use in semiconductor device applications because of their ability to self-assemble in the nanometer scale (typically 5 - 100 nm) with different morphologies [116, 117]. The block copolymer nano-lithography using spherical microdomain structure in 1995 was firstly demonstrated by Mansky et al. [118, 119]. The nano-patterning with block copolymers as an alternative for the polymeric photoresist offers the opportunity to explore the more benefits of self-assembly of block copolymers towards the optoelectronic applications. With this aim, enormous efforts have been dedicated to exploit the practical applications of block copolymer based nanostructures. Despite of ease of process and spatial scale of block copolymer pattering, still the work remains for the practical use of self-assembly in optoectronic applications. To combine the block copolymer

2. BRIEF REVIEW OF LITERATURE

lithography with the current photolithography, important issues of domains orientation and lateral ordering must be focussed. The cylindrical domains are preferable than spherical domains for pattering or templating, owing to their stability or connectivity to the substrate and high aspect ratio. In this chapter, we have reviewed the literature for materials and methods for self-assembly of block copolymers along with the semiconductor material which is most suitable for fabrication of nanostructures using block copolymers nanotemplates for optoelectronic applications.

2.2 ZnO NP's

The efforts are being made by the researchers to prepare highly ordered nanostructures for the advancement of recent technology [120]. In the field of nanotechnology, different categories of nanostructures with unique characteristics are being processed and applied for a wide range of industrial applications [120].

1.	Appearance	White Solid
2.	Odor	Odorless
3.	Molecular Weight	81.38 g/mol
4.	Crystal Structure	Wurtzite
5.	Coordination Geometry	Tetrahedral
6.	Lattice Constant	$\mathrm{a}=3.2\mathrm{5}\mathrm{\AA},\mathrm{c}=5.2\mathrm{\AA}$
7.	Band Gap	3.36 eV
8.	Solubility in Water	$0.0004\% (17.8^{\circ}C)$
9.	Refractive Index μD	2.0041
10.	Density	$5.606 \mathrm{~g/cm3}$
11.	Melting Point	$1975^{\circ}C$
12.	Flash Point	$1436^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$
13.	Space Group	P63mc

Table 2.1: Basic properties of ZnO

Nano-sized semiconductor materials widely used in recent years due to their unusual thermal, structural, optical and electronic properties, and applications in different areas such as electronic industries, textile industries, medical industries, photo catalysts, gas sensors and photo electron devices [92, 120]. ZnO is a widely used material in recent years because of it's attractive features for catalytic, electrical, optoelectronic, and photochemical [120]. ZnO can be easily processed by different routes with variety of morphology along with excellent stability under high-energy radiation [120]. Furthermore, it can be grown on substrate in a variety of nanostructured morphologies, by low cost, low temperature methods and with less complex equipments [92].

feature motivated us to dig out more interesting properties of this novel compound. The remarkable basic properties of ZnO are summarized in table 2.1.

2.2.1 Synthesis methods of ZnO NP's

The morphology and size of ZnO NP's play an important role for observing the differences between the properties of nanostructures in comparison to bulk compound [121–124]. Many reports show that properties of nanomaterials depend on their morphologies and sizes. Relative luminescence intensity of ZnO varies with morphologies as nanowire > nanopowder > nanoneedle > nanoparticle. [124] Small changes in experimental condition like solvent, temperature, precursor, pH etc... may change the morphologies and properties of nanostructures. D Sridevi *et al.* synthesized ZnO NP's by hydrothermal method, x-ray diffraction confirmed crystalline nature and hexagonal structure of ZnO [125]. M. A. Shah *et al.* synthesized ZnO NP's by a chemical reaction of zinc metal with ethanol at 200°C. Morphology was change to nano rod with the addition of ethylenediamine to the reaction mixture [126]. ZnO flake structures were synthesized hydrothermally by D. Geetha *et al.* [127, 128]. Different synthesis methods of ZnOnanostructures and their morphologies are tabulated in table 2.2.

2.2.2 RE-doping in ZnO

Doping in ZnO are used to for devices application [103, 149–169]. The desired electronic properties can be achieve by doping of n type or p type. Furthermore RE doping is helpful for tuning the optical properties. The common problems with doping are that it change the morphology when dopant introduced during the growth, and the accurate determination of electronic properties. Therefore, most of the studies of doped ZnO are focused to the effect of dopant on the optical properties. The synthesis method and their morphologies are summarized in table 2.3.

2.2.3 Optical properties of ZnO and RE-doped nanostructures

2.2.3.1 UV Visible spectra

Generally bulk ZnO shows absorption peak at 370 nm in UV region. At nanometer scale, this peak shifts towards low wavelength side due to quantum confinement effect. The position of absorption peak varies with synthesis condition, precursor, solvent etc... [182, 183]. For example A.K. Singh *et al.* reported that the absorption peak shifted towards blue with concentration of Triethanolamine (TEA) [183].

Table 2.2:	Various methods	for synthesis	of ZnO	nanostructures.
------------	-----------------	---------------	----------	-----------------

Method	Chemical reagents	Synthesis condition	Properties	Reference
Mechano-chemical	$ZnCl_2$, Na_2CO_3 , $NaCl$,	$Temp-350^{\circ}C-450^{\circ}C$	Hexagonal and regular shape of par-	[129]
process	ethanol	Calcination-1 hr.	ticles, particle size of 51 $\rm nm$	
	ZnCl_2 , $\operatorname{Na}_2\operatorname{CO}_3$, NaCl ,	$Temp-400^{\circ}C$ Calcination-0.5	Hexagonal and regular shape of par-	[130]
	ethanol	hr.	ticles, particle size of 27-56 $\rm nm$	
	ZnCl ₂ , Na ₂ CO ₃ , NaCl,	Temp-600°C Calcination-1 hr.	Hexagonal structure, particle size of	[131]
	ethanol ZpCl- Na-CO- NaCl	Temp 400°C 800°C	21-25 nm	[191]
	ethanol	Temp-400 C-800 C	18-35 nm	[131]
Sol-gel method	Zinc acetate, ethanol, ox-	Temp-60°C Drying 24 hrs.,	Uniform, wurtize structure particle	[132]
-	alic acid	$60-80^{\circ}$ C and calcinations at 500° C	size of 100 nm	
	Zinc acetate, oxalic acid,	Temp-50°C, time 60 min Dried	Wurtize structure, spherically	[133]
	ethanol	at 80° C for 20 hrs.	shaped particles, size of 50-200 $\rm nm$	
	Zinc accetate, di-	synthesis at room temp. an-	Nanotubes of Hexagonal structure	[134]
TT 1 (1 1	ethanolamine, ethanol	nealing: 500°C for 2 hrs.	and	[105]
Hydrothermal process	Zinc acetate, NaOH,	Temp-100°-220°C for 5-10 hrs.	Spherical shaped structures having	[135]
	zinc acetate dihydrate	stirring at 400 rpm at 60° C	Hexagonal prismatic rods	[136]
	NaOH, PVP	thermally treated temp. up to	Totagonar promatic road	[100]
		120°C, heating rate 2°C/min. for 72 hrs.		
	Zinc nitrate, deionized wa-	Microwave heating at 90° for 2	Hexagonal wurtize structure,	[122]
	ter, HMT	min and dried at 60° C, 2 hrs.	nanorod and nanowire shape of 280 nm diameter	
	Zinc acetylacetonate, n-	Microwave heating of 800 W for	Crystallite size of 9-31 nm and par-	[137]
	tuboxyethanol and zinc	4 min and drying at 75° C	ticle diameter of 40-200 $\rm nm$	
	oximate Zinc chlorida, NaOH	$T_{emp} = 100^{\circ} 220^{\circ} C$ for 5.10	Different types of structures are ob	[138]
	Zine chioride, ivaori	hrs.	tained: bullet like, rod like, sheet of size 50-200 nm	[130]
	Zinc acetate, Zinc nitrate, LiOH, KOH, NH $_4$ OH	Temp-120°-250°C for 10-48 hrs.	Hexagonal wurtize structure of size greater than 100 nm	[139]
Co-precipitation pro- cess	Zinc nitrate, NaOH, Ionised water	Temp-100°C Stirring overnight at room temp.	Particles of spherical size of 40 $\rm nm$	[121]
	zinc acetate dihydrate, DI	magnetic stirring at 80° C, pH	Nano and micro-flowers, dumbbell	[140]
	water, tri-n-propylamine,	9, dried in hot air oven at	shaped, rice flakes, and rings	
	NaOH	120° C for 4 h		
	Zinc acetate, KOH, Ionised water	Temp-20°-20°C	Particle size of 160-500 nm	[141]
	Zinc acetate, NaOH,	Temp-75°C Overnight drying	Hexagonal structure, flower shape,	[142]
	Ionised water	at room temp.	particle size of 500-800 nm.	[1.4.9]
	Ionised water	Temp-100 C Cachiation-2 hrs.	raticle size of 50 mil	[143]
	$ZnSO_4$, NH_4HCO_3 , ethanol	Temp-100°C Cacination-2 hrs.	Wurtize structure, particle size of 12 nm	[144]
	$ZnSO_4$, NH_4HCO_3 ,	$Temp-25^{\circ}C \qquad Drying-80^{\circ}C$	Hexagonal structure, flower-like	[123]
	ethanol	Cacination-1 hr.	and rod-like shape, size of 15-25 nm	
Green synthesis	Zinc acetate dihy-	domestic microwave oven (2.45)	Hexagonal wurtize structure and	[145]
	drate, DI water, NaOH,	GHz, 850 W) in air, dried in	spherical shape size of 20-30 $\rm nm$	
Other wether J	[bmim][N'I'f ₂]	vaccume at 40°C for 10 hrs.	Howagonal westing of the	[146]
Other methods	Dietnyizinc, oxygen	Using neitum as carrier gas	nexagonal wurtize structure and size of 9 nm	[140]
	Zinc nitrate, NaOH, hep-	Temp. 140°C for 15 hrs. and	Hexagonal wurtize structure and	[147]
	tanes, nexanol, triton X-	aried at our C	varying size of 50-200 nm	
	Zinc acetate, NaOH, de-	Temp90 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ for 2 hrs.	Spherical and hexagonal particles,	[122]
	Zinc acetate	Pyrolysis or thermal deposition	Hexagonal wurtize structure and	[148]
		around 800°C	size of 20-30 nm	

Method	Chemical reagents	Synthesis condition	Properties	Reference
Sol-gel	ZnA , $ErCl_2$, MEA	Stirring with temp 60° C, for 1	Sphere like structures obtained on	[82, 83]
		hr. Annealing at 500-600 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ for	crystalline surfaces having size of	
		1 hr.	27.44 nm and 29.28 nm.	
	ZnA dehydrate, GdA hy- drate, ethanol, NÅH	Stirring at 80° C for 6 hrs. and pH 8-11	NP's formed of size 9-22 nm.	[170]
	Zinc acetate, neodymium	Stirring and aged at room	NP's formed of size 22-33 nm	[109]
	nitrate, CTAB, ammo-	temp. for 48 hrs then dried at		
	nium bromide,	60° C for 12 hrs.		
Hydrothermal	Zinc acetate, neodymium	Constant stirring for 1 hr., then	Hexagonal wurtzite structure hav-	[171]
	nitrate, water, HTMA	heated at 95° C for 16 hrs.	ing size of nearly 200 nm.	
	ZnA , Eu_2O_3 , methanol,	Temp150°C for 12 hrs. under	Wurtzite structure NP's size of 9-12	[91]
	NaOH	stirring and dried at $60^{\circ}C$	nm.	
Microwave assisted	ZnA, NaOH, Europium ni-	Constant stirring, room temp,	Hexagonal crystal structure	[172]
	trate, water, ethanol, PVA	pH-10, annealed at 200°C for	nanorods of size 25 nm.	
Co-precipitation	Zinc nitrate, neodymium	Stirring at room temp. for 30	The Hexagonal wurtzite structure	[136]
	nitrate, NaOH, water and	min, then temp80°C for 5 hrs.	having size of 29-35 nm	
	ethanol	and drying at 120° C for 2 hrs.		
	ZnA , $NaBH_4$, $Europium$	Stirring for 4 hrs. at 60° C,	NP's formed of size 1-60 nm	[173]
	nitrate, water	dried at 200° C		
	ZnA,	Stirring for 2 hrs. at room	Quasi-spherical crystalline struc-	[174]
	$Eu(CF3COO)_3 \hat{A} \hat{u} 3H_2O$,	temp, dried under vaccum for	tures having size of 5-6 nm.	
	ethanol, NaOH	24 hrs at 60° C		
Diffusion process	ZnA, Eu, O_2	$Temp900^{\circ}C$ under vaccum	Single crystal Eu-doped ZnO	[175]
		and annealing for 1 hr.	nanowire diameter appx. 200 nm.	
Chemical route	ZnA, $ErCl_2$, dist. Water,	Room temp 25° - 35° C	Spherical like structures having	[79]
	octanol		particle size of 15-50 nm and diam-	
			eter of appx. 850 nm.	[0.0]
	$\Sigma n(NO_3)_2$, $Er(NO_3)_3$, oc-	Town 200°C for 10 brg and	Nanocrystals are obtained having	[80]
	tanoi	washed with ethanol	particle size of 23-30 mill.	
	ZnA dehydrate, TMAH,	Constant stirring at room	NP's formed of size 3-5 nm.	[176]
	GdA hydrate, ethanol,	temp.		
	oleic acid			
Sonochemical synthe-	ZnA dehydrate, GdNhex-	Sonication 30 mins and dried at	Hexagonal wurtzite structure of size	[177]
sis	$ahydrate, \qquad PVP/CTAB,$	$320^{\circ}C$	10-70 nm	
	ammonia			
Combustion	ZnO , Eu_2O_3 , nitric acid,	Temp.350°C for boiling, pH =	NP's obtained of size nearly 50 nm.	[178]
	water, NH_4OH	5, Annealed at 550° C		
	Zinc nitrate, Europium ni-	Temp350°C, Annealed at	NP's obtained of size 28 nm	[179]
	trate, urea	550°C		[100]
Thermal evaporation	ZnAdihydrate, GdNhex-	Temp-500°C for 2 hrs.	NP's formed of size 10 nm.	[180]
Boverse micelle	anydrate, O_2 , ethanol $Z_{\rm D}(CH_0COO)_2 \hat{A} \psi^2 H_0O$	Temp 200° C for 10 hrs	Nanocrystals of Eu doped ZnO of	[00]
Reverse inicene	$E_{\mu}(CH_{3}COO)_{2}Au_{2}H_{2}O,$	Temp200 C 101 10 ms.	size 50 nm	[30]
	CTAB, butanol and octane			
Electrospinning calci-	ZnA dehydrate, GdNhex-	Stirred at 35°C for 3 hrs	Gd doped ZnO nanorods formed	[181]
nations	ahydrate, PAN, N,N-	Voltage-22.5 kV, Calcinated at	size of 73 nm.	
	dimethyl formamide	$500^{\circ}C$		

Table 2.3: Various methods for synthesis of RE doped ZnO nanostructures.



Figure 2.1: (a) UV-Vis spectra of pure and Eu^{3+} doped ZnO (0.1, 0.2 and 0.3 mole%) doped samples (b) Comparison of bandgap energies with the variation in concentration of Europium [3].

Shift in absorption peak also occurs by doping of RE elements. The absorption threshold of pure ZnO (373 nm) was shifted from UV range to visible range for RE doped ZnOproducts (Nd(2.0at%)/ZnO, Eu(2.0at%)/ZnO and Ce(2.0 at%)/ZnO) [184]. Moreover, Eu doped ZnO shows (figure 2.1a) that the absorbance decreases below 400 nm and optical band gap increases with increase in Eu doping [3]. The energy transfer from O atom to Eu³⁺ ion was observed in Eu doped ZnO samples [185]. Another study shows that with incorporation of Er in ZnO, the UV absorption bend shows shift in towards the lower energy side [186, 187]. Furthermore, the band edge was shifted to the shorter wavelength side for the La doped ZnO as compared to the pure ZnO [188]. The absorption study of Tb doped ZnO also shows an increase in the band gap as Tb is incorporated with ZnO NP's [107]. The UV absorption of Er-doped ZnO film was observed lower than annealed Er doped ZnO film because of the poor crystalline nature of as deposited film [189].

2.2.3.2 Low temperature photoluminescence

Low temperature photoluminescence (LTPL) studies are useful tool in order to examine the quality of ZnO nanostructures because room temperature photoluminescence does not detect the diffect emmition [190]. The information about impurity presents in the sample may also be extracted by high resolution measurements of LTPL spectra. In addition to neutral donor bound exciton peaks, free exciton emission in LTPL spectra at 10 K for ZnO nanorods was also ditecteded which indicates the high optical quality of prepared ZnO nanorods [191].

Position (eV)	Possible origin	Reference
3.332	Excitons bound to structural defects	[192]
3.31	Surface states	[193]
3.315	N_o acceptor	[194]
3.3725		[195]
3.3718		[195]
3.3679		[195]
3.3674, 3.3665	Ionized donor bound excitons	[195]
3.3660		[195]
3.3614, 3.3604, 3.3600, 3.3593	Neutral donor bound excitons	[195]
3.3628, 3.3630	Н	[194, 195]
3.3608	Al	[195]
3.3598	Ga	[195]
3.3567, 3.3572	In	[195]
3.356	Na acceptors	[195, 196]
3.353	Li acceptors	[195, 196]
3.3531		[195]
3.3484		[195]
3.3481, 3.3530, 3.3564	Neutral acceptor bound excitons	[197, 198]
3.3484-3.3614	Neutral acceptor bound excitons	[199]
3.3562	Neutral acceptor bound excitons	[197, 200]
3.358	Neutral acceptor bound excitons	[195, 197]
3.3566	Neutral acceptor bound excitons	[197, 201]
3.3598-3.3693	Donor (neutralorionized) bound excitons	[195, 197, 200, 201]
3.3686, 3.302	Rotator states	[197, 198]
3.3670, 3.3664, 3.3702, 3.3714	Rotator states	[197, 200]
3.3724	B excitons bound to neutral donor	[197, 198]
3.3707, 3.3741, 3.3754, 3.3772	B excitons bound to neutral donor	[197, 202]

Table 2.4: peak position and possible origin of bound exciton lines in ZnO

ZnO nanostructures shows the emission due to biexcitons in the LTPL spectra which may be indirect indication of the quality of sample[203]. S. Ozaki *et. al.* spotted the biexciton emission in LTPL spectra (Temp. up to 200 K) at 3.35 eV for ZnO nanowires synthesized via simple vapor transport route. The binding energy of biexciton was found to be 17 meV [204]. Further, the LTPL study of ZnO results the number of bound exciton peaks labeled from I_0 to I_{11} [199]. Mmagnetic field dependent analysisshows that the presence of exciton lines from I_5 to I_{11} are due to excitons bound to neutral acceptors [199]. While the bound exciton lines I_4 (3.3628 eV), I_6 (3.3607 eV), I_8 (3.3598 eV),and I_9 (3.3567 eV) have been attributed to donor bound excitons, namely excitons bound to hydrogen [195, 205].



Figure 2.2: Solid state PL measurements for ZnO nanorods at different temperature doped with Tb precursor; (a) Near band edge emission and (b) visible PL spectra due to distinct intra-4f transition [4].

Annealing and surface modification can alter the PL spectra of ZnO nanostructures [190, 206]. K. H. Tam *et. al* reported the significant decrement in the defect emission was observed by annealing at 200°C while the ZnO nanorods was having large defect concentrations [190]. The LTPL study of NiO-ZnO shows enhancement in emission intensity of donor-bound exciton, which was corrosponds to oxygen deficiency [206]. On the other hand, Ni-ZnO shows enhancement in emission of acceptor-bound exciton due to diffusion of hydrogen into ZnO during the reduction process [206]. A. Layek *et. al.* investigated that intensity of UV peak related to donor-bound exciton decreases and shifted towards higher wavelength with the increase in temperature (10K to 300K) due to donor-bound exciton minimization as shown in figure 2.2 [4]. Reported bound exciton peak positions are listed in Table 2.4.

2.2.3.3 Room temperature photo-luminescence

Photoluminescence spectra of ZnO at room temperature generally shows two emmition peaks. First peak corrosponds to near band edge emission (NBE) and second broad emission band originated from defect emissions [207–209]. For example, RTPL spectra of ZnO NP's prepared by co-precipitation method showed an intense defect-related green emmision centered at 560 nm and a weak UV band-edge emmition centered at 373 nm[210]. Strong UV emission is not a sufficient proof of low defect density or good crystalline quality in the samples [190]. Green emission is the most commonly observed emission in PL of ZnO but the peak positions for green emission were found different from one study to another [211]. Many hypothesis have been proposed for the explanations of green emission such as structured green emission is due to Cu impurities [212], Zn vacancies [213], oxygen antisite [214] and singly ionized oxygen vacancy [215].

Peak position(eV)	Proposed Origin	Reference
373-390	Near-and-edge emission	[216]
$\sim 402 \ (77 {\rm K})$	OZn	[213]
~ 446	Shallow donor-oxygen vacancy transition	[217]
$\sim \! 459$	Zinc interstitial	[218]
$\sim \! 495$	Oxygen vacancy	[218]
$\sim \! 500 \text{-} 510$	${ m Cu} ilde{ m A}_{\dot{L}}/{ m Cu}2 ilde{ m A}_{\dot{L}}$	[212]
~ 510	Surface defects/defect complexes	[211]
~ 510	Singly ionized oxygen vacancy	[215]
~ 520	Zinc vacancy	[213]
~ 520	OZn	[214]
~ 520	Oxygen vacancies and zinc interstitial	[219]
~ 540	Vo	[220]
~ 560	Surface defects	[221]
~ 566	(10K) Shallow donor-deep acceptor (zinc vacancy con-	[222]
	taining complex)	
~ 580	Oxygen interstitials, Li impurities	[223]
~ 590	Hydroxyl groups	[224]
~ 626	Oxygen interstitials	[219]
~750	Oxygen-related defects, zinc interstitials	[225]

Table 2.5: Positions and proposed origin of room temperature PL peaks in ZnO

Apart from green emission, broad yellow emission is also observed in ZnO samples prepared by solution methods [190, 224, 226, 227]. The possible reason for yellow emission are defects associated with excess oxygen [224], presence of hydroxyl groups [190] and Li impurities [223]. Some other emissions have been reported in addition to green and orange-yellow emission such as violet, blue, red and near infrared but there is no consensus on their origin [216]. The different growth conditions cause the variation of relative contribution of free excitons due to which position of the NBE varied significantly [210, 228]. Reported peak positions and their proposed origin are summarized in table 2.5. RTPL studies of ZnO nanostructures are mostly focused on the origin of defect emission. Partha P. Pal1 and J. Manam reported that the RTPL of Eu³⁺ doped ZnOnano phosphors showed bright red and orange emissions nearly at 618 and 594 nm, respectively along with efficient broad blue green emission spectrum due to ZnO lattice. Furthermore, a good energy transfer process from ZnO host to Eu³⁺ was observed in PL emission and excitation spectra of Eu³⁺ doped ZnO ions [229].



Figure 2.3: PL spectra of RE³⁺ doped ZnO nanorods synthesized using different concentrations (atom%) of (a) Tb³⁺ and (b) Eu³⁺ precursors. (c and d) Time delayed PL spectra of Tb³⁺ and Eu³⁺ doped ZnO [4].

The extra blue emission at 441 nm (2.81 eV) was observed along with emission bands from undoped ZnO in RTPL spectrum of Gd doped ZnO sample [230]. Eu³⁺ doped ZnO shows a sharp red emission due to the intra-4f transitions of Eu³⁺ ions at an excitation of 397 nm and 466 nm. At higher concentration of Eu³⁺, luminescence quenching was observed [178]. The recent report by A. Layek *et al.* showed that the sharp UV emission due to the radiative annihilation of excitons with a maximum at ~ 380 nm in solution phase RTPL spectra of pure and doped ZnO nanorods. A deep level defects related broad visible PL band (Fig. 6) was found in the wavelength rang from 500-750 nm. Moreover the excitonic absorption maxima was shifted twards blue with increasing doping concentration (figure 2.3) while there is no significant shift was observed (~ 2 nm) in NBE maxima [4]. By the direct excitation of ZnO host efficient energy transfer from ZnO host to guest RE ions has been revealed through the characteristic emissions of RE ions [231].

2.2.4 Antibacterial Properties of ZnO

ZnO is a II-VI semiconductor shows longer durability, higher selectivity, and heat resistance. Synthesis of variety of nano-sized ZnO has led to the investigation of its use as

new antibacterial agent. In addition to its unique antibacterial and antifungal properties, ZnO NP's possess high catalytic and high photo chemical activities. ZnO possesses high optical absorption in the UV-A (315-400 nm) and UV-B (280-315 nm) regions which is beneficial in antibacterial response and used as a UV protector in cosmetics [232]. In protein dysfunction and generation of Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) mechanism, the particles bind to thiol groups in the protein hence changing their conformation. Also, through electron transfer reactions, they generate abnormal amount of ROS. In release of Metal Ions mechanism, for instance Ag or ZnO NP's release Ag⁺ or Zn⁺² ions respectively that have ability to inhibit respiratory enzymes and cause protein dysfunction and influence DNA replication. Also, hydrophobicity is an essential feature of bacterial cells to adhere to surfaces and form biofilm, ZnO NP's have been reported to have enhanced cellular hydrophilic nature of Pseudomonas aeruginosa cells and reduce biofilm formation [233]. Delay in FtsZ (a cell division protein essential in initiating septation) ring formations and reduction in EPS production have been found to be responsible for slow growth and inhibition of biofilm. ZnO NP's synthesized by green method show more enhanced biocidal activity against various pathogens when compared to the one synthesized by chemical route. The use of ZnO NP's in functionalized or unfunctionalized forms have been tested for mammalian cytotoxicity vastly and it has been found that ZnO NP's show selective toxicity towards cancerous cells. NP's are taken up by the cell, after which dissolution takes place inside the cell. In-vitro results indicate that induction of oxidative stress is the most important or most likely mechanism underlying ZnO NP's toxicity other than changes in mitochondrial membrane potential, membrane integrity, apoptosis, etc... [234, 235]. Also HepG2 and MCF-7 cells when exposed to ZnO NP's showed the same fate. The cells showed dose-dependent decrease in cell-viability, increased cytotoxicity that was likely mediated through ROS generation and oxidative stress [236]. Cytotoxicity analysis of ZnO NP's against three types of cancer cells (human hepatocellular carcinoma HepG2, human lung adenocarcinoma A549, and human bronchial epithelial BEAS-2B) was done and it was found that cell viability was reduced specifically in transformed cells when compared to normal cells. ROS generation and oxidative stress was elevated, apoptotic and antiapoptotic genes where up-regulated and down-regulated respectively [237]. In-vitro and in-vivo study was conducted for effect of pH-sensitive, hollow ZnO nanocarriers loaded with paclitaxel in breast cancer. $\sim 75\%$ of the paclitaxel payload was released within six hours in acidic pH and a dual cell-specific and pH-sensitive nanocarrier greatly improved the efficacy of paclitaxel to regress subcutaneous tumors in vivo [238]. Pure and Al-doped ZnO NP's synthesized via a simple sol-gel method had an IC50 of 44 μg ml⁻¹ and 31 $\mu g m l^{-1}$ for MCF-7 breast cancer cell line. Al-doped ZnO NP's induced apoptosis in

2. BRIEF REVIEW OF LITERATURE

MCF-7 cells through mitochondrial pathway which was indicated by up-regulation of apoptotic genes (e.g. p53, bax/bcl2 ratio, caspase-3 & caspase-9) along with loss of mitochondrial membrane potential. Comparative analysis showed no effect on normal cells [239]. Porous and rod like structured ZnO NP's synthesized by green synthesis from Borassus flabellifer fruit extract with an average size of 55 nm had the inhibitory concentration (IC50) to be 0.125 μ g ml⁻¹ for MCF-7 and HT-29 cells. Nuclear staining by Hoechst 33258 showed induction of apoptosis. In murine model system DOX-ZnO NP's showed low systemic toxicity and further results proved that the DOX-ZnO NP's has low toxicity and high therapy efficacy providing convincing evidence for the green biosynthesized ZnO as a promising candidate for a drug delivery system [240].

2.2.5 Applications of RE doped ZnO nanostructures

Due to their versatile features and properties, ZnO nanostructures can be used in various industrial applications. ZnO NP's are used in FETs, LEDs and photo diodes [241–244].

S.	Different areas	Applications	References
No.			
1.	Electronics	Photodetectors, transistors, LEDs, laser diodes, flat panel dis-	[79, 88, 96]
		plays, transparent electrodes, nano-generators, solar cells, op-	
		tical waveguides, PZT transducers, surface acoustic wave de-	
		vices and optoelectronic devices, etc	
2.	Nanomedicine	Target and control release of drug, antibacterial and anti-	[94, 171, 245]
		cancer activities.	
3.	Photocatalysis	Photocatalytic degradation of various organic and inorganic	[246-248]
		dyes.	
4.	Computing	Energy as well as memory storage devices, optical imaging.	[180, 249, 250]
5.	Miscellaneous	Printing inks, fire resistant materials, artificial fertilizer, latent	[88, 89, 108, 122, 135,
		fingerprint analysis, cigarette filters, biosensors, etc	147,173,251254]
6.	Spintronics	Solid state devices, electro-magnetic devices and logic based	[40, 92, 96]
		devices.	
7.	Sensors	Gas sensing and detection of different compounds, UV detec-	[40, 80, 83]
		tors.	
8.	Textile indus-	Removes UV radiation.	[122, 172]
	try		
9.	Rubber and	Stabilization of latex, fire resistance, provides tensile strength,	[122, 255]
	Paint	lubricating applications.	
10.	Pharmaceutical	Antiseptic healing creams, suntan lotions, source of micronu-	[171, 173, 256]
	and cosmetics	trient zinc.	

 Table 2.6: Applications of RE-doped ZnO nanostructures.

The RE-doped ZnO nanostructures have various industrial applications compared with

pristine ZnO nanostructures [85, 257, 258]. They show photo-catalytic degradation of various anionic and cationic dyes. ZnO and RE doped ZnO have vast applications in the field of electronics. They are used by semiconductor industry for developing single electron transistors and photodetectors. Fabrication LEDs, laser diodes, flat panel displays, transparent electrodes, nano-generators, solar cells, optical waveguides, PZT transducers, surface acoustic wave devices and optoelectronic devices are another level of applications. They are also used in the field of spintronics for making solid state devices for memory storage. They are used in sensing applications and for photocatalysis. Moreover, these materials are used for regulated and controlled drug release in biological sites and can be helpful in anticancer and antibacterial treatments. Zinc is an important micro-nutrient, which enables its usage as a food supplement for plants and animals. The RE doped ZnO NP's have various other applications in printing (inks), fire resistant materials, artificial fertilizer, fingerprint analysis, cigarette filters and bio-sensors. It is also used for the detection of various enzymes and other bio-molecules. The applications of RE-doped ZnO Nanostructures are illustrated in the table 2.6.

2.3 Block copolymer thin films

The modern era of technology demands materials at the nanometer length scale. Advancement in technology is required to control the structure of these material and assemble them in a controlled manner. Many applications like membranes, templating etc... requires block copolymers in thin film of thickness ~ 100 nm, where self-assembly is strongly depends on surface energies. Self-assembled block copolymer and supramolecular assembly of block copolymer being used as templates for nanofabrication as they provide nanotemplates with different morphologies and tunable sizes, are easily removed after reactions, and could be further modified with different functional groups to enhance the interactions. The self-assembly and supramolecular assemblies of block copolymer have been discussed in section 1.2.3 and section 1.2.4.

2.4 Ordering in thin films

To achieve well ordered nanostructures for optoelectronic device, applications the ordering in block copolymer thin films is a primary requirement. In general, the domains of block copolymer are self-assembled in to diverse morphologies in the as-deposited thin films. This is because of the fast evaporation of solvents, which does not provide the sufficient time to rearrange the molecules in the equilibrium. Two surface interactions, polymer-substrate and polymer-air interaction, cause the ordering and the alignment of microdomains [259]. The block, interacts strongly with the substrate, prefers to stick parallel to the substrate. Annealing is an efficient approach to obtain the long-range ordering in the thin films. The ordering and the desired orientation of microdomains can be achieved by thermal annealing, solvent annealing, shear or electric field [29, 30, 260, 261].

2.4.1 Thermal annealing

The conventional method for ordering of block-copolymer thin films is thermal annealing in which the film have traditionally been ordered by heating them in a vacuum oven for extended periods (hours to days). It is usually done by elevating the temperatures of the thin films above the glass transition temperature (T_g) of both block compounds so that the material has sufficient mobility for rearrange the morphology. Annealing temperature is a crucial parameter for the ordering and alignment of microdomains in thin films. For the vertically aligned domains, the surface energies for both the copolymer blocks should be nearly equal. The surface energies and their difference is a function of temperature. In a special case of PS-*b*-PMMA, both the bocks PS and PMMA have the almost same surface energy over a broad range of temperature [262]. This property makes PS-*b*-PMMA a unique candidate for the self-assembly via thermal annealing. The diffusivity (D(T)) of the polymer chains is represented by Arrhenius equation as follows;

$$D(T) \sim \frac{1}{t} = A e^{-\frac{\triangle E_a}{RT}}$$
(2.1)

Where t is annealing time, A is constant, R is ideal gas constant, T is annealing temperature, and ΔE_a represents activation energy of polymer. The above equation shows that on increasing the annealing temperature the diffusivity of the polymer chains increases which reduces the annealing time. The minimum annealing time for the self-assembled defect free lamellar forming PS-b-PMMA thin films was reported by Welander *et al.* [263]. The annealing time is a limitation for lithographic applications of block copolymer. However, the self-assembly of thin films has already been achieved within few minutes using hot plate or rapid thermal annealing process [264, 265]. Recently, Seshimo *et al.* have obtained sub-10 *nm* vertically oriented lamellae in modified polysiloxanebased block copolymers by thermal annealing at 130°C in atmospheric conditions for one minute [266]. Perpendicularly aligned PMMA cylinders in PS matrix with a high aspect ratio ($h/d \approx 7$) have been investigated with a thickness window of 5 nm to 400 nm under rapid thermal annealing at high temperatures (190°C $\leq T_a \leq 310$ °C) [267]. Initially, the annealing temperature was optimized by keeping the annealing time (900 s) and thickness of film (≈ 35 nm) same. Below and above 270°C, disorganized PMMA cylinders were observed and this was correlated to orientational correlation (ξ) [268]. High temperatures speed up the kinetics of the block copolymer system and lead to a long-range ordering in orientational correlation which remarkably reduces the ordering time [263–265]. Further increasing the temperature results in the degradation of polymer chain and lead to the disarrangement of the blocks. Figure 2.4(a) shows the variation of ξ with annealing time and the maximum value is corresponding to 270°C. Once the annealing temperature was optimized, the optimization for annealing time and the thickness of film was carried out for the perfectly aligned (vertically) cylindrical domains (shown in figure 2.7 (b & c)). Annealing time t < 300s is sufficient to form organized cylinders without any defects. When the thickness t < 10 nm, the formation of droplets were observed. The reason may be attributed to the high surface tension of diblock copolymer which leads to the formation of droplets on annealing at high temperatures. On increasing the thickness, mixing of the droplets leads to the hexagonal arrangement of cylindrical domains up to $\sim 200 \ nm$ and then increasing more thickness the disarranged cylinders were obtained, due to decrement in correlation length.



Figure 2.4: (a) Variation of correlation length with annealing temperature, (b) Time evolution of lateral ordering at an annealing temperature $270^{\circ}C$, and (c) Thickness dependence of lateral ordering annealed at $270^{\circ}C$ [267]

2.4.2 Solvent annealing

Besides the thermal annealing, solvent annealing is another commonly used approach for the self-assembly of block copolymer thin films. In the solvent annealing, the thin films of block copolymer or supramolecules are placed in a closed glass jar having the reservoir

of solvent for a particular period of time [269, 270]. Annealing solvent in jar evaporates and eventually the vapours get saturated. Then, thin films are be removed from the jar and get dried in air. The thin films can be dried by purging N_2 also to remove the excess amount of solvent [70]. The copolymer blocks get swollen by the vapours of the annealing solvent and the thickness of block copolymer increases and copolymer blocks rearranged accordingly. After removing from the jar, it again comes to the original value. Many novel set ups for several purposes have been proposed; solvent annealing assisted by thermal or microwave to reduce the annealing time, set up for localized solvent annealing which could be done by using a vapour nozzle, use of polymer gel pad swelled by annealing solvent for the ultra-fast annealing over large areas [71–73, 271– 273]. The reasons for adopting the solvent annealing over thermal annealing are; 1. it provides a path to reconcile the interfacial energies (polymer-substrate and polymer air) and promotes the perpendicular orientation of microdomains [269, 274–276], 2. it lowers the T_g of block copolymers, so, it induces the self-assembly even of the thermally unstable block copolymer [277], 3. it is appropriate for block copolymers with large molecular weights also. As it reduces T_q , that enhance the chain mobility and then the mass transport is obtained which is not possible in thermally annealed system [278, 279]. 4. provide an additional control to the process by varying the solvents with different selectivity, rate of evaporation of solvent, annealing time [280–283]. Additionally, for supramolecular assembled system, solvent annealing is preferable than thermal annealing because the thermal annealing may evaporate the small molecules. A little loss of small molecules may result the great variation in the morphology of supramolecular complex. The understanding of phase behaviour of block copolymer thin films is more complicated in solvent annealing than that of thermal annealing. Selectivity of the solvents is a key parameter that affects the phase behaviour. A non-selective solvent swells the copolymer with the same amount while the selective solvent swells the copolymers blocks differently which induces the change in relative volume fraction. The effective interaction parameter χ_{eff} will also be influenced in the presence of the selective solvent; it may be lower or higher than χ . Generally, the solvents are removed after the solvent annealing, and then dried. The process of removal of solvent may also affect the morphologies in the dried block copolymer thin films. So, basically, the solvent annealing process consists of two steps; swelling and drying. Phase segregation of microdomains may occur at any one of two stages; microdomains may be phase separated in a swollen state and gets affected by drying or microdomains may not be phase separated and are in disordered state and gets phase separated during drying.



Figure 2.5: AFM images of as-deposited PS-*b*-P4VP thin film (a), before (b) and after (d) surface reconstruction of thin film annealed in the vapours of solvent 1-dioxane, and before (c) and after (e) surface reconstruction of thin film annealed in solvent toluene/THF [26]

However, the connection between the nanostructures formed in swollen state and dried state is not well-established [29]. Recently, Bai *et al.* have in-situ studied the swelling and the microdomain orientations in PS-*b*-PDMS 16 kg/mol (with a period of ~18 nm)

2. BRIEF REVIEW OF LITERATURE

thin films during solvent annealing using GISAXS [284]. Thin films were annealed in a non-selective solvent of a mixture toluene: heptane -5:1 and observed the swelling ratio with annealing time. The swelling ratio is defined as the ratio of the film thickness in swollen state to the thickness of as-deposited film. Cylindrical domains were obtained at lower swelling ratio and the in-plane cylindrical domains were promoted because of the preferential interaction of PDMS with the substrate. The transitions from short cylinders to out of plane cylinders and then in-plane cylinders with the annealing time were observed. They also observed the effect of vapour pressure on the swelling ratio and measured the critical value of swelling ratio (SRc) where the well-ordered cylinders were obtained at particular vapour pressure. Further the effect of thickness (28 nm -1141 nm) on the structural arrangement was investigated in the regime of swelling ratio below SRc. Thinner films led to the in-plane cylinders while thicker films show the well-ordered perpendicular cylinders. The selectivity of solvents causes the change in the orientation of the nanostructured domains [280, 285]. Stamm et al. have demonstrated the transition in the orientation of P4VP cylindrical domains from horizontal to perpendicular alignment. PS-b-P4VP/HABA thin films were annealed in the vapours of chloroform and 1-4 dioxane respectively [285]. Chloroform and 1-4 dioxane hydrogen bonded with P4VP by phenolic and carbonyl group respectively. The P4VP cylinders dispersed in PS matrix were aligned parallel to the substrate and switched the orientation to vertical to the substrate. This switching of orientation is attributed to the difference of substrate interfacial energy of P4VP/HABA in the presence of each solvent. They have shown the similar results for solvents 1-4 dioxane and mixture of toluene and THF (80:20) shown in figure 2.8 [286].

2.5 Block copolymer directed nanostructures

The preparation of ordered nanostructures requires ordering in block copolymer thin films which have been discussed in previous section. The ordered nanostructures are useful in many device applications. For this, following steps were followed.

- Creation of pores in block copolymer thin films by removing sacrificial polymer blocks.
- Backfilling of inorganic material (metal or metal oxide) in the porous nanotemplates.
- Removal of remaining polymer template.

2.5.1 Preparation of porous nanotemplates

Selective removal of polymer blocks from ordered block copolymer thin films is the primary requirement in order to prepare the nanotemplates. Depending on the chemical nature and stability of ordered block copolymer thin films various methods have been adopted to remove the sacrificing blocks. Amorphous component of crystelline-bamorphous block copolymer (like polyethylene-block-polystyrene (PE-b-PS) or polystyreneblock-poly(vinylidene fluoride)-block-polystyrene (PS-b-PVDF-b-PS)) can be removed selectively by fuming nitric acid. The UV irradiation leads to degradation of PMMA block and provide cross-linking of the PS block so it is useful to remove PMMA block from the PS-b-PMMA block copolymer nanotemplets [287]. The nonporous structures can be generated from a blend of homopolymer PMMA and block copolymer PS-b-PMMA either by removing all PMMA blocks and PMMA homopolymer using irradiation or only PMMA block by using a selective solvent (acetic acid) [287]. Porous nanostructurs from block copolymer precursors with one etch-resistant block (increasing the oxygen or decreasing the carbon atoms in one of the blocks) can be generated using reactive ion etching [285]. Ozone treatment have been used for the removal of PI or PB block from PS-b-PI or PS-b-PB, respectively [288]. Chemical etching is the easy process and can be used for various copolymer blocks, for example; PDMS block from block copolymer PS-b-PDMS can be removed by the degradation using HF solution [289], hydrolysis process has been applied to PLA containing block copolymers to remove PLA block [290], and the rinsing in ethanol/methanol has been applied to remove the P4VP block from most commonly used block copolymer PS-b-P4VP [285, 291].

2.5.2 Deposition of inorganic material into the nanotemplates

Fabrication of 1-D conducting and semiconducting nanostructures have the increasing attention because of their potential applications in the optoelectronics. Electroless plating is an easy and cost-effective process to obtain the metallized nanowires from block copolymers. This process does not require any external current source, in this process a nanoporous block copolymer template is dipped into the electroless plating bath and metal is deposited via an autocatalytic process onto the surface of the template. Electroless deposition method describe as $M^{z+} + R^{n-} \rightarrow M^0 + R^{z-n}$, in which metal ions, M^{z+} , are reduced by the reducing agent R^{n-} . Moreover, non-conductive surfaces, such as polymers or ceramics can undergo electroless plating after the appropriate pre-treatment sensitization in SnCl₂/HCl followed by activation in PdCl₂/HCl. The Pd sites act as catalysts during the electroless metal plating procedure. Fahmi *et al.* used PS-*b*-P4VP block copolymer for fabrication of metallized nanowires, because the free pair of electrons

2. BRIEF REVIEW OF LITERATURE

in the nitrogen of pyridine ring of P4VP may capture metal ions such as Pd, Ni, Fe, Au and others [292]. The intercalation of metals with pyridine works as inorganic-organic junction. Diameter of wire can be controlled by template size and reaction condition such that reaction time and concentration of coating solution. Electro-chemical deposition of metal inside the pores of a polymer template is also widely used technique in which the working electrode is usually coated by a template placed in the plating bath together with the counter and the reference electrode and connected to an external current source. The surface of the working electrode should be accessible to the plating bathe for completely plate the sample. Recently Chanchayya Gupta Chandaluri et al. deposited Au on polystyrene-block-poly(2-vinylpyridine), PS-b-P2VP, where the P2VP domains are quaternized with iodomethane and used for selective deposition of redoxactive materials. It is well reported that PS domains insulate the conductive surface towards redox labels in solution and the quaternized P2VP domains electrostatically attract negatively-charged redox labels solubilized in the electrolyte solution. Which results in an effective electron transfer between the electrode and the redox label. This phenomenon is implemented for the selective deposition of Au on the nano-patterned surface [293]. Semiconducting nanostructures (especially ZnO) are of great interest for the optoelectronic applications. Sol-gel method has been widely used for the backfilling of the nanotemplates to develop the ordered semiconducting nanostructures. Song-Zhu Chu et al. synthesised metal oxide nanorods by alumina template-assisted sol-gel method [294]. For the fabrication of metal/metal oxide nanostructures, the metal/metal oxide precursor solutions need to be impregnated into the porous templates either by immersing the template into the sol or by using spin coating or dip coating technique. Raulet *et al.* have prepared the ordered array of metal oxides NP's (TiO_2 , RuO_2 , SiO_2 , ZnO, MnO₂ and CeO₂) by spin coating the precursor solutions at a speed of 3000 rpm for 30 seconds [295]. Figure 2.6 shows the schematic representation for the fabrication of metal oxide nanostructures by block copolymer template assisted-sol-gel method. The filling of the templates can be tuned by the spinning speed and spinning time. Abovementioned way of backfilling the pores might have an issue of forming a continuous layer over templates instead of the selective deposition. In that case, the overlayered metal oxide has to be removed by using ion etching techniques. So, in the same direction, another way of fabrication of ordered nanostructures by template assisted sol-gel method is the incorporation of metal ions of the precursors in one of the blocks of block copolymer solution. The metal oxide precursor selectively reacts with the P4VP phase. Deposition of thin film of composite solution followed by polymer removal left the the substrate decorated with metal oxide NP's [296].



Figure 2.6: Process flow for the fabrication of ordered array of metal oxides NP's [295]

The ordering of the NP's deposited on the substrate can be tuned by varying the precursor concentrating loading to P4VP [297, 298]. Two dimensional array of TiO₂ strings have also been obtained by the micellar solution of block copolymer [299].



Figure 2.7: Scheme for the fabrication of ordered array of nanodots (top) and SEM images of the ordered array of metal nanodots (a) Au, (b) Pt, and (c) Pd. Inset shows the FFT of the image [16]

Direct deposition of the pre-synthesized NP's into the templates offers the flexibility to tailor the properties of NP's in advance. Moreover, the NP's can be selectively deposited into the pores and the formation of a layer of metal oxides over the template, (case of sol-gel method) can be avoided. This approach is easy as compared to sol-gel method because a number of the reaction parameters need to be optimized for the fabrication of well-ordered nanostructures in sol-gel method.

2. BRIEF REVIEW OF LITERATURE

As the pores are functionalized with pyridine group of P4VP in the nanotemplates, the NP's can be directly deposited or may be functionalized depending on their reactivity with the pores. Stamm's group and the other researchers have published several reports on fabrication of metal NP's array by direct deposition of NP's into the pores [16, 300–304]. The whole process of the fabrication of well-ordered NP's array is depicted in figure 2.8. Magnetic NP's (Fe₃O₄) were also deposited by this approach without any surface modification to the NP's [305]. The deposition of nanomaterials on the substrate is also possible without removing one of the blocks. NP's can selectively bind with one of the blocks. The concentration of the NP's loading to the block copolymer solution governs the fidelity of the NP's deposited with the block copolymer morphology. Barandiaran *et al.* have synthesised the PS-*b*-P4VP/(Fe₂O₃) nanocomposites by using this approach [306]. However, the array of TiO₂ nanostructures by the deposition of pre-synthesized NP's is yet to be explored.



2.5.3 Removal of remaining polymer matrix

Figure 2.8: SEM images of metal oxide NP's after removel of polymer metrix [295].

Removal of polymer matrix is the last step of the process of the preparation of ordered nanostructures. Different techniques have been adopted to remove polymer matrix depending on the nature of copolymer and the deposited material like RIE, UV irradiation, chemical dissolution, plasma etching (oxygen or oxygen/ozone mixture), and pyrolysis [13, 16, 301, 307, 308]. Removal of templates leads to the ordered metal oxide NP's (characterized by SEM) shown in figure 2.8. Pyrolysis involves the degradation of polymers at high temperatures. For TiO_2 nanostructures, heating at high temperature leads to the transformation from amorphous to crystalline behaviour (rutile, anatase, and brookite phase) while at high temperature Au NP's undergo the thermal coarsening due to recrystallization. So, the choice of method for removal of polymer matrix depends on the deposited materials and its application.

2.6 Applications of ordered ZnO nanostructures

Various ordered ZnO nanostructures are essential for variety of applications in nanoscience and nanotechnology over bulk metal-oxides due to presence of many better properties. In the following section, Some recent work on ordered ZnO nanostructure-based devices has been reviewed.

2.6.1 Light emitting diodes (LEDs)

Light-emitting diodes (LEDs) are normal p-n junctions that can emit light when supplied with electrical energy. In short, due to the electron hole recombination, a photon is emitted in visible range of electromagnetic spectrum. This phenomenon is called electroluminescence (EL). Direct band gap ZnO is good semiconductor which enables their use in LED applications. Compared to the bulk and thin films of ZnO, 1-D nanostructures have higher bandgap (3.37 eV) and hence enhanced emission efficiency. The growth conditions of the ZnO largely affects the light emission, these materials are capable of emitting a wide range of colours [309-314] ZnO is capable of operating in high radiation field due to its wide bandgap [315, 316]. Light can escape easily from nanostructured materials, resulting in lesser heat generation. Figure 2.9 shows schematic diagram for the nanorod-array-based LED device, consisting n-ZnO nanocone/p-GaN heterostructures. From the I-V curve it is clear that there is no current delay in forward bias which indicates that the contacts are good and ohmic. The EL results shows emission of intense blue lines in the forward bias. Furthermore, there was enhancement of current on radiating UV light of 365 nm on heterostructures hence these structures can also be used as UV sensors [317].



Figure 2.9: The inset shows a schematic of the ordered nanostructure based LED device [317]



Figure 2.10: EL spectra of ZnO/p-GaN LED (a) and a ZnO film-based LED (b). The insets show the schematic of the respective LEDs [5].

The EL intensity spectra obtained from these arranged ZnO nanorode based LED device from 440 to 600 nm. The blue light is emitted from the p-GaN layer, hence the excited electrons originate from ordered ZnO nanorods, thus, the electrons from the n-ZnOnanorods are injected into the p-GaN layer with forward biasing, while no electrons can be injected into the p-GaN layer at the backward bias. So, the n-ZnO nanorods/p-GaN heterostructures are useful for optoelectronic applications [5]. It is demonstrated that highly ordered ZnO nanostructures based LED shows much stronger EL emission than ZnO thin film based LED. Insets of figure 2.10a and 2.10b shows schematic for LED device using highly oriented ZnO nanocone array on the p-GaN substrate and ZnO thin film based LED device respectively. The EL spectra for the ZnO nanorod/p-GaN LED and ZnO thin film based LED are also shown in 2.10a and 2.10b. Both spectra exhibit a unique peak centered at about 388 nm for the current ranging from 2-10 mA, which are attributed to the NBE emission from ZnO as shown in other studies [318–320]. It can be seen that the EL emission from the ZnO nanocone-based LED is much stronger than that from the ZnO film-based device at each injection currents, which can be attributed to the high carrier injection efficiency through the nano-sized junctions, low defect density and excellent waveguiding properties of the highly oriented ZnO nanocone array [5].

2.6.2 Gas sensors

A gas sensor is a device which is used to detect gases in the atmosphere. Some of the gases are very harmful to human-beings and animals, so sensing of these gases are critical part of safety measure. Functional materials are being used for absorption of active gases that changes electrical conductivity. Metal oxides are the most suitable material for this mechanism because the oxygen sites on their surfaces may perform gas adsorption. Gas sensors can detect combustible, flammable, toxic gases, and monitor oxygen depletion. High gas sensitivity for H_2 at different temperatures from upto 250°C with a detection limit of 20 ppm was observed for sensors fabricated with ordered ZnO nanorod arrays [321]. The smaller 1D ZnO nanorods shows higher sensitivity. Furthermore, the results shows the dependency of gas sensitivity on the diameters of the ZnO nanowires, as shown in figure 2.11 [6]. It was observed that for heavy isobutane gas, larger ZnOnanowire based gas sensors shows higher sensitivity and for light gases the smaller ZnOnanowires based sensors shows higher gas sensitivity. Moreover, the ZnO nanowirebased gas sensors for detecting H₂, NH₃, isobutene, and CH₄ gases, operate well at room temperature with high gas sensitivity. In fact, external heating systems are required for most of the gas sensors in order to achieve optimum sensitivity.



Figure 2.11: Gas response of different dia size ZnO nanowire sensors [6].

2.6.3 Field emitters

Emission of electrons into vacuum fro sharp featured samples on application of negative voltages is called a field emission. For this, a strong electric field is required because of tunneling of electrons can easily through the potential barrier between sharp-tip features and electrodes. The sharp-tip features can enhance the field emission properties, as the field emitters. The transition metal-oxides poses good thermal and chemical stability, hence can be used as potential field emitters. Furthe, in commercially produced flat displays of ordered 1-D nanostructures should be excellent for field emitters. A comparative study of ordered ZnO nanowires and random array of ZnO nanowires with nearly same density shows that the field enhancement factor (β) has higher value for ordered ZnO nanowires [322]. The higher value indicates higher field emission efficiency so the ordered array has a better field emission over random array because of screening effect in random array due to some ZnO nanowires grow closer together that reduces the field-emitting efficiency. Y. K. Tseng *et al.* grown needle-like ZnO nanowires with high density over a Ge doped conductive ZnO film which can be subjected to the field emission test at least ten times without change in the results by sweeping electric field from 0 to 30 V μm^{-1} [323]. Some other reports also show the field emission properties of ZnO nanostructures [323–327]

2.6.4 Photovoltaics

Solar energy is considered as the major renewable energy source which can eliminate the mankind's dependency on fossil fuels. However, current photovoltaic technology lacks the power to extract full potential of solar energy. Matt Law et al. described the construction and performance of dye-sensitized solar cells (DSCs- a low cost photovoltaic device) based on arrays of ZnO nanowires coated with thin shells of amorphous Al₂O₃ or anatase TiO_2 by atomic layer deposition. They found titania shells are better than alumina shells. Both acts as insulating barriers that improve cell open-circuit voltage (V_{OC}) but the former causes drastic reduction in short circuit current (J_{SC}) . However, titania shells, 10-25 nm in thickness enhances V_{OC} sharply with an increased fill factor(FF) with small current fall off, which results an increased effeciency, up to 2.25%under 100 mW cm⁻² AM 1.5 simulated sunlight. Further studies prove that the radial surface field in ZnO-TiO₂ core-shell reduces the rate of recombination in these devices to get an increased efficiency [328]. Use of efficient anti-reflection coating (ARC) is another method to increase the performance, since it increase the light coupling. Solution grown ordered ZnO nanostructures as ARCs for Si solar cells was compared with conventional single layer ARCs. It was found that nanoscale morphology had a great effect on the macroscopic ARC performance. ZnO nanorod arrays displays a broadband reflection suppression ranging from 400 to 1200 nm compared with a silicon nitride (SiN) single layer ARC [329]. Efficient charge transport has been demonstrated in DSSCs based on ZnO nanowires with 1.5% power conversion efficiency [330]. Ordered ZnO nanostructures also have vast application in polymer solar cells. Drastic increase in efficiency can be achieved by optimized treatment of dye and polymer in nanostrucutres. A photovoltaic device fabricated with nanorod structure when treated with dye before deposition of the P3HT polymer yielded four times higher efficiency than similar device based on the NP's [331]. Atomic layer deposition of TiO_2 can result encapsulated ZnO nanorods, this structure can significantly increase the V_{OC} and FF [332]. In a nutshell these studies compare the best achieved performance of organic solar cell and their hybrid solar cell counterpart. At present the organic solar cells are found to have higher efficiency. This could be due to the incomplete filling of the pores/gaps in the inorganic part and unfavorable band bending at the interface. Morphology and unfavorable organic/inorganic composite film-phase separation can also be considered as another reason. Surface modification of nanomaterials can be used to optimize these factors. Use of novel organic materials designed for hybrid device can also be a solution to this problem.

2.7 Conclusions

Literature survey about the variety of morphologies of block copolymers and their selfassembly have been discussed. The materials and the methods for the synthesis of block copolymer thin films were also introduced. The research reports published by many researchers revealed that the supramolecular assembly of block copolymer is an efficient approach for the nanopatterning and fabrication of functional nanomaterials. Functional nanomaterials have their own advantages in various applications. It was also revealed that the ordering in thin films of block copolymers can be improved by thermal and solvent annealing. There are several other factors that affect the morphological behaviour and orientation of domains like thickness of film, content of small molecules or additives, type of additives etc... Few applications of ordered ZnO nanostructures (gas sensor, field emitters, LED's and photovoltaics) have also been discussed. For the photovoltaic applications, block copolymers act as either active material or structure directors or both. In the end, it can be concluded that metal oxide nanostructures shows the improvement in the efficiency of solar cells and block copolymers provides the plenty of morphologies that can be used for the fabrication of metal oxide nanomaterials.

3

Materials and Methods

3.1 Introduction

The present thesis deals with the formation of ordered ZnO nanostructures using the block copolymer nanotemplates. Nanostructures have been potentially used in various area of applications like optoelectronics, photovoltaic devices, memory devices, batteries, field emitters and gas sensing [40, 79, 88, 321, 324]. Various routes have been employed to synthesize ZnO nanostructures such as sol-gel, hydrothermal, solvothermal, anodization and templating synthesis. Among them synthesis using block copolymer nanotemplates is a very efficient and easily controlled approach which gives the highly-ordered nanostructures with a tunability of their size and the periodicity. Block copolymer nanotemplates shows very interesting and easily tailored morphologies. Fundamental understanding of materials characteristics is important for it's potential use in optoelectronics. In this chapter, the materials and methods used for synthesis of ZnO, RE doped ZnO and block co-polymer nanotemplates have been discussed in detail. Disk diffusion method for testing of antibacterial properties of ZnO is also discussed. The detailed discussion of characterization techniques that were used for the overall analysis of the research work is also included in this chapter.

3.2 Materials

The following materials were used to carry out this research work.

3.2.1 Polymers and substrates

In order to prepare block copolymer nanotemplates of different morphology poly(styrene)b-poly(4-vinylpyridine) (PS-b-P4VP) with the molecular weights of $M_n = 39.9 \ kg/mol$, $(M_n^{PS} = 35.5 \ kg/mol$, $M_n^{P4VP} = 4.4 \ kg/mol$, polydispersity index (PDI) = 1.09), $M_n = 41 \ kg/mol$, $(M_n^{PS} = 33 \ kg/mol$, $M_n^{P4VP} = 8 \ kg/mol$, PDI = 1.10) and $M_n = 205 \ kg/mol$, $(M_n^{PS} = 130 \ kg/mol$, $M_n^{P4VP} = 75 \ kg/mol$, PDI = 1.25) were purchased from Polymer Source Inc. Canada. 2-(4-hydroxyphenylazo) benzoic acid (HABA) (> 98%, Sigma-Aldrich) and 1-4 dioxane (Merck) were used as additive and solvent respectively. 1-4 dioxane was used as annealing solvent also. 0.2 μm PVDF syringe filter (Whatmann) was used to filter the block copolymer as well as NP's solution. Si wafer (p-type (100), Macwin India) were used as substrates.

3.2.2 Precursors and solvents

For synthesis of ZnO and RE doped ZnO NP's via chemical route, Zinc chloride (Rankem ,Purity 98.0%), Zinc nitrate hexa hydrate (Merck, Purity > 96%), zinc acetate dihydrate (Merck, Purity \geq 98%) were used as zinc precursor and Erbium(III) chloride hexahydrate (Alfa Aesar, Purity 99.9%), Terbium(III) chloride hexahydrate (Aldrich, Purity 99.9%), Europium(III) nitrate penta-hydrate (Aldrich, Purity 99.9%) were used as RE precursor. Potassium hydroxide (Merck, Purity \geq 84%), Sodium hydroxide (Fisher scientific Purity, 97.0%), Ammonia solution (Rankem, Purity 95.0%) were used as precipitating agent. Polyvinyl pyrrolidone (Lobal chemie), Thioglycerol(Otto, Purity 98%) as a capping agent and Dimethyl sulphoxide (Himedia, Purity 99.5%), Ethanol(Changshu angyuan chemical), Methanol (Rankem, Purity 99.0%), Tea leaf (dry form) and Deionized (DI) Water were used as solvent. All the above chemical were used without further purification.

3.3 Techniques used to prepare the samples

In the present thesis co-precipitation method was used for the synthesis of ZnO and RE-doped ZnO NP's. Because it is steady, fast, cost effective, high yield and efficient to control the growth of ZnO and RE doped ZnO NP's by controlling various parameters like temperature, pH, and reaction time. For the preparation of nanotemplates, the thin films of block copolymer were deposited on the substrates by dip coating and spin coating techniques. Lateral ordering in the film was improved by solvent annealing.

3.3.1 Co-precipitation method

In the co-precipitation method, an inorganic metal compound dissolved in solvent is hydrolyzed by using a base solution of NaOH or NH₄OH, these compounds then condense to form a metal oxide precipitate by increasing the concentrations of OH ions. The precipitate obtained is then washed and dried to collect the crystalline metal oxide powder form. This process is advantageous over other processes as it is economical and widely used to synthesize a range of single and multi-oxide nanomaterials. But there is one disadvantage of agglomeration of NP's, which can be solved by using capping agents. These capping agents can neutralize the NP's in the solution and surface electronic states in semiconductor quantum particles. Thus, capping agents play a vital role in controlled growth of NP's and enhance the properties of NP's by capping them. Figure 3.1 shows the schematic for synthesis of ZnO NP's using different precursors and solvents(also the syntesis) and RE doped ZnO NPs(right).



Figure 3.1: Schematic for the synthesis of ZnO (left) NR's using different precurssors and solvents and RE-doped ZnO (right) NP's.

3.3.2 Dip coating

Dip-coating is an affluent and fast method for the thin film deposition from the chemical solution. This method provides the great facility to deposit coating on large area with very good control for various technological applications. The working principle for the dip coating can be described as follows; the substrate is to be immerged in the solution tank with user controlled speed and left it for the particular time and then, it is to be withdrawn from the solution with a particular speed. The immerging and withdrawn speed can easily be controlled. During this dipping process, solution spreads out on the substrate homogeneously due to the basic physical effect of capillary rise

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

and viscous force. Then evaporation process occurs after coating which is responsible for the solidification of the final film which already grown on the substrate. Different evaporation conditions and withdrawal speed are the key parameters for the film quality as well film thickness. So, one has to take care of them carefully. The process flow for dip coating is shown in figure 3.2



Figure 3.2: Schematic for the dip coating process [333].

The whole deposition process may be divided in the following three major steps:

- (a) Immersion of the substrate into the solution tank.
- (b) Dwell time for the film deposition.
- (c) Withdrawal of the substrate from the solution tank.

We have used programmable dip coating system (XDIP-SV1, Apex) in this study with a withdrawn speed of 100 mm/min.

3.3.3 Solvent annealing

Thermal annealing and solvent annealing are the common process to improve the ordering in thin films of block copolymer. Solvent annealing is considered more advantageous and better than the thermal annealing because in thermal annealing small molecules in the supramolecular assembly may evaporate. Evaporation of small number of molecules may affect the morphology of thin films of block copolymer to a great extent. Solvent annealing is the process in which each copolymer interacts with the vapour of the solvent (selective/non-selective). Ordering in the thin films depends on the affinity of copolymers towards solvent molecules, rate of evaporation of solvent, volume of solvent and container, and time of annealing. Depending on their affinity for the annealing solvent, the copolymers swell with different rate. Thin films were put in a tightly sealed glass chamber along with the annealing solvent in a bottle with some pinhole shown in figure 3.3. The thin films were removed from the annealing chamber after a particular time and solvents were allowed to evaporate.



Figure 3.3: Schematic for the solvent annealing of block copolymer thin film

3.4 Characterization techniques

Many characterization methods were used to analyze the synthesized NP's and block copolymer thin films. Structural analysis were done by X-ray diffraction (XRD), transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and scanning electron microscopy (SEM). Energy dispersive X-ray (EDAX) was used for elemental composition of the RE doped ZnO NP's. The optical properties of pure and RE doped ZnO NP's were analyzed by UV-Vis spectroscopy and Photoluminescence spectroscopy. Whereas, atomic force microscopy (AFM) was used to determine surface morphology of prepared block copolymer thin films. The used methods are discussed as follows.

3.4.1 X-Ray diffraction (XRD)

X-ray diffraction is the fundamental tool for determining the structure of the material and widely used for material characterization. When a monochromatic X-ray beam incidents on the material at an angle θ , it gets scattered from the sample. The scattered beam is detected by the detector and give the crystallographic information about the lattice structure. The wavelength of the beam is nearly comparable to the atomic size which leads to collect the information about atomic arrangement of the material. If



Figure 3.4: Schematic diagram of X-ray diffractometer

the arrangement of the atoms in the material is in regular manner, then diffracted beam interfere constructively or destructively with each other depending on the path difference. A well-known formula Bragg-relation [334, 335] holds for the condition of constructive interference as in following manner:

$$2dsin\theta = n\lambda \tag{3.1}$$

Where, n = order of reflection, λ = wavelength of incident X-rays, d = interatomic spacing between lattice plane and θ = diffraction angle. The average crystallite size of the nanoparticles can be calculated by the following equation known as Debye-Scherrer's formula [335]

$$D = \frac{0.9\lambda}{\beta \cos\theta} \tag{3.2}$$

Where, $\lambda =$ wavelength of X-rays, $\beta =$ full width at half maxima (FWHM) of diffracted peak, $\theta =$ diffraction angle. Furthermore the lattice parameter were calculated with unit cell refinement technique. The crystallographic information related to pure and RE doped ZnO was collected with the help of X-ray Diffractometry (XRD; PaNalytical X'Pert Pro, Cu k_{α} radiation, wavelength $\lambda = 1.54$ Å). The XRD data for pure and RE doped ZnO was recorded in the 2θ range from 20° to 90°; scan step size 0.02° with a scanning step rate of 0.5s (in some case it was varied). The schematic diagram of X-ray diffractometer is shown in figure 3.4.

3.4.2 Scanning electron microscopy (SEM)

Electron microscope are very advantageous microscopy tool due to high magnification and resolving power in comparison of light microscope. The highly energetic focused electron beam interacts with sample surface instead of light to get the image and structural information of the sample. The whole system of the imaging must be vacuum



Figure 3.5: Schematic diagram of SEM

shielded for the prevention of the scattering of the electrons during experiment. The wavelength of the beam can be easily controlled with the operating voltage which leads to acceleration of the electrons toward the sample. SEM gives following information regarding the specimen. (i) Topography (ii) Morphology (iii) Compositions and (iv) Crystallographic information [336]. The schematic diagram of SEM is shown in figure 3.5. At the top of instrument, there is source of electron beam which produces a very fine scale monochromatic electron beam (diameter ~ 0.01 mm) in the range of 2-40 kV. The first condenser lens is used for controlling the beam. To eliminate the high-angle electrons from the beam, condenser lens works in conjunction with condenser aperture. The second condenser lens utilized to form the very thin, tight and coherent beam and is controlled by the "fine probe current knob". A set of scan coils used for the scan or sweep the electron beam during imaging in a grid fashion. The various components are placed in the system to observe the interaction of electron beam with specimen and displayed pixel on a CRT monitor. The electron beam interacts with specimen in various ways with the surface of the sample. On the basic of these interactions the mainly two types of the signal are considered for the imaging in SEM and operated in following two modes; (a) Secondary electron mode (b) Backscattered mode. Secondary electron mode is the most common mode for the high-resolution imaging with detailed

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

information about the surface. In this thesis, Tb doped ZnO NP's were characterized by SEM (Model: Nova Nano FE-SEM 450 FEI) with an accelerating voltage of 15 kV. To take high quality SEM images, all the samples were made conductive by applying a thin coating of platinum/gold using sputter coater.

3.4.3 Transmission electron microscopy (TEM)

To know the internal structural information of ZnO NP's and RE doped ZnO NP's, TEM is very important technique.



Figure 3.6: Schematic diagram of TEM

In this technique, electron beam is generated by electron gun was collimated by different magnetic lens. These were accelerated by high potential anode with potential ~100-400 kV. After transmitted through the sample, beam made to fall on charge-coupled device (CCD) sensor which response to form a very high-resolution image of the sample. The image is detected by the CCD and displayed in real time on computer screen [337]. In general, TEM is working with two imaging mode: (a) Bright-field image mode and (b) Dark-field image mode. In dark field image mode, direct beam is blocked by the aperture and pass one or more diffracted beam. Here we used most commonly used
bright-field mode which is commonly used for microstructural analysis while The lattice planes and interplanar distances can be easily observed with the help of selected area diffraction pattern (SEAD) mode [338]. The wavelength of incident electron beam can easily be controlled by accelerating voltage. The schematic of TEM is shown in figure 3.6.

$$\lambda = \frac{h}{p} = \frac{12.25 \times 10^{-10}}{\sqrt{V}}$$
(3.3)

The morphology of ZnO and RE doped ZnO were investigated by TEM and highresolution TEM (HRTEM) [Model: FEI: TECNAI G2 operated at 200 kV]. For sample preparation, small amount of pure and RE doped ZnO was dispersed in isopropyl alcohol, a few drops of this dispersed sample were dropped on a carbon coated grid with 300 mesh. SAED pattern and HRTEM was used to investigate the characteristic features of the NP's.

3.4.4 Ultra violet-visible diffuse reflectance spectroscopy (UVvis. DRS)

When the light of wavelength 200-800Åfalls on the sample then atom or molecules of the material absorbed the energy from incident light and goes to excited state from ground state. UV-visible spectroscopy is greatly used for quantitative analysis of the materials and using for determine of the band gap of the material.



Figure 3.7: Schematic diagram of UV-Visible.

The principle of absorption spectroscopy is based on Beer's and Lambert law [339]; it states that fraction of incident radiation absorbed is proportional to the number of absorbing molecules in its path which is described in as follows:

$$A = -log_{10}\frac{I}{I_o} = \varepsilon.b.c \tag{3.4}$$

Where, ε = wavelength dependent absorptive coefficient, b = path length, I = intensity of incident light, I_o = intensity of transmitted light and c = concentration. Figure 3.7 shows the ray diagram of duel beam UV-vis spectrometer. The diffuse reflectance spectra of pure and RE doped ZnO pallets were recorded using UV-vis spectroscopy (Model: C60, Agilent Technologies, 300-900 nm). The absorbance has been calculated using the Kubelka-Munk equation

$$\frac{K}{S} = \frac{(100 - R)^2}{2R} \equiv F(R)$$
(3.5)

Where F(R) is the remission or Kubelka-Munk function. The K-M absorption coefficient K then becomes equal to $2\alpha(K = 2\alpha)$ when the sample scatters in a perfectly diffuse manner. Furthermore, In the parabolic band structure, the band gap E_g , and coefficient α of a direct band gap semiconductor are related through the following equation [340]

$$\alpha h\nu = B(h\nu - E_q)^{1/2}$$
(3.6)

where α is the linear absorption coefficient of the material, $h\nu$ is the photon energy and B is a proportionality constant. In this case, considering the K-M scattering coefficient S as constant with respect to wavelength, and using the remission function in Eq. (3.6) we obtain the expression:

$$[F(R)h\nu]^2 = B(h\nu - E_g)$$
(3.7)

The photons of UV-vis light have sufficient energy to excite the electrons of the sample to higher energy states. Therefore, it can be used to probe the electronic and optical properties of the materials. Usually, it is used for semiconductors and metallic NP's. In semiconductors we use it to measure their bandgap and obtain information about their optical properties. Figure 3.7 illustrates the various components of the dual beam UV-vis spectrometer. The incident beam from the source lamp is passed through the monochromator that splits the beam into two parts using a half mirror. One beam passes through the sample and the other through the reference. The intensities of these light beams are then measured and compared by electronic detectors. The intensity of the reference beam, which should have suffered a little or no light absorption, is defined as Io. The intensity of the sample beam is defined as I. Over a short period of time, the spectrometer automatically scans all the component wavelengths. The region normally scanned for UV is 200 to 400 nm, whereas the visible region is from 400 to 800 nm. The deuterium lamp is used as a source of UV light, whereas tungsten lamp is taken into account for the visible light. Spectra are obtained by scanning the wavelengths for quantitative measurements.

3.4.5 Atomic force microscopy (AFM)

AFM has been widely used for the fundamental research, material science, medical science and technology applications. It is suitable characterization tool to investigate the various technological materials including membranes, thin films of polymers and semiconductors etc... [341]. In the AFM, sharp metallic tip interacts with the surface of the material and produce the Vander-Waals force between tip and surface of the sample. This Vander-Waals force could be generated due to short-range repulsive force (in contact mode) or longer-range attractive force (in non-contact mode). In the contact mode (repulsive force), the instrument slightly connects with a tip at the end of cantilever which scan over the sample surface during imaging. During the raster-scan, metallic tip goes along the surface of the material and found the vertical deflection of the cantilever.



Figure 3.8: Schematic for working of AFM (left), and Vander walls force variation with the distance between tip and sample.

These deflections indicate the undulation in the surface of the film. In non-contact mode (attractive force), the metallic tip does not touch the sample surface and gives the topographic images of the material due to attractive forces. In the tapping mode, the cantilever is driven to oscillate up and down close to the resonance frequency due to presence of piezoelectric material which is mounted on the scanner. This mode is very much effective for the scanning of the soft material like polymer and membranes due to its non-destructive nature in comparison of contact mode. Surface damage possibilities

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

are reduced in this mode because tip does not drag across the sample during scanning [342]. Figure 3.8 shows the schematic diagram for the working of the AFM and the force variation with distance between tip and sample. When the cantilever bends due to the surface of the sample, the path of laser beam also deflected which leads to deviation at different angle and these variations perceived by the photodiode. The force between the tip and sample is responsible for the fluctuations in cantilever.

$$F = ks \tag{3.8}$$

Where, k = spring constant and s = bending distance for the cantilever during imaging [341]. The cantilever of the AFM is made up of silicon nitride or silicon material with a very sharp tip (width of few ~10 nm) which provide the facility to observe very high-resolution image on nanometer scale. In the present study, the thin films were characterized by AFM (Bruker) in tapping mode.

3.4.6 Photo-luminescence (PL)

PL is a widely used technique for characterization of the optical and electronic properties of semiconductors and molecules. In this technique, light is fall on the material, atoms get excited by absorbing photons from incident light, the spontaneous emission of light by de excitation of atoms is known as PL.



Figure 3.9: Schematic for working of photoluminescence

Lasers with different wavelength have used for PL. For this thesis work, in order to investigate luminescence properties and possible defect present in pure and RE doped ZnO NP's room temperature photoluminescence spectra were recorded by LABHR-UV-EVO using He-Cd laser with 30 mW power at excitation wavelength (lexc) 325 nm. Figure 3.9 represents the Schematic for working of PL.

3.4.7 Bacillus subtilis growth assay

Bacillus subtilis strain was obtained from MTCC, Chandigarh. The bacteria was revived on Nutrient Broth. For growth assays bacterial culture was grown on nutrient agar medium overnight at 37°C.

3.4.8 Disc diffusion method

ZnO NP's solutions of 2mg/ml, 5mg/ml, and 10mg/ml concentrations were made in micro centrifuge tubes and UV sterilized Whattman paper discs were added to them. The solutions were kept overnight and sonicated for 30 minutes before using. Autoclaved agar plates were taken and marked with 4 quadrants. 250ml of test culture was spread over agar plate. Then a disc from each concentration of NP's was kept over their respective quadrant and in the 40°C quadrant, control was kept i.e. the disc of autoclaved water. After this, the plates were kept in incubator at 37°C overnight. Zone of inhibition was observed and measured in mm. The test suspension cultures with and without (control) NP's were prepared as earlier. Cells were pelleted down by centrifugation at 10,000 rpm for 5 min at 40°C, cells were washed twice and re-suspended in PBS and stored at 40°C for further use. For staining assay, the 1:100 dilution of overnight cell suspension was incubated with 20 ml PI at 37°C for 1h and later with 40 ml FITC (10 mg/ml FITC stock solution) at 37°C for 1 hour with endover-end rotation in dark accompanied with intermediate washing and resuspension in PBS. After double staining, the stained cells were washed, resuspended in PBS and 1:100 dilution of final cell suspension was spread on a standard glass slide, air-dried and visualized under fluorescence microscope (Leica DM1000, Leica Microsystems).

3.4.9 Biofilm growth and ZnO treatment

An overnight culture of the *Bacillus subtilis* strain was grown and diluted to 1:100 into fresh medium for biofilm assays. The coverslips were washed, rinsed with sterile distilled water, air-dried and then UV sterilized for 30 mins. The coverslips were placed in the tubes with media and autoclaved. For each set of tubes there was one blank (no inoculation, no nanoparticle), control (only bacterial inoculation), 2 test samples (each with inoculation and 0.5 mg/ml and 1 mg/ml ZnO NP's). Tubes were incubated for 24

hrs at 37°C. At the end of incubation period, coverslips were aseptically removed from the broth culture for biofilm visualization by phase contrast microscope and scanning electron microscope and quantification by crystal violet binding assay. The experiment was repeated in triplicate.

3.4.10 Crystal violet (CV) assay

The assay was performed according to the method described by O'Toole [] [37]. After incubation, the cover slips with adhered film (control and treated) were washed with distilled water. The process was repeated twice to remove unattached cells and media components which may otherwise cause background staining. The coverslips were submerged in a 0.1% solution of crystal violet and incubated at room temperature for 10-15 mins. The coverslips were dried overnight. For qualitative assays, the dried coverslips were photographed when dried. In order to quantify the biofilm formed, coverslips were placed in 2.5 ml of 30% acetic acid in water and incubated at room temperature for 10-15 mins to solubilize the CV. The solubilized CV was transferred to clean eppendorf tubes and later quantified by measuring absorbance spectrophotometrically at 550 nm using 30% acetic acid in water as the blank. By analysing the absorbance values, biofilm biomass can be estimated. The reduction in biofilm biomass was calculated by:

$$\% reduction = \frac{Abs.(control) - Abs(sample)}{Abs.(control)} \times 100$$
(3.9)

Where Abs. = Absorbance at 550 nm

3.4.11 Scanning electron micrograph for bacterial biofilm

The test suspension cultures with and without (control) NP's were inoculated with fresh culture and incubated at 37°C, ~100 rpm for 12 hrs. The sample preparation for SEM analysis was done as follows. Sterilized coverslips were dipped in 1% agar solution and left horizontally allowing a thin agar film to materialize. Diluted cell suspensions were spread on coverslips and then incubated overnight at 37°C. The fixed samples were dehydrated in ascending alcoholic series (10, 30, 50, 75, 90 and absolute 99.99%) for ~ 30 minutes each. The sample was dried at 37°C for about 2 hrs and coated with a thin gold film before observing under SEM (Zeiss).

4

Synthesis and Characterization of *ZnO* NP's

4.1 Introduction

Semiconductors with dimension in nanometer scale have gained remarkable interest because of their optical electrical and chemical properties desirable for various applications [343]. Optical properties of these materials are specifically being investigated for their use in optoelectronics, photovoltaic and sensing [344]. ZnO is a direct band gap (3.37 eV) and large exciton binding energy (60 meV) semiconductor [345]. Moreover, it's relatively higher thermal and mechanical stability makes it ideal candidate for device applications [346–349]. Further, due to more resestance to UV rays, high electrical conductivity and strong ferromagnetic properties it is more useful then conventional materials like phosphorus and sulfur [350]. The size of the NP's, temperature and defects in crystalline structure affects the photo luminescent properties of ZnO NP's. Because of photo luminescent property it is used in field emission display devices such as LCD's, LED's and OLED's [122]. The ZnO nanorod provids short response and recovery time for NO₂ gas as a highly sensitive gas sensor [351]. ZnO nanostructures have large surface area, low toxicity and long life-span [352] and being use as promising material for antibacterial [353], chemical absorbents [354], polymer additives [355] and photocatalytic [356, 357]. Interestingly ZnO NP's have tunable optical and electrical properties due to large band gap [358] suitable wide range of applications like UV detectors [359, 360], solar cells [361], light emitting diode [362, 363], gas sensing materials [364] in addition, ZnO is also suitable for generating UV light [365] and Bio sensing [366]. In the last few decades researchers have reported various methods for synthesizing of ZnO NP's which are discussed in section 1.3.3. From these methods, chance of impurity in ball milling method is more while others are either more expensive or required complex equipment so it is required to search for a simple route with less equipment required yet giving high yield. There are several reports on size and morphology dependent green luminescence intensity of ZnO NP's but in their synthesis method size variation or morphology variation occurs by varying only particular parameters like solvent, solvent concentration, temperature etc... In our modified synthesis methods we take arbitrary solvent, precursor and temperature.

In the present chapter, we are reporting synthesis of ZnO NP's using different precursors and solvents via chemical route. The possible energy levels and defects have been investigated in detail from the optical characterization of ZnO NP's. In addition, the detailed structural investigation of different sized ZnO NP's has been also done.

4.2 Experimental details

4.2.1 ZnO by $ZnCl_2$ in water medium

1.1g of ZnCl_2 was dissolved in 20 mL DI water under constant stirring at 90°C (solution A). Another solution was prepared by dissolving 4g NaOH in 20 mL DI water (solution B). 4 mL of solution B was drop wise added in solution A and resultant milky white solution without any precipitation was left for 2 hours of stirring. This solution was then kept for sufficient time to settle down the NP's. The supernatant was removed, washed 5 times with DI water and dried at 100°C for 30 minutes. *ZnO* NP's obtained in white powder form [367].

4.2.2 ZnO by $ZnCl_2$ in methanol medium

1.090g of ZnCl_2 was dissolved in 20 mL methanol and 0.96g of NaOH was dissolved in 30 mL methanol both solution were kept under constant stirring for 40 minutes. NaOH solution was added drop wise in zinc chloride solution for 20 minutes and stirred for 2 hours then kept in dark chamber overnight. The obtained precipitate was centrifuged for 5 minutes then washed 5 times with DI water and annealed in air atmosphere at 300°C. The white powder of ZnO NP's was obtained [368].

4.2.3 ZnO by $ZnCl_2$ in ethanol medium

ZnO NP's were synthesized by the same procedure as discussed in section 3.2 but using ethanol in place of methanol medium. All the experimental parameters and condition was the same. The ZnO NP's was obtained in light brown color powder form [368].

4.2.4 ZnO by $Zn(NO_3)_2.6H_2O$ in water medium

Wet chemical method was used to synthesize of ZnO NP's by dissolving 2.9747g of $Zn(NO_3)_2.6H_2O$ in 100 mL DI water (solution A) and 0.8924g of polyvinyl pyrrolidone in 50 mL DI water (solution B). Both solution were stirred for 30 minutes at 60°C then NH₄OH was added drop wise in solution A till the pH reached to 7.5 (solution C) and kept stirring for 15 minutes. Solution B was added in solution C and resultant solution was kept at 60°C for 1 hour. The mixture was then cooled at room temperature and kept overnight in dark chamber. The precipitate was filtered with 0.2 μ m filter and washed 2-3 times with DI water and dried at 60°C for 12 hours [63].

4.2.5 ZnO by green synthesis method

0.2M of zinc acetate dehydrate was dissolved in 70 mL of distilled water and stirred for 30-40 minutes. Another solution of 5g dried green tea leaf powder in 100 mL of distilled water was prepared with stirring for 2 hours at 80°C then cooled to room temperature and filtered through whatman filter paper. 30 mL of this green tea extract was mixed homogeneously with the zinc acetate solution. The solution was filtered and dried at room temperature. The obtained powder was annealed at 300°C for 1 hour [369].

4.2.6 ZnO by Zinc acetate in DMSO medium

Zinc acetate (0.4M), potassium hydroxide (2.4M) were separately stirred in 40 mL dimethyl sulfoxide and 20 mL ethanol. Potassium hydroxide solution was added drop wise in zinc acetate solution. Thioglycerol (0.25 mL) was added to the above solution which turned milky. White filtrate was washed three times with methanol and DI water followed by drying at room temperature [370].

4.3 Results and discussion

The ZnO NP's are synthesized by modified methods and the characterization of the NP's are done by XRD, TEM, UV-Vis and PL. The discussion of obtained results are

as follows.

4.3.1 X-ray Diffraction (XRD)

The XRD patterns of ZnO NP's prepared by methods 4.2.1 to 4.2.6 are shown in figure 4.1. These XRD patterns of NP's show single phase crystalline nature corresponding to wurtzite hexagonal crystal structure. Morphological studies by TEM (figure 4.2 and 4.3) confirms single phase. Spurious low intensity peaks in range 20-35 degree in XRD (figure 4.1, Method 4.2.2) are observed which can be attributed to the multi phase product or the impurity in the sample. However, the occurrence of multiphase induces the change in the morphology of NP's [371, 372] which is not observed in our case (figure 4.2d). So, the extra peaks can be assigned to the impurity in the sample. ZnO NP's synthesized by method 4.2.1-4.2.6 have all characteristic peaks of ZnO. It can be concluded from characteristics peaks that ZnO have hexagonal crystal structure and matches to the space group P63mc. The relative intensity of XRD peaks corresponding to a particular plane depends on the morphology [373] but the TEM images confirms that the morphology of all ZnO samples are similar which indicates the variation in intensity is not due to the morphology but it may be due to the agglomeration.



Figure 4.1: XRD spectra of all ZnO NP's.

In method 4.2.6 the capping agent DMSO was used to control agglomeration and the particle size was reduced indicated by the broadening of peaks. The lower intensity of

Method	Precursor	Solvent	Lattice parameter	JCPDS card No.
4.2.1	Zinc chloride	DI water	a = b = 3.2490Å, $c = 5.2060$ Å	01-079-0206
4.2.2	Zinc chloride	Methanol	a = b = 3.2170Å, $c = 5.2130$ Å	01-076-0704
4.2.3	Zinc chloride	Ethanol	a = b = 3.2427Å, $c = 5.1948$ Å	01-075-0576
4.2.4	Zinc nitrate	DI water	a = b = 3.2501Å, $c = 5.2070$ Å	01-079-2205
4.2.5	zinc acetate	DI water	a = b = 3.2427Å, $c = 5.1948$ Å	01-079-0576
4.2.6	zinc acetate	DMSO	a = b = 3.2417Å, $c = 5.1876$ Å	01-079-0205

Table 4.1: Lattice parameters for all the samples and corresponding JCPDS card numbers

peaks suggests the decreased crystalline quality of NP's using capping agent. The average crystalline size of these NP's was determined by equation 3.2 for each orientations The broadening of peaks indicates that synthesized NP's are in nanometer range. The calculated average crystalline size found from method 4.2.1 was 21 nm which is similar to previous result [367], from method 4.2.2 it was 26 nm which is higher then previous result (~5.36 nm) and reduced to ~16 nm when methanol was replaced by ethanol (method 4.2.3), from method 4.2.4 the average crystalline size was ~17 nm which is nearly half from previous result [63], from method 4.2.5 it was 9 nm which is smaller then previous result [369] and from 4.2.6 it was found to be ~7nm . The lattice parameters of ZnO NP's are as shown in table 4.1. It is clearly observed from figure 4.1 that broadening of peaks in method 4.2.6 is more as compared to other methods indicating that the particles synthesized by method 4.2.6 have smaller particle size. It is also clear that the average crystalline size of ZnO NP's synthesized using zinc acetate is smaller then zinc chloride precursor and it found smallest from above methods when ethylene glycol was used as capping agent (method 4.2.6).

4.3.2 Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)

figure 4.2(a), 4.2(d) and 4.3g show the TEM images of ZnO NP's synthesized using ZnCl₂ precursor with water, methanol and ethanol respectively (method 4.2.1-4.2.3). It can be observed that particles have almost spherical shape in ethanol (method 4.2.3) and methanol medium (method 4.2.2) (figure 4.3(g) and 4.2(d) and the selected area diffraction pattern (SADP) (figure 4.2b, 4.2(e) and 4.3 (h)) shows polycrystalline nature of NP's which is in good agreement with XRD results. Average particle size of ZnO in ethenol (4.2.3) was found to be 14 ± 2 nm which also agrees with XRD spectra. When ethanol was replaced by methanol keeping the same procedure, average size of particles

was increased to 18 ± 2 nm while the shape and size distribution was similar. In case of water solvent (4.2.1), well dispersed rod like structure was observed with average diameter of 18 ± 2 nm. figure 4.3(j) shows the TEM image of ZnO NP's prepared by zinc nitrate in DI water the NP's are almost spherical in shape with average size 16 ± 2 nm which is almost twice of the previous result [63]. The TEM image and selected area diffraction pattern of ZnO NP's prepared by 4.2.5 and 4.2.6 are shown in figure 4.3(p) & 4.3(q) and 4.3(m) & 4.3(n) respectively. Selected area diffraction pattern of both these samples show shows polycrystalline nature of NP's which also agrees with XRD result (figure 4.1(e), 4.1(f)). TEM images show that the shape of nanoparticle are almost spherical with small agglomeration. The particle size has been found to be 5 ± 2 nm and 13 ± 2 nm respectively which also agrees with XRD results. It is clear from the TEM study that the average diameter of ZnO NP's are almost same if we use zinc chloride as a precursor (method 4.2.1-4.2.3). It is also clear that average diameter of NP's are smaller if we use precursor zinc nitrate and zinc acetate as compare to zinc chloride. The average diameter of ZnO NP's found to be smallest among above methods when capping agent ethylene glycol was used (method 4.2.6). Figure 4.2 (c, f) and figure 4.3(i, l, o, r) shows the HRTEM images of ZnO NP's synthesized using method 4.2.1 to method 4.2.6 respectively. The calculated d spacing for specific plane are good agreements with XRD data.



Figure 4.2: TEM image, diffraction pattern and HRTEM image of ZnO synthesized by method 4.2.1 (a, b & c) and 4.2.2 (d, e & f).



Figure 4.3: TEM image, diffraction pattern and HRTEM image of ZnO synthesized by method 4.2.3 (g, h & i), 4.2.4 (j, k & l), 4.2.6 (m, n & o) and 4.2.5 (p. q & r).

4.3.3 Diffuse Reflectance Spectroscopy (DRS)

The diffuse reflectance spectra of all the ZnO samples are shown in figure 4.4. Strong reflections was found above 400 nm for all samples. The absorbance has been calculated using equation 3.5 as describe in section 3.4.4. Corresponding absorption spectra for ZnO NP's are shown in figure 4.5. The absorption peaks were observed at 368 nm, 374 nm, 372 nm, 370 nm, 368 nm and 260 nm respectively indicating that the presence of blue shift is observed with decrease in particle size with respect to bulk ZnO (376 nm; 3.3 eV) the observed blue shift could be attributed to the confinement effects. The band gap energy of the samples are measured by the extrapolation of the linear portion of the graph between the modified Kubelka-Munk (K-M) function $[F(R)h\nu]^2$ versus photon energy $(h\nu)$ using equation 3.7 in section 3.4.4, as shown in figure 4.6. The extrapolation of the straight lines in figure 4.6 gives the value of band gap energy. The optical band gap is found to be size dependent and there is an increase in the band gap of the semiconductor with a decrease in particle size. The optical band gap values obtained for ZnO NP's prepared by above methods are 3.25, 3.21, 3.23, 3.23, 3.2 and 3.32 eV respectively. There is no significant change in the optical band gap of the ZnO prepared by methods 4.2.1 to 4.2.5 because of the almost same particle size. There is a remarkable change 0.12 eV in the band gap was observed when the particle size decreases from 12 nm to 5 nm. The smaller band gap value in the as-synthesized ZnO NP's as compare to bulk materials (~ 3.3eV) may attributed to planar defects, like stacking faults, twin boundaries and intrinsic defects like oxygen vacancies, zinc vacancies and Zn and O interstitials (as shown in energy level diagram figure 4.8) found in ZnO materials.

Method	Precursor	Solvent	d XRD	d TEM	Eg
			(nm)	(nm)	(eV)
4.2.1	Zinc chloride	DI water	21	18 ± 2	3.25
4.2.2	Zinc chloride	Methanol	26	17 ± 2	3.21
4.2.3	Zinc chloride	Ethanol	16	14 ± 2	3.23
4.2.4	Zinc nitrate	DI water	17	13 ± 2	3.23
4.2.5	Zinc acetate	DI water	9	12 ± 2	3.20
4.2.6	Zinc acetate	DMSO	7	5 ± 2	3.32

Table 4.2: Summary of present work

It is clear from UV-Vis spectra (figure 4.5) that there was no sharp change observed in the peak position in comparison to bulk ZnO. When zinc chloride was used as precursor, a large blue shift was observed when we use zinc acetate. The observed results are summarized in table 4.2. where d XRD is average crystallite size, d TEM is average diameter and Eg is optical band gap of ZnO NP's.



Figure 4.4: Room temperature diffuse reflectance spectra of ZnO NP's prepared by method 4.2.1 to 4.2.6



Figure 4.5: UV Vis absorption spectra of ZnO NP's prepared by method 4.2.1 to 4.2.6.



Figure 4.6: Kubelka-Munk function versus energy plots of all the ZnO samples.

It can observed from the table 4.2 that by using the solvent DI water and change the precursor zinc chloride, zinc nitrate and zinc acetate then both average crystalline size and average diameter decreases respectively. It can also seen from the 4.2, by keeping precursor same and changing solvent as ethanol, DI water and methanol the average dia and optical band gap founds almost same but average crystalline size increases respectively. In case of zinc acetate precursor when DI water and DMSO use as a solvent the average crystalline size remains almost same but average diameter changes. It is also clear that average crystalline size and average diameter of ZnO NP's synthesized using method 4.2.6 found to be smaller than all other used methods (method 4.2.1 to 4.2.5) but the optical band gap larger due quantum confinement effect. Because of capping agent (EG in this case) average particle size decreases and blue shift occurs in the absorption spectra [183].

4.3.4 Photo luminescence (PL) spectroscopy

In order to study the luminiscence properties and possible defects in the samples, Photo luminescence spectra was investigated at room temprature (figure 4.7) with excitation wavelength (λ_{exc}) 325 nm over a wavelength range from 350 nm to 650 nm for the ZnO nanopowder prepared by different methods. The PL spectra of the ZnO NP's exhibits two emission peaks, one in UV region (between 370-420 nm) corresponding to the near band gap excitonic emission (band to band transition) [225]. The second emission peak is located in the range 420-650 nm which attributes to the presence of singly ionized oxygen vacancies (surface defects) [374]. The reason of second emission might be the radiative recombination of a photo generated hole with electron occupying the oxygen vacancy [375]. The emission bands of all ZnO samples were fitted by multiple Gaussian peak functions with optimal full width at half maxima (FWHM). The number of subpeaks in all ZnO PL spectra reveals the pressance of defects and their influence on the optical properties. figure 4.8 shows the PL spectra along with the corresponding energy band diagrams of ZnO samples and the corresponding parameters from multipeak fitting are tabulated in Table 4.3. The presence of multiple peaks in the visible region of the electromagnetic spectrum is typical for nanocrystalline ZnO [376]. The ZnO NP's prepared by method from 4.2.1 to 4.2.6 shows the band edge peaks at 432, 382, 407, 412, 408 and 374 nm, respectively. ZnO NP's prepared by method 4.2.2and 4.2.3 shows the emission peaks in violet and green region while NP's prepared by method 4.2.4 shows an additional blue emission peak. NP's by method 4.2.5 and 4.2.6 shows the emission in violet, green and orange-red region and method 4.2.1 shows emission in green and orange region. The violet emission usually originates from the zinc interstitials (Zn_i) defects, where electronic transition occurs from Zn_i level to valence band [377]. The green emission in all the samples are due to transition from Zn_i to valance band of oxigen (V_o) [378]. The presence of more than one green emissions may be due to the different shallow energy levels in close vicinity inside the band gap (figure 4.8, method 4.2.2, 4.2.3) which is associated with interface trap in the grain boundaries and dislocations [379, 380]. The other reason may be the coexistence of interstitial sites with different energy configurations such as isolated or split interstitials.



Figure 4.7: PL spectra of all the ZnO samples ($\lambda_{exc} = 325nm$)



Figure 4.8: Gaussian fitted Photo luminescence spectra and corresponding possible energy level diagram for all the ZnO samples ($\lambda_{exc} = 325nm$)

The visible band observed in all ZnO samples is due to the existence of structural imperfection and IR emission from the n-type ZnO.

Method	Peak position	Peak Intensity	Band width
	(nm)	(counts)	(nm)
	432.91	2538	50.78
4.2.1	533.48	988.58	156.35
	622.92	483.29	218.81
	382.30	67.6	16.30
4.2.2	394.27	50.6	27.10
	511.10	39.9	61.29
	557.12	17.4	60.96
	406.97	98.4	31.81
4.2.3	436.25	11.1	29.84
	522.40	6.8	46.11
	563.00	4.4	60.96
	412.70	73.9	29.61
4.2.4	443.38	68.7	46.78
	475.54	24.03	60.10
	532.63	0.8	92.42
	408.99	82.2	36.26
4.2.5	436.76	43.3	42.11
	527.43	6.02	57.23
	593.07	2.5	147.64
	374.78	139.73	19.85
4.2.6	402.88	457.2	35.64
	536.11	1143.50	92.02
	607.03	718	155.13

Table 4.3: Band position, relative intensities and bandwidth in individual band afterGaussian fitting of PL of ZnO NP's

Blue emission observed in ZnO NP's prepared with method 4.2.4 may be due to the transition from Zn_i level to V_{Zn} . However, it could also arise from the surface deep traps states [377]. The orange-red emission occurs in ZnO NP's prepared with method 4.2.5 and 4.2.6 is due to Zn_i to O_i transition [381]. In case of 4.2.2 and 3.7 method, the higher intensity showing the large population of low lying energy levels in range of 434-485 nm. Theoretically, the Zn_i , V_{Zn} and oxygen interstitial (O_i energy levels are located nearly 0.22, 3.06 and 2.28 eV below the conduction band, respectively whereas V_o level is 0.9 eV above the valence band [379]. The deep level emissions occur in the green (2.5) eV) and orange-red (1.95 eV) region, which are in good agreement with our experimental results. As observed from figure 4.8, the higher intensities of violet emission in method 4.2.2 and 4.2.3 as compared to other methods may due higher concentration of grain boundaries, dislocations and surface traps. The nanopowders shows an intense violet emission along with the emission in blue and green band. Position of the most intense peak lies in the range of 380-410 nm which corresponds to violet band. Blue and green emission band 435-593 nm like other reports [378, 382]. The relative intensity (method 4.2.2, 4.2.3, 4.2.4 and 4.2.5) in the visible region 530-593 nm are very low as compared to ZnO NP's prepared by method 4.2.1 and 4.2.6. This is because of the presence of the defects at the surface of the NP's. The defect density changes with the surface to volume ratio according to changes in morphology and sizes of NP's. Furthermore, variation in peak position of the emission spectra is attributes to change in the defect density on the surface of the NP's [383].

4.4 Conclusion

ZnO NP's were synthesized successfully by simple chemical routes using different precursors and solvents. The synthesized NP's were characterized by XRD, TEM, DRS and PL. The XRD and TEM results confirms the crystalline nature and single phase formation of ZnO NP's. The DRS results revealed that there is no drastic change in absorption edge and the optical band gap of ZnO NP's prepared by method 4.2.1 to 4.2.5 while the large blue shift observed in method 4.2.6 with an optical band gap of 3.32 eV. It can be concluded that method 4.2.6 can be used for smaller size and large band gap ZnO NP's. The zinc interstitial defects were present in all ZnO samples prepared with different precursors and solvents. Oxygen interstitial defects presents in ZnO NP's prepared by method 4.2.1, 4.2.5 and 4.2.6.

Synthesis of RE doped ZnO NP's and their Characterization

5.1 Introduction

Doped luminescent NP's are predicted to show improved optical properties, viz., luminescence efficiency, delay time and band edge emission according to the particle size variation. RE doped ZnO poses coexisting semiconducting, electromechanical and optical properties therefore it is a highly multifunctional material [384, 385]. 4f intra-shell transitions spectral lines stands these RE ions as one of the best luminescent material to dope in ZnO. The lanthanides have induced shielding effect due to presence of a partially filled 4f level and fully filled 5s and 5p orbitals. The photoluminescence (PL) spectra of these ions shows emission lines because of this shielding effect, which is relatively independent of host matrix [386]. Among the lanthanides, Er, Tb, and Eu has wide range of applications. Due to its better PL characteristics, RE^{3+} doped optical amplifiers are used in the telecommunications [387, 388]. The difficulties related to doping makes the structural and luminescence properties inaccurate in RE^{3+} doped bulk and nano-compounds. This makes it important to optimize the doping procedure [389–391]. Significantly low luminescence intensities even after successful incorporation of RE in ZnO matrix.which may be due to nonradiative transfer from RE³⁺ ion to ZnO host leading to the quenching of RE emission due to and/or may be due to rapid decay of excited ZnO, which facilitates direct energy transfer to RE ions [392–394]. In spite of that, the dynamics of transfer process and optimization of visible luminescence efficiency by manipulating defect-dopant interactions still not yet cleared.

The work presented in this chapter is an attempt in this direction. In this chapter, Suc-

5. SYNTHESIS OF RE DOPED *ZNO* NP'S AND THEIR CHARACTERIZATION

cessful doping of Er, Tb and Eu ions in ZnO host using chemical precipitation technique is presented. This method has many advantages in terms of cost, minimal facilities, and low energy consumption. XRD and TEM were used to detail discussion of structural properties of synthesized NP's. DRS results shows decrease in band gap and PL data reveals enhanced visible luminescence intensity with increased RE³⁺ concentrations upon when host ZnO is excited into band gap, which indicates possible energy transfer from the host to dopant energy level. When excited to ZnO band, presence of characteristic intra-4f orbital transitions of RE³⁺ indicates energy transfer between host and guest, likely involving the ZnO defect states.

5.2 Experimental details

5.2.1 Synthesis of pure and RE doped ZnO NP's

1.0 gm of Zinc chloride was dissolved in 30 ml Ethylene glycol (EG) and stirred for 1 hour. Then, the reaction temperature was raised to $75^{\circ}C$ and further stirred for 30 minutes. 0.3 gm NaOH was dissolved in 5 ml EG and NaOH solution was added dropwise to zinc chloride solution. The final solution was stirred for 2.5 hours at $75^{\circ}C$ and then cooled at room temperature. The resultant solution was filtered with 0.2 micrometer filter and washed with DI water 4-5 times in order to remove the impurities. ZnO NP's was obtained in powder form.

5.2.2 Synthesis of RE doped ZnO NP's

The RE ion (Tb, Er, Eu) doped ZnO NP's were synthesized using the above method with a small change of adding the solution of RE precursor in 10 ml EG in zinc chloride solution before adding the NaOH solution.

5.3 Results and Discussion

Pure and RE doped ZnO NP's were characterized by XRD, TEM, SEM, UV-Vis. and PL. The discussion of obtained results are as follows:



5.3.1 X-ray Diffraction (XRD)

Figure 5.1: XRD patterns of undoped ZnO and Er, Eu and Tb doped ZnO NP's.

XRD spectra was used to investigate the crystallographic information of ZnO and REdoped ZnO. Figure 5.1 shows XRD pattern of Er, Eu and Tb doped ZnO NP's.



Figure 5.2: XRD patterns of undoped ZnO and 1.5 wt% RE doped (*Er, Eu, Tb*) ZnO NP's. (a) represents the enlarged peaks of the spectra , (b) indicates the shifting in most intense peaks towards lower angle.

The diffraction patterns confirm polycrystalline nature of pure and RE doped ZnO NP's. All the diffraction peaks were matched using the data available from the Joint

5. SYNTHESIS OF RE DOPED *ZNO* NP'S AND THEIR CHARACTERIZATION

Committee for Powder Diffraction Studies (JCPDS), and the corresponding planes were indexed in figure 5.2. All the diffraction peaks in the XRD pattern indicate the typical hexagonal wurtzite structures of ZnO with space group P63mc. The characteristic peaks of XRD for all the samples are corresponding to ZnO, no peaks were observed for other impurities, which confirms that the RE-related compounds or other impurity were not formed during synthesis and the RE atoms were incorporated into the ZnO lattice. For comparative study figure 5.2 shows the XRD patterns of pure ZnO, Tb (1.5at%)/ZnO, Er(1.5at%)/ZnO and Eu(1.5at%)/ZnO which showed the shifting of diffraction peaks, slightly towards the lower angle for RE-doped samples in comparison with that of pure ZnO (figure 5.2(b)). Because the ionic radii of Tb³⁺(0.092 nm), Er³⁺(.088 nm) and $Eu^{3+}(0.095 \text{ nm})$ is larger than that of $Zn^{2+}(0.074 \text{ nm})$, doping of RE into the ZnO can cause the expansion of ZnO lattice and led to a shift of ZnO peaks to lower angles as also observed by other investigators [4, 184, 395–397]. It is confirm from figure 5.2(b) shifting towards lower angle is increases as the ionic radius of RE increases. Moreover, the average crystallite size of all the samples were calculated with the all peaks using Debye Scherer equation 3.2 describe in section 3.4.1. The results in table 5.1 showed that the average crystallite sizes of pure ZnO and RE doped ZnO were within the range of 12-14 nm. The FWHM values of RE-doped samples are slight larger as compared to pure ZnO that confirms the slight decrements in the crystallite size. This decrease in the crystal size of RE doped ZnO may be attributed to the RE-O-Zn formation on the surface of the doped products, which inhibits the growth of crystal grains [398, 399].

5.3.2 Scaning Electron Microscopy (SEM)

Figure 5.3 and 5.4 presents the SEM images and EDS spectra of Tb doped ZnO nanostructures. The obtained EDS results confirmed the presence of Tb, Zn and O in the final products. The EDS results also confirms that the intensity of Tb peaks increase with concentration of Tb in the sample. The surface morphology of synthesized NP's confirms that the particles are almost spherical in shape. Furthermore the agglomeration increases with doping concentration of Tb in ZnO NP's.



Figure 5.3: SEM image Tb doped (a .5 wt% Tb, b 1.5 wt% Tb, c 2 wt% Tb and d 5 wt% Tb) ZnO NP's.



Figure 5.4: EDX spectra of different wt% Tb doped ZnO NP's.

5.3.3 Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)

TEM measurement were performed to explicate the morphologies of the pure and RE doped ZnO NP's. Figure 5.5a shows the TEM images of ZnO and 1.5 wt% RE-doped ZnO NP's. It can be observed that particles have almost spherical shape.



(a) TEM image



(b) HRTEM image

(c) SAED pattern

Figure 5.5: TEM, HRTEM and SAED pattern of undoped(a) and 1.5 wt% RE (Tb (b), Er (c) and Eu (d)) doped *ZnO* NP's.

The selected area electron diffraction (SAED) pattern shows poly-crystalline nature of

NP's. The planes and their inter-planer spacing are calculated and indexed in SAED pattern, which are in good agreement with XRD results for all the NP's (figure 5.5c). Average diameter of the as-synthesized NP's as listed in table 5.1, was found in the range 10-14 nm which also a good agreement with XRD results. The average diameter of RE-doped ZnO NP's are less than pure ZnO which is again consistent with XRD results. HRTEM images (figure 5.5b) of pure and RE-doped ZnO shows clear lattice fringes with the distance between two parallel lattices planes were measured as 2.85 (100), 2.81 (100), 2.48 (101) and 2.83A (100) corresponding to ZnO, 1.5 wt% Tb: ZnO, 1.5 wt% Er: ZnO and 1.5 wt% Eu: ZnO respectively, which are consistent with XRD pattern. HRTEM images also shows defects are present at the grain boundaries.

5.3.4 UV-Vis. Diffuse Reflectance Spectroscopy (DRS)

The effect of RE doping on optical absorption by ZnO NP's was investigated using UV-Vis DRS. Figure 5.6 shows the DRS of different wt% Er, Eu and Tb doped ZnO NP's which represent strong absorption in UV and extended to visible region. The Er doped samples shows various absorption band in visible region. For comparative study DRS of undoped and 1.5 wt% Er, Eu and Tb doped samples are shown in figure 5.9a. The absorption threshold of undoped ZnO is 363 nm and shows a strong absorption band in UV region, which attributed to the band to band transition. While for RE/ZnO products, Er(1.5wt%)/ZnO, Eu(1.5wt%)/ZnO and Tb(1.5wt%)/ZnO exhibited extended absorption range to visible light region. Furthermore, the Er (1.5 wt%)/ZnO (at 485, 520, 542) and 652nm) has much absorption bands in agreement with the visible-light absorbability. These peaks were ascribed to the Er characteristic of 4f electron transitions [184, 400]. The absorbance has been calculated using equation 3.5 as describe in section 3.4.4 in the limiting case of an infinitely thick sample at any wavelength [182, 401]. Corresponding absorption spectra for different wt% Er, Eu and Tb doped ZnO are shown figure 5.7 and for comparison ZnO and 1.5 wt% RE-doped ZnO NP's are shown in figure 5.9b. The absorption peaks are tabulated in table 5.1, indicating that all the has blue shift with respect to bulk ZnO (~376 nm; 3.3 eV) the observed blue shift could be attributed to the confinement effects.

5. SYNTHESIS OF RE DOPED ZNO NP'S AND THEIR CHARACTERIZATION



Figure 5.6: Room temperature DRS spectra of different wt% doped Er, Eu and Tb doped ZnO NP's.



Figure 5.7: UV-Vis absorption spectra of different wt% doped Er, Eu and Tb doped ZnO NP's.



Figure 5.8: Kubelka-Munk function versus energy plots of different wt% doped Er, Eu and Tb doped ZnO NP's.



(c) Kubelka-Munk function vs energy plots.

Figure 5.9: DRS, UV-Vis absorption spectra and Kubelka-Munk function versus energy plots of undoped and 1.5 wt% RE (Er, Tb and Eu) doped *ZnO* NP's.

5. SYNTHESIS OF RE DOPED *ZNO* NP'S AND THEIR CHARACTERIZATION

The band gap energy of the samples is measured by the extrapolation of the linear portion of the graph between the modified Kubelka-Munk (K-M) function $[F(R)h\nu]^2$ versus photon energy $(h\nu)$ using 3.7 in section 3.4.4 as shown in figure 5.8 and 5.9c. The extrapolation of the straight lines gives the value of band gap energy. From figure 5.8 it is conclude that optical band gap of RE doped samples decreases with increasing concentration of RE ions. The measured band gap energies of pure and 1.5 wt% RE (Er, Eu and Tb) doped products are shown in table 5.1. Above results revealed that the RE-doped ZnO can absorb in UV as well as in visible region of the solar light. Hence, the absorption property deduced that the RE doped ZnO could be promising in visible light photo catalysis. The observed results are summarized in table 5.1. where d XRD

NP's	Lattice	d XRD	d TEM	E_g
	Parameter(Å)	(nm)	(nm)	(eV)
ZnO	a = 3.249; c = 5.204	14	18 ± 2	3.325
Tb doped ZnO	a = 3.251; c = 5.201	11	14 ± 2	3.321
Er doped ZnO	a = 3.250; c = 5.202	12	13 ± 2	3.311
Eu doped ZnO	a = 3.257; c = 5.216	12	12 ± 2	3.276

Table 5.1: Calculated Lattice parameter, crystalline size and optical band-gap of NP's

is average crystallite size, d TEM is average diameter and E_g is optical band gap of ZnOand RE doped ZnO NP's.

5.3.5 Photo luminescence (PL) spectroscopy

PL spectrum is a useful tool to track the possible defects in the sample and to investigate the efficiency of charge carrier trapping, immigration and luminescence properties. The emission intensity depends on nature of RE ions, concentration amount of RE ions and excited wavelength. In general, a higher PL intensity implies larger rate of electron hole recombination hence reducing the reaction rate of photo generated charge carriers. Such systems are useful in device application. Whereas, a lower PL intensity indicates a low rate of photo generated electron-hole recombination, which makes more photo generated electrons and holes available for the oxidation and reduction reaction, consequently improving the photocatalytic performance [402]. Figure 5.10 represents the room temperature PL spectra of different wt% of Er, Eu and Tb doped ZnO NP's. The excitation wave length of laser light was 325 nm. As the concentration of RE in ZnO is increased, the visible emission is enhanced (up to 1.5 wt% doped ZnO) because as the RE material concentration is increased the particle size is slightly decreasing, which might enhance the content of oxygen vacancies on the surface of the material but excessive doping of RE consumes the ZnO NP's (concentration quenching), decreasing the PL intensity.



Figure 5.10: Room temperature PL spectra of different wt% doped Er, Eu and Tb doped ZnO NP's. ($\lambda_{exc} = 325nm$)

To complete the valence site of one Zn^{2+} , one O^{2+} will attach to form a ZnO compound while in the case of RE^{3+} , two RE^{3+} will be made bonded to three O^{2-} to form Er_2O_3 compound. In this process, two RE^{3+} ions replace the three Zn^{2+} ions and oxygen concentration remains constant. Thus, the reason behind the change in oxygen vacancies is not the exchange of Zn^{2+} by RE^{3+} but increase in the surface to volume ratio due to reduced particle size. Further increasing the doping percentage of RE^{3+} the broad visible emission peak of pure ZnO overlap the RE^{3+} doped ZnO peaks. These results conclude that energy is transferring from ZnO to RE^{3+} and it emits light. From the above study for optoelectronic application 1.5 wt% of RE doping is optimised concentration.

5. SYNTHESIS OF RE DOPED *ZNO* NP'S AND THEIR CHARACTERIZATION

Room temperature PL spectra of undoped ZnO NP's (figure 5.11(a)) and 1.5 wt% RE doped ZnO (figure 5.11(b)) was studied with excitation of wavelength 325nm. Two emission peaks were observed in PL of undoped ZnO NP's, one in the UV region 370-420nm, agreeing to near band edge transition, and the secondary broad emission peak is in the range 425-650 nm which attributes to the presence of singly ionized oxygen vacancies (surface defects) [182]. A photo generated hole with electron occupying the oxygen vacancy can be the reason behind the secondary emission [375]. The higher PL intensities of RE- doped ZnO showed that the radiative recombination was increased by doping with RE, leading to strong recombination of photo generated charge carriers, which will be benefited in the optoelectronic applications. Compared with the other RE-doped ZnO products, the Eu³⁺ (1.5 wt%) doped ZnO had the highest PL intensity in visible range, which indicated that the Eu doping should have the highest defect density whereas Er doping have best recombination rate of electrons and holes in UV region. Furthermore, the PL intensity of RE-doped ZnO changed with the doping content. Reports show that the PL intensity of RE-doped ZnO increased gradually with the increase of doping, reaches a maximum at some critical concentration and then decreases [403]. Tb³⁺ and Eu³⁺ doped ZnO NP's shows the characteristic PL emissions due to intra 4f (⁵D to ⁷F) transitions of Tb³⁺ and Eu³⁺ whereas Er³⁺ doped ZnO shows characteristic peaks corresponding to ${}^{4}F$ to ${}^{4}I$ and ${}^{4}S$ to ${}^{4}I$ transitions. 446, 490, 543 and 624 nm are leading four lines found in the emission spectra for Tb^{3+} doped ZnO under 325 nm excitation. The sharp peaks of intra-4f transitions act along with wide defect luminescence of ZnO. Also notable think is that the excitation wavelength of 325nm for does not match to any actual intra-4f excitation of Tb^{3+} or Eu^{3+} .In the Eu-doped ZnO also show three PL signatures centered at 538, 579 and 625 nm which are attributed to ${}^{5}D$ to ${}^{7}F$ transitions [404, 405]. The electric dipole transition accounts for the high intensity peak at 625 nm (red) for all RE doped samples. Which is an attributed signature indicating the larger degree of disorder and non- centrosymmetric without inversion center [179, 406]. The relatively larger covalent radius of the RE^{3+} ions induces local distortion in the ZnO lattice as RE^{3+} substitutes the Zn^{2+} ions which are confirmed in the XRD patterns. The shifting of (100), (101) and (002) diffraction planes toward lower Bragg angles in XRD spectra confirms the substitution of Zn^{2+} by $\rm RE^{3+}.$ Furthermore the characteristic red emissions at 625nm in RE doped samples, due to sensitivity of local symmetry like subsurfaces and/or nanoparticle surface [407, 408], specifies that the energy transmission from host ZnO to RE^{3+} ions. It is recognized that the peak resembles to ${}^{5}D_{0} - {}^{7}F_{1}$ at 590nm (orange) in case of Eu doped samples, because of the magnetic dipole transition, which is permitted if Eu^{3+} ions are in a noncentrosymmetric site. And also unaffected to the nearby environment of the Eu^{3+} ions.

In the condition when all Eu³⁺ ions were occupied the Zn²⁺ sites in the stoichiometric ZnO then the Eu³⁺ ions must have the matching point of symmetry as of Zn²⁺ ions(C6v) and no transition were observed rather then ${}^5D_0 - {}^7F_1$.



Figure 5.11: PL spectra of undoped and 1.5 wt% RE (Er, Tb and Eu) doped ZnO NP's. $(\lambda_{exc} = 325nm)$

The presence of peak corrosponding to ${}^{5}D_{0} - {}^{7}F_{0}$ transition is a clear indication that some of Eu^{3+} occupying any other sites such like interstitial sites, in addition to substituting the Zn^{2+} sites because J=0 to J=0 transition is strictly forbidden. The comparative intensities of the magnetic dipole and electric dipole transition are also sensitive to the local symmetry of Eu³⁺ ions. Exited state energy transfer mechanism was proposed for the intra-4f transition by Wang et al., which consist of the band gap excitation of carriers tracked by their relaxation to the band edge. Later in this transitions the carriers are either undergo radiative transition or stuck in the defects [88]. These trapped excitons are responsible for the intra-4f emission. Er doped ZnO NP's shows characteristic emission peaks centered at 515, 537 and 628 nm. These transitions are corresponding to ${}^{4}S_{3/2} \rightarrow {}^{4}I_{15/2}, {}^{H}S_{11/2} \rightarrow {}^{4}I_{15/2}$ and ${}^{4}F_{9/2} \rightarrow {}^{4}I_{15/2}$ as shown in energy level diagram. In the Er doped samples, intensity of the excitonic emission band increased compared with that for the undoped ZnO and Eu^{3+} and Tb^{3+} doped ZnO. This can be explained by the formation mechanism and structure of the Er-doped ZnO NP's as proposed by Kaisheng Yu *et al* that Er^{3+} would have caused an increase local concentration of excitons more as compare to Tb and Eu during photoexcitation, because of more accumulation of ZnO nano particles in presence of Er thus resulting in an increased excitonic emission intensity compared with the undoped ZnO [187]. This accumulation of ZnO particles in the presence of The fluorescent light intensity was therefore enhanced with increasing Er contents. The Er doped ZnO sample is excited at 340 nm then the intensity of band edge emission is decrease and visible range intensity increases with high intense characteristic peak at 650nm.



Figure 5.12: Schematic of energy level diagram and possible transitions for RE (Tb, Er and Eu) doped ZnO NPs.

Overall, Doping of RE enhances the luminescence properties of ZnO NP's the possible transition and energy level diagram for RE doped ZnO NP's are shown in figure 5.12.

In Eu doped ZnO NP's PL shows very less intense characteristics peaks as compare to Tb and Er doped ZnO NP's.

5.4 Conclusion

In this chapter, we have synthesized ZnO and different wt% Er, Tb, and Eu doped ZnO NP's with diameter 10-14 nm by simple wet chemical route. The incorporation of RE^{3+} ions into the ZnO host and formation of single phase spherical RE^{3+} doped ZnO NP's without any RE compound with the help of XRD and TEM measurements was presented. DRS analysis reveals that incorporation of RE^{3+} ions causes a shift in the excited absorption band toward higher energy due to induced lattice strain. 300 kelvin solid phase PL with 325 nm Xe light excitation shows narrow (FWHM < 35 nm) and strong UV luminescence and also musltiple deep level defects leading to broad visible emissions. It has been established that by increasing RE³⁺ dopant concentrations, visible luminescence intensity increases up to 1.5 wt% of RE. This may be due to presence of more strain induced defects created by size disparity between Zn^{2+}/RE^{3+} ions and energy transfer carried by deffects from host ZnO to guest dopant ions. we visualized characteristic intra-4f transition lines of RE³⁺ ions using solid state PL, measurements with 325 laser excitations. Present research establishes that RE-doped ZnO NP's may indeed find a varity of applications in optoelectronic and multicolor emission display devices through defect engineering.

84
6

Block copolymer directed nanostructures

6.1 Introduction

Fabrication of highly ordered organic/inorganic nanostructures are made easy by the ordered nanotemplates which makes them interesting in the field of nano fabrications. Different morphologies of diblock copolymer thin films can be achieved with a narrow distribution of molecular weights. Tuning of size and periodicity of blocks can be achieved by changing the molecular weight of copolymer, which are the key parameters for various applications in energy, membranes, fluidics and information technology [409–412]. Polymer-substrate and polymer-air interaction plays an important role in controlling the morphology of block copolymer thin films. The position of the copolymer depends on these interaction. For example, the copolymer which occupy the interface of the substrate have a better interaction with surface. Nanotemplate application of block copolymer makes it imperative to have well ordered structure which provides high density and equal separation of domains. These domains have preferred orientations. The perpendicularly oriented domains have a tendency to align parallel to the surface due to the preferential interaction. [413, 414]. Various approaches like external stimuli, surface modification and non-equilibrium methods are employed to achieve desired orientation [415–417]. Supramolecular assembly has also been used as an efficient approach to obtain well-ordered perpendicular nanoporous templates [26, 418–421]. These nanotemplates can be used for fabrication of highly ordered inorganic nanostructures for various applications like solar cells, light-emitting diode (LED), gas sensing, gas separation, field effect transistor (FET) and to study antibacterial activity [232, 422–426]. Ordered assemblies

of nanomaterials in 1D, 2D, and 3D, can be produced by bottom-up technique which has been recognized as a well-designed and efficient approach [427–430]. The flexibility in the selection of inorganic material and the arrangement of molecules make these approaches versatile over the well-known top-down lithographic techniques. Particularly, block copolymers pattering represents a most promising technique for the fabrication of ordered inorganic nanostructures (metal/metal oxide nanoparticles, nanorods, quantum dots) due to their self-assembly into a variety of well-ordered and periodic nanoscale patterns with a typical dimension of $5 - 100 \ nm$ [13, 413, 431, 432].

Nanostructures can be fabricated by either *in-situ* or *ex-situ* approach. However the ex-situ approach is more controllable and efficient because the properties of the presynthesized nanoparticles can be tailored easily. In the *in-situ* approach, selective incorporation of nanoparticles in one of the blocks of block copolymer is an easy process, but it is less attractive because it enhances the tendency of agglomeration of nanoparticles and form the clusters [433] and the morphology will also be altered at a particular concentration of nanoparticles [434]. To retain the same structure as that of block copolymer domains and to avoid the cluster formation, direct deposition of nanoparticles (*ex-situ*) into the templates is an effective approach to fabricate the well-ordered nanoparticles array with high fidelity. In this chapter, we have investigated the supramolecular assembly from PS-b-P4VP and additive HABA in 1-4 dioxane solvent with the different molecular weight of PS-b-P4VP ($M_n = 39.9 \ kg/mol, \ M_n = 41 \ kg/mol$, and $M_n = 205$ kg/mol) and different relative volume fraction of P4VP. Cylindrical (with different size) and lamellar nanodomains with an orientation perpendicular to the surface have been observed. Furthermore we herein made an effort to subdue the agglomeration by sonication during deposition and a well-ordered array of ZnO and RE doped ZnO nanodots has been obtained by incorporating the pre-synthesized nanoparticles into the templates. This approach is versatile and can be applied to the other metal oxides nanostructures also.

6.2 Experimental details

In this section we describe the fabrication of well ordered nanotemplates. Prepared nanotemplates were then backfilled by direct deposition of nanoparticles. Subsequently, the templates were characterized by AFM to observe the morphological behavior.

6.2.1 Deposition of thin films of supramolecular assembly

Diblock copolymer PS-*b*-P4VP and HABA were used to prepare supramolecular assembly of thin films. For this, solution of PS-*b*-P4VP with HABA was prepared using the following steps:

- An appropriate amount of PS-*b*-P4VP and HABA (P4VP/HABA molar ratio 1:1, 1wt%) was dissolved separately in 1-4 dioxane under sonication.
- The polymer solution was added dropwise into the HABA solution, and the resultant solution was stirred in a closed volumetric flask for 3 hrs at 75°C.
- The resulted solution was allowed to cool at room temperature and left for overnight to complete the hydrogen bonding between HABA and P4VP.
- The solution was filtered with 0.2μ PVDF syringe filter.

Separate solutions were prepared for PS-b-P4VP of different molecular weight following the same procedure. Thin films of block copolymer were deposited onto the cleaned silicon substrates by dip coating technique. Substrates were immersed into the filtered PS-b-P4VP/HABA solution for one minute and withdrawn at a speed of 100 mm/min.

6.2.2 Ordering in thin films and surface reconstruction



Figure 6.1: Chemical structure of PS-*b*-P4VP/HABA supramolecular assembly (left) and schematic for the fabrication of nanotemplates (right).

Block copolymer thin films were dried and further annealed for 5 days in the vapours of 1-4 dioxane in an air sealed glass chamber in order to improve the ordering of nanodomains.

Glass chamber was opened and allowed the solvent to evaporate freely. The ordered thin films were rinsed with ethanol for fabrication of nanotemplates. Ethanol is good solvent for P4VP/HABA and poor solvent for PS so it extract P4VP/HABA selectively. Chemical structure of PS, P4VP/HABA (left) and schematic for the fabrication of block copolymer nanotemplates (right) is depicted in figure 6.1. Block copolymer thin films were dried and further annealed for 5 days in the vapours of 1-4 dioxane in an air sealed glass chamber in order to improve the ordering of nanodomains. Glass chamber was opened and allowed the solvent to evaporate freely. The ordered thin films were rinsed with ethanol for fabrication of nanotemplates. Ethanol is good solvent for P4VP/HABA and poor solvent for PS so it extract P4VP/HABA selectively. Chemical structure of PS, P4VP/HABA (left) and schematic for the fabrication of block copolymer nanotemplates (right) is depicted in figure 6.1.

6.2.3 Deposition of NP's into the templates



Figure 6.2: Scheme for the fabrication of ordered ZnO and RE doped ZnO nanostructures.

Cylindrical porous nanotemplates were used for the fabrication of ordered nanodots. Templates were immersed into the aqueous solution of ZnO NP's. Synthesis of ZnO and RE doped ZnO NP's has been described in detail in section 3.3.1. For the deposition of nanoparticles, 0.05 gm powder of pre-synthesized ZnO and RE doped ZnO NP's was dispersed in 20 ml of deionized (DI) water by sonication and then filtered through $0.2\mu m$ PVDF filter. The filtered solution becomes almost transparent which indicates the of dispersion of NP's and reduction of agglomeration. The ordered vertically aligned cylindrical nanoporus templates were dipped into the filtered solution for 6-12 hours under the sonication. Continuous sonication reduces the problem of agglomeration of metal oxide NP's. Schematic of the process for *ex-situ* deposition, followed in the present study is depicted in figure 6.2.

6.3 Results and discussion

PS-*b*-P4VP is most popular diblock copolymer and easily available in a large variety of molecular weight. Mostly, carboxylic or hydroxyl functional group of small molecules have been hydrogen bonded with P4VP block. Supramolecular assembled thin films of diblock copolymers were deposited on cleaned Si substrate by dip coating from 1 wt% composite solution of PS-*b*-P4VP and HABA. HABA molecules are expected to associate with P4VP blocks via hydrogen bond. Thin films were annealed in the vapours of 1-4 dioxane for 5 days in a sealed glass chamber. Surface morphology of thin films was observed by AFM in both the cases, before annealing and after annealing.

6.3.1 Vertically aligned cylindrical porous templates

Dip coating method were used to prepare supramolecular assembly of di-block copolymer PS-b-P4VP/HABA as described in section 6.2.1. In order to achieve the ordering of these thin film templates, solvent annealing were done as describe in section 6.2.2 Figure 6.3 (left) represents the height image of surface morphology of as deposited thin films of PS-b-P4VP/HABA ($M_n^{PS} = 35.5 \ kg/mol$, $M_n^{P4VP} = 4.4 \ kg/mol$). It can be observed from the images that blocks are not well ordered while the both phases are separated within nanoscale which were attributed to the fast evaporation of solvent due to which polymer chains have not sufficient time to rearrange themselves to attain the equilibrium morphology. Root mean squre (RMS) roughness of the image was found as $\sim 1.2 \ nm$. Thermal and solvant annealing are the responsible factors for ordering of thin films. Solvant annealing has been adopted in order to achieve supramolecular assembly to avoid the evaporation of small molecules at high temperatures because a little loss of

small molecules can greatly affect the structures in thin films [418]. Further deposited thin film were chemically annealed by using 1-4 dioxane in glass chamber which were further examined by AFM, appearance of nanodot like structure were observed (shown in figure 6.3 (right)).



Figure 6.3: AFM height and phase images of PS-*b*-P4VP/HABA ($M_n^{PS} = 35.5 \ kg/mol$, $M_n^{P4VP} = 4.4 \ kg/mol$) thin films (left) without annealing and (right) annealed in 1-4 dioxane vapours.

Dispersion of domains of P4VP/HABA in PS matrix resulting dot like stucture. annealed thin films having reduced RMS roughness from ~1 nm for an area 2 × 2 μm^2 (lateral scale). The relative volume fraction of P4VP/HABA in supramolecular assembly of PS-*b*-P4VP/HABA is 0.3. Arrangement of cylindrical domains (phase diagram demonstrated by Matsen and Bates [20]) is acceptable for this fraction. It could be hypothesized that these dots like features are the apex of cylindrical domains formed by P4VP/HABA. The orientation of cylindrical domains in supramolecular assembled thin films are strongly depends on two factors one is selection of solvents to each block and the second one is preferential interaction of the blocks to the surface of substrate, which is already reported by Tung *et al.* [280]. In annealing, the solvent molecules provide the mobility to supramolecules which causes the rearrangement of supramolecules into more ordered structures. Though mobility of each phase may be different in different solvent. In order to prepare ordered nano templates, the films were removed from the annealing chamber and rinsed in ethanol for 20 minutes for surface reconstruction and selectively extraction of HABA. The role of ethanol is to create the disturbance of hydrogen bonds



between HABA and P4VP and removal HABA molecules from P4VP/HABA domains in thin films.

Figure 6.4: AFM height image of PS-*b*-P4VP/HABA ($M_n^{PS} = 35.5 \ kg/mol$, $M_n^{P4VP} = 4.4 \ kg/mol$) thin films after immersing in ethanol.

So, the removal of HABA responsible for leaving the nanochannels/nanopores lined with functional group. Ethanol enhances the mobility of P4VP/HABA chains but the movement is hindered by frozen PS chains as it is good solvent for P4VP/HABA and bad solvent for PS. This helps to retain the morphology after dipping into ethanol. PSb-P4VP/HABA thin films after annealing as shown in (after washing in ethanol) figure 6.4. Ethanol washed images are clear to observe that the solvent annealed thin films shows hexagonally arranged cynlindrical pores normal to the surface of the substrate after surface reconstruction as well as removal of HABA by dipping the film into ethanol. As stated by the self-consistent field theory, the morphological parameters depends on the molecular weight, Flory Huggins interaction χ , volume fraction and the degree of polymerization [435]. Figure 6.5 morphology of the supramolecular assembled as spun (left) and further after solvent annealing (right) thin films of PS-b-P4VP with the high molecular weight of polymer $M_n^{PS} = 130 \ kg/mol, \ M_n^{P4VP} = 75 \ kg/mol.$ Relative volume fraction of P4VP is also much higher. P4VP has weight fraction of ~ 0.36 and it increases to ~ 0.65 after addition of HABA in equimolar ratio which is nearly at the boundary of lamellar/cylindrical in bulk. Deposition and annealing parameters are kept same as for the lower molecular weight $(M_n^{PS} = 35.5 \ kg/mol, \ M_n^{P4VP} = 4.4 \ kg/mol).$ P4VP/HABA dots in PS matrix are observed in figure 6.5. When HABA and P4VP are bind together then the P4VP-HABA constitutes the majority phase. In spite of P4VP-HABA constituting the majority phase, P4VP-HABA core surrounded with PS corona

was observed. This is referred as "inverted phase" which is dependent on either nature of the solvent or the interaction between the block and solvent and concentration of the solution.



Figure 6.5: AFM height images of PS-*b*-P4VP/HABA ($M_n^{PS} = 130 \ kg/mol$, $M_n^{P4VP} = 75 \ kg/mol$) thin films, (left) without annealing and (right) annealed in 1-4 dioxane



Figure 6.6: AFM height images of PS-*b*-P4VP/HABA ($M_n^{PS} = 130 \ kg/mol$, $M_n^{P4VP} = 75 \ kg/mol$) thin films after immersing in ethanol

If the solvent possesses a preferential affinity to the minority block then rate of swollen will be more than the majority block and effectively it become the majority block. In present case the the affiity of the 1-4 dioxane is greater towards the PS than P4VP. Evaporation rate of solvent and interfacial interactions during the deposition are also important factors [436, 437]. Rinsing in ethanol results the nanoporous film with higher pore size as compared to lower molecular weight ($M_n^{PS} = 35.5 \ kg/mol$, $M_n^{P4VP} = 4.4 \ kg/mol$) (figure 6.6). Similar results for high molecular weight have also been obtained by Laforgue *et al.* using DHN as an additive [27].

6.3.2 Vertically aligned lamellar templates

Different morphology other than cylindrical behavior were also obtained by changing the molecular weight of the block-copolymer and the variation in the sharing ratio of copolymer. For the lamellar microdomains we used the HABA and P4VP in the 1:1 fraction. Because the ratio 0.5 of P4VP/HABA is correspond the lamellar microdomains. Annealing is key parameter for the morphology of the block-copolymer, without the annealing we can't suppose the characteristic features. And the expected morphology is far from equilibrium (figure 6.7(left)), similar to case of lower relative fraction of P4VP/HABA (figure 6.3 (left)).



Figure 6.7: AFM height and phase images of PS-*b*-P4VP/HABA ($M_n^{PS} = 33 \ kg/mol$, $M_n^{P4VP} = 8 \ kg/mol$) thin films (left) without annealing and (right) annealed in the vapours of 1-4 dioxane.

By more time of annealing in the vapours of 1-4 dioxane, lamellar structure take place for the cause of the structural reorganization property as shown in the figure 6.7 (right) with the help of the mobility imparted. Also after the annealing, the surface roughness reduced significantly. In our case roughness become 0.5 nm from 3.9nm after annealing. Above study confirms that by varying the volume fraction, molecular weight with compatible solvent annealing in 1-4 dioxane can control nanodomains from cylinder to lamellar. Selective extraction of HABA from the annealed thin films of PS-*b*-P4VP/HABA by dipping in ethanol left the films with periodically arranged channels perpendicular to surface of substrate (figure 6.8). Figure 6.8 (left) and (right) are taken at different magnification for the clear view of lamellar channels created in the film.



Figure 6.8: (a, b) AFM images of PS-*b*-P4VP/HABA ($M_n^{PS} = 33 \ kg/mol$, $M_n^{P4VP} = 8 \ kg/mol$) thin films annealed in 1-4 dioxane and after immersing in ethanol.

6.3.3 Switching behavior of thin film

Annealing the solvent plays important behavior in controlling the morphology of block copolymer thin films [285]. Switching behavior was observed in thin films after annealing in two solvents for different duration. Annealing in oxygen-bearing (benzene, chloroform etc...) and non-oxygen-bearing (THF, 1,4-dioxane etc...) solvents has shown completely different surface patterns. After fabrication of films, it was initially annealed in chloroform for 5 days to get perpendicularly arranged cylindrical structures 6.9(leftt). Further the hence obtained structures were annealed in 1,4-dioxane for 3 days to obtain mixed morphology (6.9 (middle)) where some of the nanostructures were arranged parallel and some perpendicular to the substrate. Increasing the annealing time to 5 days, we could observe a complete transformation from perpendicular arrangement to parallel arrangement as shown in figure 6.9 (right). Similar kind of results were obtained by Stamm *et al.* [22, 285]. It was due to the different selectivity of solvents to each copolymer. Correlation between the orientation of microdomains in thin films and the content of associated small molecules is well reported and observed that the adequately high molar ratio of small molecules drives/directs the perpendicular orientation of microdomains [24, 438].



Figure 6.9: AFM images of PS-*b*-P4VP/HABA ($M_n^{PS} = 33 \ kg/mol$, $M_n^{P4VP} = 8 \ kg/mol$) thin films annealed in chloroform and after immersing in ethanol.

6.3.4 ZnO and RE doped ZnO NP's deposition in nanotemplates

These nanotemplates were dipped into the aqueous solution of pre-synthesized nanoparticles, and the nanoparticles were allowed to enter into the hexagonally arranged cylindrical pores by the diffusion and the capillary forces. This step was performed in the ultrasonic bath to avoid the agglomeration of nanoparticles and blocking of the pores. Morphology of as-deposited and solvent annealed thin film of Supramolecular assembly on surface reconstruction by immersing in ethanol has been discussed in section 4.3.1. Unlike to the metal nanoparticles, metal oxide nanoparticles agglomerate and settle down very fast which is unfavorable for the successful deposition of nanoparticles into the pores. Nanoparticles were mixed with deionized water under sonication and subsequently filtered twice with $0.2\mu m$ PVDF filter. Obtained aqueous solution of nanoparticles in the solution, while bigger sized particle are filtered out.



Figure 6.10: AFM images of an array of ZnO nanostructures in nanotemplate.

In addition to above method, the nanoparticles solution was continuously sonicated during the deposition, to reduce the agglomeration and cluster formation. The Supramolecular assembly nanotemplates were immersed into the sonicated and filtered aqueous solution of pre-synthesized ZnO and RE doped ZnO NP's for 9 to 10 hours. The templates were removed from the nanoparticles solution and then washed with deionized water to remove the weakly attached nanoparticles.



Figure 6.11: AFM images of an array of RE doped ZnO nanostructures in nanotemplate.

Figure 6.10 and 6.11 represents the AFM images of templates after deposition. AFM

image confirms the deposition of ZnO NP's into the templates. The mechanism for the deposition of ZnO and RE doped ZnO NP's into the cylindrical pores of templates can be proposed as follows. The first and foremost condition for the direct deposition of pre-synthesized nanoparticles is its size, which should be much smaller than the pore size which is satisfied in the present study. However, in case of transition metal oxides, especially ZnO and RE doped ZnO NP's, the agglomeration of NP's is a hurdle which has been subdued here by filtration and sonication during the deposition. So, in the present case, the diffusion of nanoparticles into the pores is tuned. Second, the selection of the solvent for the dispersion of nanoparticles is also important. It should not perturb the structure of templates, and it is required to allow the wetting of pores exclusively. In this regard, the aqueous solution of nanoparticles is advantageous in the present study. Since P4VP is hydrophilic and PS is hydrophobic, so the solution of nanoparticles readily wet the pore walls since the pores are lined with the P4VP functional group. The structure remains intact after deposition of nanoparticles into the pores since the PS matrix won't expand by imbibing the solution. Once the pore walls get wet by the solution, the capillary force assist entering the nanoparticles into the pores. Additionally, coordination of the nanoparticles with pyridine group lined in the pore walls plays a crucial role which further promotes the deposition of nanoparticles into the pores.

6.4 Applications

Ordered ZnO and RE doped ZnO nanostructures can be obtained after the removal of PS matrix from the silicon substrate. Ordered nanostructures are of particular interest since it has potential applications in optoelectronic devices such as LED's, laser diodes, field emitters etc...

6.5 Conclusions

In this chapter, different molecular weight were used to prepare supramoleculer assembly of PS-*b*-P4VP/HABA. It can be concluded that, to prepare ordered and dense nanostructure, use of supramolecular assembly is a functional and reliable approach. In the beginning of the process ordered structure of the thin film is not obtained because the fast evaporation of solvent. But the solvent annealing with 1-4 dioxane starts the ordering of the supermolecular assembly. In the process of solvent annealing the mobility of copolymer molecules imparted by the evaporated solvent molecules, which guides

the copolymer molecules for rearrangement. Based on the selectivity of solvent decide the structure of block-copolymer. In our case, the Minority block (P4VP/HABA) forms cylinders surround by majority block (PS) with 1-4 dioxane solvent. By the molecular rearrangement, nanotemplates of cylindrical pores obtained with hexagonal arrangement. To control the size of porous structure we can change the molecular weight keeping the volume fraction of copolymers as same. Lamellar microdomains have been also obtained by fluctuating the molecular weight as well as the changing the fraction of each phase. By using these porous nanotemplates ZnO and RE doped ZnO nanostructures were obtained. For the both type of nanostructures aqueous solution of nanoparticles and immersion process was used. In the immersion, wetting of walls helps the selective assembly of NP's. Sonication is used during the deposition, because sonication delivers a pathway to nanoparticles to go inside the pores. At the last by removing the copolymer, ordered Zno and RE doped ZnO has been achieved. This type of procedure can be applied to other shape and size of ZnO and ZnO composites, because these structure have various valuable optoelectronics applications. 7

Antibacterial activities of ZnO NP's

7.1 Introduction

Inorganic Metal oxides like MgO, TiO_2 , SiO_2 and ZnO are being used for antimicrobial applications [439–442] because of their stability and long shelf life as compared with organic antimicrobial agent. The antibacterial activity of these NP's have been tested with different bacteria such as Staphylococcus aureus, Escherichia coli and Bacillus sub*tilis.* Due to antibacterial, low toxic and biocompatible property of ZnO NP's it is used as filling in medical materials and drug packaging. Krishna et al. reported that antibacterial activity of ZnO NP's is inversely proportional to the size of NP's in S. aureus [443], size-dependent antimicrobial response of zinc oxide NP's is also reported by Palanikumar L. et al. [444]. There are several individual reports on antibacterial properties of ZnO NP's prepared by various route and morphology dependent antibacterial properties against some bacteria. Microorganisms attached to surfaces form biofilms. This biofilm is a slimy protective layer of exopolysaccharides (EPS) which protects the microbial cells from direct contact and effect of antibiotics and xenobiotics [445, 446]. These structures cause hygienic problems in food industry [447], septic conditions in medical dominion [448, 449] and membrane fouling in water treatment plants [450]. Biofilm formation is significant for both medical and industrial operations. It causes biofouling which reduces permeability of membrane thereby increasing energy costs, limits lifetime of membrane and hence its cost effectiveness. To overcome the evolving problem of biofilms two strategies have been proposed, the inhibition of biofilm formation or treatment and eradication of biofilms already formed. Microorganisms within biofilms are more resistant to antimicrobial compounds than planktonic cells [451, 452]. Several treatment methods are adopted which includes use of enzymes, surfactants, biocide treatment etc... Enzymes can be used to disrupt the outer biofilm

matrix as they cause cells dispersion leading to exposure of antibiotics. However, their large cost is a major limitation in their use [453]. Surfactants when applied to surfaces inhibit adhesion and attachment of bacteria but their activity depends on the type of surface, microorganism and temperature [454]. The major challenge in the food and water treatment industry is to prevent the conditioning biofilm formation on the surfaces of equipment and membranes. Second messenger cyclic di-GMP (c-di-GMP) has emerged as a novel signal which can control formation of biofilm [455, 456]. c-di-GMP synthesis takes place via DGC which inhibit the activity of the enzyme that produces cyclic di-GMP. These molecules prevent biofilm formation via targeting of c-di-GMP signaling [457, 458]. Winkelstroter *et al.* [459] used bacteriocins to evaluate Listeria monocytogenes biofilm formation. Lequete et al. [460] reported the cleaning efficiency of polysaccharides and proteolytic enzymes against biofilms of food industry bacteria. Another antibiofilm strategy these days embraces nanotechnology which has emerged as one of the most promising approach [461, 462]. NP's are recently being exploited as antibiofilm agents for the treatment of infection involving biofilms. The nanomaterials have attracted many researchers as they possess superior features like extremely small size, enormous surface area, high reactivity and easy penetration into biofilm matrix. Martinez-Gutierreza et al. [463] studied the effect of Ag NP's on biofilm under static and high fluid shear conditions. Lungu et al. [464] revealed that Ag-TiO₂ nanocomposites possess strong activity against biofilm formation. The effect of Ag NP's decorated with graphene towards biofilm formation was assessed against S. typhimurium present on stainless steel surfaces [465]. Similarly, it was observed that graphene nanocomposites with ZnO NP's inhibited S. mutans biofilms formed on artificial tooth model [466]. Chitosan-Ag NP's exhibited excellent antibiofilm activity against P. aeruginosa, while same amount of chitosan did not show any significant inhibition in biofilm activity of S. aureus [467]. Sambhy et al. [468] showed that silver bromide nanocomposites possess good antibiofilm activity. Polyvinyl chloride ZnO nanocomposite was reported to have high antibiofilm activity against S. aureus as compared to pure polymer [469]. Eshed et al. [470] reported that ZnO and CuO NP's coated teeth have significantly reduced biofilm formation when compared with untreated teeth. Shrestha et al. [471] showed that chitosan-NP's and ZnO-NP's disrupted biofilm structure of E. faecalis when exposed to 90 days. Hsuch et al. [472], demonstrated the effect of ZnO NP's on biofilm formation of *Bacillus subtilis*. Se NP's were used to nano-functionalize polycarbonate medical devices and antibiofilm activity was studied [473]. Hernandez-Delgadillo et al. [474] reported that colloidal aqueous solution of bismuth oxide NP's completely inhibited biofilm formation. ZnO NP's are one of the most popular choices among metal oxides of commercial importance and has been widely used as a potent antimicrobial

agent and as a UV protector in cosmetics [122, 182, 232, 475]. Their high catalytic activity make them important industrial additive for many products, including plastics, cement, lubricants, rubber, glass, and food [476, 477]. In the present study, ZnO NP's have been synthesized by via chemical method and their effect on bacterial growth and biofilm formation of model non-pathogenic gram positive bacteria, Bacillus subtilis, was evaluated. To assess the variation in biofilm mass, crystal violet staining was done in which the proportion of dye bound to the adhered cells is related to the overall biofilm biomass. Morphological changes were analysed via phase contrast and scanning electron microscopy that provides the information regarding biofilm surface architecture and modifications. The impact of NP's on bacterial adhesion property was correlated to the bacterial cell viability which has been assessed in term of ROS generation and subsequent catalase activity changes.

7.2 Results and discussion

7.2.1 Antibacterial activity

The antimicrobial activity of these ZnO NP's synthesized by method 4.2.2 was evaluated using *Bacillus subtilis* bacteria. The NP's were taken at concentration of 2, 5 and 10 mg/ml. The growth of bacteria was found to be inhibited near and around the areas where the NP's were placed on the media (figure 7.1).



Figure 7.1: Antibacterial activity of *ZnO* NP's on *Bacillus subtilis* at concentration of (a) 2mg/ml (b) 5mg/ml (c) 10mg/ml.

The diameter of zone of inhibition for these ZnO NP's were found to increase with increase in the concentration of NP's. The antimicrobial activity of ZnO NP's can be attributed to the fact that the NP's can easily impregnate into the cell wall of the

7. ANTIBACTERIAL ACTIVITIES OF ZNO NP'S

bacteria [478]. As shown in figure 7.2(a), untreated *Bacillus subtilis* cells exhibited green fluorescence indicating presence of 100% viable bacterial cells, whereas the ZnO NP's treated bacterial samples show a mixture of red and green fluorescence confirming a mixture of viable and non-viable cells (figure 7.2 (b)- 7.2(e)). The viable bacterial cells having intact cell membrane are stained green by the FITC fluorescence dye, whereas non-viable bacterial cells with deformed cell membrane upon NP's treatment are stained red by propidium iodide fluorescence dye.



Figure 7.2: Fluorescence micrographs (a) Control (witout ZnO NP's) (b) at ZnO concentration of 1 mg/ml (c) 2 mg/ml (d) 5 mg/ml (e) 10 mg/ml.

7.2.2 Effect of ZnO NP's on Bacillus subtilis biofilm formation

After an incubation of 24 hrs, the bacterial cells were found to adhere at air-media interface in the form of biofilm (figure 7.3). This confirms that *Bacillus subtilis* is motile organisms and forms a biofilm at the air-liquid interface. The density and area of the biofilm present on the surface was observed as seen in figure 7.3(b). In case of negative control (where the coverslip was kept in blank solution i.e., no bacterial inoculation or NP's treatment) there was no signs of bacterial adhesion (figure 7.3(a)) while in case of positive control and ZnO NP's treated tubes (figure 7.3(b) bacterial biofilm was observed. However, it was more prominent in case of control and showed a reduction in density with increase in NP's concentration. Also the turbidity of the culture showed the same decline.



Figure 7.3: Biofilm formation setup (a) before incubation and (b) after incubation with ZnO NP's. The concentration ZnO NP's in tubes: control (first 2 tubes from left), 0.5 mg ml⁻¹ (2 tubes in mid) and 1 mg ml⁻¹(first 2 tubes from right).

This indicated the biofilm formation was affected in the presence of ZnO NP's. It was observed that the increase in dose of the NP's in medium reduces the adhesion of bacterium and hence delays the formation of biofilm [479].

7.2.3 Crystal Violet Assay



Figure 7.4: (1) Dissolution of Crystal Violet Dye: (a) Acetic acid (b) Blank (c) Control (d, e), treated with ZnO NP's with concentrations 0.2 and 0.5 mg ml⁻¹ respectively. (2) Graph showing crystal violet absorbance at 550 nm by blank, control and ZnO NP's treated samples.

The coverslips after incubation were stained with the dye and the biofilm region was detected as violet. The control coverslip had more prominent stained region as compared to the ZnO NP's treated ones. The dissolved stain showed a gradual decline in concentration dependent manner (figure 7.4(up)). This surface-associated dye can also be solubilized and measured in optical density (OD) for semi quantitative assessment of the biofilm formed [480, 481]. The mean absorbance values at 550 nm after 24 hrs showed that control culture formed more biofilm as compared to those treated with NP's, while the mean absorbance values reduced with increase in NP's dose (figure 7.4(down)). There was nearly 86% reduction in biofilm formation after NP's treatment. Crystal Violet dye binds to negatively charged surface molecules like polysaccharides and eDNA of extracellular matrix [482]. Since it binds cells as well as matrix components it is generally used to evaluate biofilm biomass in toto [483].

7.2.4 Scanning Electron Micrographs

Micromorphology of the biofilm was observed by SEM. The formation of exopolyssacharide (EPS) assisted bacterial surface adhesion was observed in the scanning electron micrographs (figure 7.5(a)). The biofilms were composed of aggregated rod, and extracellular matrix-like structures were visible (figure 7.5(b)). In control macrocolony was observed having a mesh-like structure (figure 7.5(c)), while most of the region in treated sample showed initial phases of biofilm formation, i.e., adherence of cells and linear chain formations (figure 7.5(d)). In control, biofilms exhibited a smooth surface, cells well embedded in the EPS matrix and proper network of channels (figure 7.5(e)) while in ZnO treated samples, biofilm exhibited rough surface, NP's were embedded along with very few cells, and empty EPS matrix was observed (figure 7.5(b, d & f)). Since the particles cause decrease in density of biofilm (which is clear from crystal violet assay) the adhered cells are prone to detach more during the sample preparation, hence empty EPS matrix are prevalent in treated sample. As reported ZnO NP's cause collapse of the bacterium by metal ions uptake into cells, intracellular depletion, and disruption of DNA replication, releasing metallic ions and ROS generation and accumulation and dissolution of NP's in the bacterial membrane [484, 485]. Similar results were observed in treated sample where rod shaped normal cells (in control) and circular shaped collapsed and deformed cells (in treated sample) were visualised (figure 7.5(f & h)). The micrographs not only concluded the concentration dependent decrease in bacterial adhesion but also showed the change in the morphology of the bacterial cells on treatment with NP's.



Figure 7.5: Scanning Electron Micrographs of biofilm: (a, c, e, g) Control; (b, d, f, h) treated with *ZnO* with concentration 0.2 mg ml-1. The arrows indicate: Red: biofilm (a) Black: adhered cells (a, b) Gold: linear chain formation, initial stage (b, d) Blue: deformed cells (h, f) Green: viable cell (g, h) Dark Red: EPS (g, h, i) White: embedded NP's (d, h)

7.3 Conclusion

In summary, we have studied the effect of Zinc oxide NP's on bacterial growth and biofilm formation. The ZnO NP's were found to have antibacterial activity and the bacterial growth was reduced in a dose dependent manner. ZnO also affected biofilm formation in *Bacillus subtilis*. The dose dependent reduction in biofilm biomass and density was observed as a result of NP's exposure. From the results it can be concluded that ZnO NP's can be exploited in prevention of biofilm formation. The exact mechanism of action of ZnO NP's in biofilm related studies is yet to be demonstrated. In the near future, ZnO NP's may play a major role in water purification membranes to reduce biofouling.

Conclusion and future aspects

8.1 Introduction

The present thesis reports the successful deposition of highly ordered ZnO and RE doped ZnO NP's into the nanotemplates on silicon substrate which could be used in optoelectronic applications. The following conclusions are made on the basis of the studies carried out:

- \sqrt{ZnO} and RE doped ZnO NP's were synthesized successfully by simple chemical routes. The incorporation of RE³⁺ ions into the ZnO host and formation of single phase spherical RE³⁺ doped ZnO NP's without any RE compound was confirmed with the help of XRD and TEM measurements.
- \checkmark The DRS results revealed that there are no drastic changes in absorption edges and the optical band gaps of the ZnO NP's prepared by methods 3.1 to 3.5, while a large blue shift was observed for the NP's synthesized by method 3.6 with an optical band gap of 3.32 eV. Method 3.6 can be used for smaller size and large band gap ZnO NP's. DRS measurements also indicates that incorporation of RE³⁺ ions induce lattice strain which causes a shift in the excitonic absorption band toward higher energy.
- $\sqrt{}$ The zinc interstitial defects were present in all of the ZnO samples prepared with different precursors and solvents where as oxygen interstitial defects were present in the ZnO NP's prepared by methods 3.1, 3.5 and 3.6 only.
- $\sqrt{}$ With increasing RE³⁺ dopant concentrations visible luminescence intensity increased up to a concentration of 1.5 wt%. Further increase in concentration of

8. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE ASPECTS

dopant, intensity decreases due to concentration quenching effect. Solid state PL, measurements clearly show characteristic intra-4f transition lines of RE^{3+} ions.

- $\sqrt{}$ The present study indicates that via defect engineering, RE-doped ZnO NP's may find avenues for potential applications in optoelectronic and multicolor emission display devices.
- \checkmark Synthesis of the SMA thin films using diblock copolymer PS-b-P4VP and additive HABA have been done using dip coating technique. It was observed that each domain is microphase separated, but they are not arranged in a regular way. This could be due to the fast evaporation of the solvent.
- \checkmark SMA thin films were exposed to the vapors of 1-4 dioxane for the ordering in the thin films (solvent annealing). 1-4 dioxane is a selective solvent, and it offers the different mobility to each copolymer PS and P4VP/HABA. It led to the ordered cylindrical domains normal to the substrate.
- \checkmark For the template formation, the additive was removed chemically. Additive HABA is soluble in ethanol while PS is non-soluble, Hence ordered porous nanotemplates were obtained just by immersing the ordered SMA thin films in ethanol.
- \checkmark Effect of molecular weight and relative volume fraction of minority block have also been studied. Increasing the molecular weight and keeping the relative volume fraction almost same, the morphology remains the same but the domain size (or pore size) and periodicity increases. And changing the relative volume fraction of P4VP/HABA from 0.3 to 0.45, the morphological transition from cylindrical domains to lamellar domains were observed.
- \checkmark Sweating in the morphology of PS-b-P4VP diblock copolymer from perpendicular oriented cylinder to parallel oriented cylinder have been observed oxygen baring nonoxygen baring solvent.
- $\sqrt{}$ Ordered ZnO and RE doped ZnO nanostructures in PS matrix were obtained when nanotemplates were imersed in aqueous solution of pre synthesized ZnO and RE doped ZnO nanostructures for 9-10 hours.
- \checkmark These ordered arrays of ZnO and RE doped ZnO could be suggested for optoelectronic applications like LED's, display devices, UV sensor etc...
- \sqrt{ZnO} NP's affected the biofilm formation in *Bacillus subtilis*. There was ~86% reduction in biofilm formation after treatment with *ZnO* NP's.

- \checkmark Change in surface morphology of the *Bacillus subtilis* cells was observed which could be due to oxidative stress induced by *ZnO* NP's.
- $\sqrt{}$ Based on these results, we can fabricate membranes with ZnO NP's and check their biofouling activity.

8.2 Future scope of the work

Based on the findings in the present work, future outlook of the work can be proposed as follows:

- $\sqrt{}$ Removal of polymer matrix from the substrate to obtain ordered nanostructures.
- \checkmark Fabrication of highly ordered other metal oxide nanostructures by ex-situ approach has been discussed here. So, the same method can be applied for other metal oxides also.
- \sqrt{ZnO} and RE doped ZnO have shown their extensive use in optoelectronics. So, the use of these ordered nanostructures can be extended to the device fabrication. Here, we are proposing the plan for the fabrication of LED device. The schematic of the device is shown in figure 8.1



Figure 8.1: Schematic for the proposed LED device.

Bibliography

- MG BUONOMENNA, W YAVE, AND G GOLEMME. Some approaches for high performance polymer based membranes for gas separation: block copolymers, carbon molecular sieves and mixed matrix membranes. RSC Advances, 2(29):10745-10773, 2012. xix, 2
- [2] YIYONG MAI AND ADI EISENBERG. Self-Assembly of Block Copolymers. 41:5969-85, 07 2012. xix, 4
- [3] PADMINI PANDEY, RAJNISH KURCHANIA, AND FOZIA Z HAQUE. Optical Studies of Europium-Doped ZnO Nanoparticles Prepared by Sol-Gel Technique. Journal of Advanced Physics, 3(2):104–110, 2014. xix, 18
- [4] A LAYEK, S BANERJEE, B MANNA, AND A CHOWDHURY. Synthesis of rare-earth doped ZnO nanorods and their defect-dopant correlated enhanced visible-orange luminescence. RSC Advances, 6(42):35892– 35900, 2016. xix, 20, 22, 72
- [5] JING-JING DONG, CHUN-YANG ZHEN, HUI-YING HAO, JIE XING, ZHEN-JUN FAN, AND ZI-LI ZHANG. Highly ordered ZnO nanostructure arrays: preparation and light-emitting diode application. Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, 53(5):055201, 2014. xx, 36, 37
- [6] O LUPAN, VV URSAKI, G CHAI, L CHOW, GA EMELCHENKO, IM TIGINYANU, AN GRUZINTSEV, AND AN RED-KIN. Selective hydrogen gas nanosensor using individual ZnO nanowire with fast response at room temperature. Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 144(1):56-66, 2010. xx, 37, 38
- [7] DANIEL BRATTON, DA YANG, JUNYAN DAI, AND CHRISTOPHER K OBER. Recent progress in high resolution lithography. Polymers for Advanced Technologies, 17(2):94–103, 2006. 1
- [8] BYRON D GATES, QIAOBING XU, MICHAEL STEWART, DECLAN RYAN, C GRANT WILLSON, AND GEORGE M WHITESIDES. New approaches to nanofabrication: molding, printing, and other techniques. Chemical reviews, 105(4):1171–1196, 2005.
- [9] TAKASHI ITO AND SHINJI OKAZAKI. Pushing the limits of lithography. Nature, 406(6799):1027–1031, 2000.
 1
- [10] IW HAMLEY. Nanotechnology with soft materials. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 42(15):1692– 1712, 2003. 1
- M REZA GHADIRI, JUAN R GRANJA, RONALD A MILLIGAN, DUNCAN E MCREE, AND NINA KHAZANOVICH.
 Self-assembling organic nanotubes based on a cyclic peptide architecture. Nature, 366(6453):324-327, 1993.
- [12] SEERAM RAMAKRISHNA, KAZUTOSHI FUJIHARA, WEE-EONG TEO, THOMAS YONG, ZUWEI MA, AND RAMAKR-ISHNA RAMASESHAN. Electrospun nanofibers: solving global issues. Materials today, 9(3):40–50, 2006.

- [13] SOOJIN PARK, JIA-YU WANG, BOKYUNG KIM, JI XU, AND THOMAS P RUSSELL. A simple route to highly oriented and ordered nanoporous block copolymer templates. Acs Nano, 2(4):766–772, 2008. 1, 35, 86
- [14] RUSSELL B THOMPSON, VALERIY V GINZBURG, MARK W MATSEN, AND ANNA C BALAZS. Predicting the mesophases of copolymer-nanoparticle composites. Science, 292(5526):2469–2472, 2001. 2
- [15] RUSSELL B THOMPSON, VALERIY V GINZBURG, MARK W MATSEN, AND ANNA C BALAZS. Block copolymerdirected assembly of nanoparticles: Forming mesoscopically ordered hybrid materials. *Macromolecules*, 35(3):1060–1071, 2002. 2
- [16] E BHOJE GOWD, BHANU NANDAN, NADJA C BIGALL, ALEXANDER EYCHMÜLLER, PETR FORMANEK, AND MAN-FRED STAMM. Hexagonally ordered arrays of metallic nanodots from thin films of functional block copolymers. Polymer, 51(12):2661–2667, 2010. 2, 33, 34, 35
- [17] WEI ZHENG AND ZHEN-GANG WANG. Morphology of ABC triblock copolymers. Macromolecules, 28(21):7215-7223, 1995. 3
- [18] EUGENE HELFAND AND ZR WASSERMAN. Block copolymer theory. 4. Narrow interphase approximation. Macromolecules, 9(6):879–888, 1976. 3
- [19] LUDWIK LEIBLER. Theory of microphase separation in block copolymers. Macromolecules, 13(6):1602– 1617, 1980. 3
- [20] MW MATSEN AND FRANK S BATES. Unifying weak-and strong-segregation block copolymer theories. Macromolecules, 29(4):1091–1098, 1996. 3, 90
- [21] FRANK S BATES AND GLENN H FREDRICKSON. Block copolymers-designer soft materials. Physics today, 2000. 4
- BIPLAB K KUILA, E BHOJE GOWD, AND MANFRED STAMM. Supramolecular assembly of poly (styrene) b-poly (4-vinylpyridine) and 1-pyrenebutyric acid in thin film and their use for nanofabrication. Macromolecules, 43(18):7713-7721, 2010. 5, 95
- [23] IGOR TOKAREV, RADIM KRENEK, YEVGEN BURKOV, DIETER SCHMEISSER, ALEXANDER SIDORENKO, SERGIY MINKO, AND MANFRED STAMM. Microphase separation in thin films of poly (styrene-block-4-vinylpyridine) copolymer- 2-(4 -hydroxybenzeneazo) benzoic acid assembly. Macromolecules, 38(2):507-516, 2005. 5
- [24] VALERIY LUCHNIKOV, ALEXEY KONDYURIN, PETR FORMANEK, HANNES LICHTE, AND MANFRED STAMM. Moiré patterns in superimposed nanoporous thin films derived from block-copolymer assemblies. Nano Letters, 7(12):3628–3632, 2007. 5, 95
- [25] KRYSTYNA ALBRECHT, AHMED MOURRAN, XIAOMIN ZHU, TOMMI MARKKULA, JUERGEN GROLL, UWE BEGINN, WIM H DE JEU, AND MARTIN MOELLER. Thin film morphologies of block copolymers complexed with wedge-shaped liquid crystalline amphiphilic molecules. *Macromolecules*, 41(5):1728–1738, 2008. 5
- [26] JOSEPH KAO, JOSEPH TINGSANCHALI, AND TING XU. Effects of interfacial interactions and film thickness on nonequilibrium hierarchical assemblies of block copolymer-based supramolecules in thin films. Macromolecules, 44(11):4392-4400, 2011. 5, 29, 85

- [27] ALEXIS LAFORGUE, C GERALDINE BAZUIN, AND ROBERT E PRUD'HOMME. A study of the supramolecular approach in controlling diblock copolymer nanopatterning and nanoporosity on surfaces. *Macromolecules*, 39(19):6473-6482, 2006. 5, 93
- [28] HAIYING HUANG, ZHIJUN HU, YONGZHONG CHEN, FAJUN ZHANG, YUMEI GONG, TIANBAI HE, AND CHI WU. Effects of casting solvents on the formation of inverted phase in block copolymer thin films. *Macro-molecules*, 37(17):6523-6530, 2004.
- [29] CHRISTOPHE SINTUREL, MARYLÈNE VAYER, MICHAEL MORRIS, AND MARC A HILLMYER. Solvent vapor annealing of block polymer thin films. *Macromolecules*, 46(14):5399–5415, 2013. 5, 26, 29
- [30] IAN P CAMPBELL, CHUNLIN HE, AND MARK P STOYKOVICH. Topologically distinct lamellar block copolymer morphologies formed by solvent and thermal annealing. ACS Macro Letters, 2(10):918–923, 2013. 5, 26
- [31] OLLI IKKALA AND GERRIT TEN BRINKE. Functional materials based on self-assembly of polymeric supramolecules. science, 295(5564):2407–2409, 2002. 6
- [32] GYU-CHUL YI, CHUNRUI WANG, AND WON IL PARK. ZnO nanorods: synthesis, characterization and applications. Semiconductor Science and Technology, 20(4):S22, 2005. 6
- [33] WASEEM RAZA, SYED MOHAMMAD FAISAL, MOHAMMAD OWAIS, D BAHNEMANN, AND M MUNEER. Facile fabrication of highly efficient modified ZnO photocatalyst with enhanced photocatalytic, antibacterial and anticancer activity. RSC Advances, 6(82):78335–78350, 2016.
- [34] YANGYANG ZHANG, MANOJ K RAM, ELIAS K STEFANAKOS, AND D YOGI GOSWAMI. Synthesis, characterization, and applications of ZnO nanowires. *Journal of Nanomaterials*, 2012:20, 2012.
- [35] JOHN RITA, SASI FLORENCE SHANMUGARAJ, AND RAJAKUMARI RAJARAM. Synthesis and characterization of nano ZnO and CdO. Journal of the Ceramic Society of Japan, 118(1377):329–332, 2010.
- [36] DAWIT GEDAMU, INGO PAULOWICZ, SÖREN KAPS, OLEG LUPAN, SEBASTIAN WILLE, GALINA HAIDARSCHIN, YOGENDRA KUMAR MISHRA, AND RAINER ADELUNG. Rapid fabrication technique for interpenetrated ZnO nanotetrapod networks for fast UV sensors. Advanced materials, 26(10):1541–1550, 2014.
- [37] O LUPAN, V POSTICA, J GROÌĹTTRUP, AK MISHRA, NH DE LEEUW, JFC CARREIRA, J RODRIGUES, N BEN SEDRINE, MR CORREIA, T MONTEIRO, ET AL. Hybridization of zinc oxide tetrapods for selective gas sensing applications. ACS applied materials & interfaces, 9(4):4084-4099, 2017. 6
- [38] JIA-XING ZHAO, XIN-HONG LU, YAN-ZHEN ZHENG, SHI-QING BI, XIA TAO, JIAN-FENG CHEN, AND WEILIE ZHOU. Eu doping for hierarchical ZnO nanocrystalline aggregates based dye-sensitized solar cell. Electrochemistry communications, 32:14–17, 2013. 6
- [39] HAYOUNG YOON, JUN HUA WU, JI HYUN MIN, JI SUNG LEE, JAE-SEON JU, AND YOUNG KEUN KIM. Magnetic and optical properties of monosized Eu-doped ZnO nanocrystals from nanoemulsion. Journal of Applied Physics, 111(7):07B523, 2012.
- [40] MOHAMMAD HUSSEIN NASEEF ASSADI, YUEBIN ZHANG, RONG-KUN ZHENG, SIMON PETER RINGER, AND SEAN LI. Structural and electronic properties of Eu-and Pd-doped ZnO. Nanoscale research letters, 6(1):357, 2011. 6, 10, 24, 41

- [41] WEI CHEN, JIN Z ZHANG, AND ALAN G JOLY. Optical properties and potential applications of doped semiconductor nanoparticles. Journal of nanoscience and nanotechnology, 4(8):919–947, 2004. 6
- [42] RUI CHENG, YANRUI CHEN, ZHIQIANG LI, XIAOHONG CHEN, PINGXIONG YANG, HONGBING ZHU, YUELONG HUANG, ZHUO SUN, AND SUMEI HUANG. Citric acid-assisted growth of lanthanide ions co-doped onedimensional upconversion microcrystals and their photovoltaic applications. Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Electronics, 25(9):4066-4073, 2014.
- [43] YANFENG MIAO, PENG WANG, HUIYUAN GUAN, AND YULONG CHEN. Synthesis and up-conversion luminescence of NaGdF4: Yb3+, Tm3+. Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Electronics, 26(8):5748–5752, 2015. 6
- [44] ATSUSHI ISHIZUMI AND YOSHIHIKO KANEMITSU. Structural and luminescence properties of Eu-doped ZnO nanorods fabricated by a microemulsion method. Applied Physics Letters, 86(25):253106, 2005. 7
- [45] ALEKSANDRAÂĂĚB. DJURIÅĄIÄĞ AND YU HANG LEUNG. Optical Properties of ZnO Nanostructures. Small, 2(8-9):944-961, 2006. 7
- [46] J.C. FAN, K.M. SREEKANTH, Z. XIE, S.L. CHANG, AND K.V. RAO. p-Type ZnO materials: Theory, growth, properties and devices. Progress in Materials Science, 58(6):874 – 985, 2013. 7
- [47] M HADIS AND Ö ÜMIT. Zinc Oxide: Fundamentals, Materials and Device Technology, 2009. 7
- [48] CHENNUPATI JAGADISH AND STEPHEN J PEARTON. Zinc oxide bulk, thin films and nanostructures: processing, properties, and applications. Elsevier, 2011. 7
- [49] K ZAKRZEWSKA. Gas sensing mechanism of TiO 2-based thin films. Vacuum, 74(2):335-338, 2004. 8
- [50] ANIL A KASHALE, KETAN P GATTU, KALYANI GHULE, VIJAY H INGOLE, SWAPNALI DHANAYAT, RAMPHAL SHARMA, JIA-YAW CHANG, AND ANIL VITHAL GHULE. Biomediated green synthesis of TiO 2 nanoparticles for lithium ion battery application. Composites Part B: Engineering, 99:297–304, 2016.
- [51] A BHARATHI, SELVARAJ MOHANA ROOPAN, AMIR KAJBAFVALA, RD PADMAJA, MS DARSANA, AND G NAND-HINI KUMARI. Catalytic activity of TiO 2 nanoparticles in the synthesis of some 2, 3-disubstituted dihydroquinazolin-4 (1H)-ones. Chinese Chemical Letters, 25(2):324–326, 2014. 8
- [52] CHUANMIN RUAN, MAGGIE PAULOSE, OOMMAN K VARGHESE, GOPAL K MOR, AND CRAIG A GRIMES. Fabrication of highly ordered TiO2 nanotube arrays using an organic electrolyte. The Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 109(33):15754–15759, 2005.
- [53] SASIPRIYA KATHIRVEL, CHAOCHIN SU, YUNG-JEN SHIAO, YA-FEN LIN, BO-REN CHEN, AND WEN-REN LI. Solvothermal synthesis of TiO 2 nanorods to enhance photovoltaic performance of dye-sensitized solar cells. Solar Energy, 132:310–320, 2016. 8
- [54] SM REDA. Synthesis of ZnO and Fe 2 O 3 nanoparticles by sol-gel method and their application in dye-sensitized solar cells. Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing, 13(5):417-425, 2010. 8
- [55] BP ZHANG, NT BINH, Y SEGAWA, K WAKATSUKI, AND N USAMI. Optical properties of ZnO rods formed by metalorganic chemical vapor deposition. *Applied Physics Letters*, 83(8):1635–1637, 2003. 8
- [56] LC NEHRU, V SWAMINATHAN, AND C SANJEEVIRAJA. Rapid synthesis of nanocrystalline ZnO by a microwave-assisted combustion method. Powder technology, 226:29–33, 2012. 8

- [57] HONGQIANG WANG, CAIHONG LI, HAIGANG ZHAO, AND JINRONG LIU. Preparation of nano-sized flower-like ZnO bunches by a direct precipitation method. Advanced Powder Technology, 24(3):599–604, 2013. 8
- [58] RAVI KANT SHARMA AND RANJANA GHOSE. Synthesis of zinc oxide nanoparticles by homogeneous precipitation method and its application in antifungal activity against Candida albicans. Ceramics International, 41(1):967–975, 2015. 8
- [59] SANG KYOO LIM, SUNG-HO HWANG, SOONHYUN KIM, AND HYUNWOONG PARK. Preparation of ZnO nanorods by microemulsion synthesis and their application as a CO gas sensor. Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 160(1):94–98, 2011. 8
- [60] T THARSIKA, ASMA HASEEB, SA AKBAR, AND M THANIHAICHELVAN. Tailoring ZnO nanostructures by spray pyrolysis and thermal annealing. *Ceramics International*, 41(3):5205–5211, 2015. 8
- [61] HSIU-FEN LIN, SHIH-CHIEH LIAO, AND SUNG-WEI HUNG. The dc thermal plasma synthesis of ZnO nanoparticles for visible-light photocatalyst. Journal of photochemistry and photobiology A: Chemistry, 174(1):82–87, 2005. 8
- [62] MV ZDUJIĆ, OB MILOŠEVIĆ, AND LJ Č KARANOVIĆ. Mechanochemical treatment of ZnO and Al 2 O 3 powders by ball milling. *Materials Letters*, 13(2):125–129, 1992. 8
- [63] MK DEBANATH AND S KARMAKAR. Study of blueshift of optical band gap in zinc oxide (ZnO) nanoparticles prepared by low-temperature wet chemical method. *Materials Letters*, 111:116–119, 2013. 8, 57, 59, 60
- [64] YAN-XIANG WANG, JIAN SUN, XUEYUN FAN, AND XI YU. A CTAB-assisted hydrothermal and solvothermal synthesis of ZnO nanopowders. Ceramics International, 37(8):3431–3436, 2011. 8
- [65] E FAZIO, AM MEZZASALMA, G MONDIO, F NERI, AND R SAIJA. ZnO nanostructures produced by laser ablation in water: Optical and structural properties. Applied Surface Science, 272:30–35, 2013. 8
- [66] JOAKIM REIMER JENSEN, TUE JOHANNESSEN, STIG WEDEL, AND HANS LIVEJERG. A study of Cu/ZnO/Al
 2 O 3 methanol catalysts prepared by flame combustion synthesis. Journal of catalysis, 218(1):67–77, 2003. 8
- [67] A SALVADOR, MC PASCUAL-MARTI, JR ADELL, A REQUENI, AND JG MARCH. Analytical methodologies for atomic spectrometric determination of metallic oxides in UV sunscreen creams. Journal of pharmaceutical and biomedical analysis, 22(2):301–306, 2000. 8
- [68] R ZALLEN AND MP MORET. The optical absorption edge of brookite TiO 2. Solid State Communications, 137(3):154–157, 2006.
- [69] L KAVAN, M GRÄTZEL, SE GILBERT, C KLEMENZ, AND HJ SCHEEL. Electrochemical and photoelectrochemical investigation of single-crystal anatase. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 118(28):6716–6723, 1996. 8
- [70] SOOJIN PARK, BOKYUNG KIM, JI XU, TOMMY HOFMANN, BENJAMIN M OCKO, AND THOMAS P RUSSELL. Lateral ordering of cylindrical microdomains under solvent vapor. *Macromolecules*, 42(4):1278–1284, 2009. 9, 28
- [71] KEVIN W GOTRIK AND CA Ross. Solvothermal annealing of block copolymer thin films. Nano letters, 13(11):5117-5122, 2013. 9, 28

- [72] WOON IK PARK, KYUNGHO KIM, HYUN-IK JANG, JAE WON JEONG, JONG MIN KIM, JAESUK CHOI, JAE HONG PARK, AND YEON SIK JUNG. Directed Self-Assembly with Sub-100 Degrees Celsius Processing Temperature, Sub-10 Nanometer Resolution, and Sub-1 Minute Assembly Time. Small, 8(24):3762–3768, 2012. 9
- [73] JONATHAN E SEPPALA, RONALD L LEWIS III, AND THOMAS H EPPS III. Spatial and orientation control of cylindrical nanostructures in ABA triblock copolymer thin films by raster solvent vapor annealing. ACS nano, 6(11):9855–9862, 2012. 9, 28
- [74] YANFA YAN AND SU-HUAI WEI. Doping asymmetry in wide-bandgap semiconductors: Origins and solutions. physica status solidi (b), 245(4):641–652, 2008. 9
- [75] STEPHEN J PEARTON, DAVID P NORTON, MATT P IVILL, ART F HEBARD, JOHN M ZAVADA, WEIMIN M CHEN, AND IRINA A BUYANOVA. ZnO doped with transition metal ions. IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 54(5):1040–1048, 2007. 9
- [76] TADATSUGU MINAMI, HIROTOSHI SATO, HIDEHITO NANTO, AND SHINZO TAKATA. Group III impurity doped zinc oxide thin films prepared by RF magnetron sputtering. Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, 24(10A):L781, 1985.
- [77] BENJAMIN D YUHAS, DAVID O ZITOUN, PETER J PAUZAUSKIE, RONGRUI HE, AND PEIDONG YANG. Transition-Metal Doped Zinc Oxide Nanowires. Angewandte Chemie, 118(3):434–437, 2006. 9
- [78] RAGHVENDRA S YADAV, AVINASH C PANDEY, AND SHARDA S SANJAY. OPTICAL PROPERTIES OF EU-ROPIUM DOPED BUNCHES OF ZnO NANOWIRES SYNTHESIZED BY CO-PRECIPITATION METHOD. Chalcogenide Letters, 6(5), 2009. 10
- [79] JIN-CHUNG SIN, SZE-MUN LAM, KEAT-TEONG LEE, AND ABDUL RAHMAN MOHAMED. Fabrication of erbiumdoped spherical-like ZnO hierarchical nanostructures with enhanced visible light-driven photocatalytic activity. Materials Letters, 91:1–4, 2013. 9, 17, 24, 41
- [80] XIAN-HUA ZHANG, JIE CHEN, YAPING WU, ZHAOXIONG XIE, JUNYONG KANG, AND LANSUN ZHENG. A simple route to fabricate high sensibility gas sensors based on erbium doped ZnO nanocrystals. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 384(1):580–584, 2011. 9, 17, 24
- [81] SB ZHANG, S-H WEI, AND ALEX ZUNGER. Microscopic origin of the phenomenological equilibrium âĂIJdoping limit ruleâĂİ in n-type III-V semiconductors. *Physical review letters*, 84(6):1232, 2000. 9
- [82] R VETTUMPERUMAL, S KALYANARAMAN, AND R THANGAVEL. Optical constants and near infrared emission of Er doped ZnO sol-gel thin films. *Journal of Luminescence*, 158:493–500, 2015. 10, 17
- [83] CHIEN-YIE TSAY AND MIN-CHI WANG. Structural and optical studies on sol-gel derived ZnO thin films by excimer laser annealing. Ceramics International, 39(1):469–474, 2013. 10, 17, 24
- [84] ZHE LIU, FABIAN KIESSLING, AND JESSICA GÄTJENS. Advanced nanomaterials in multimodal imaging: design, functionalization, and biomedical applications. *Journal of Nanomaterials*, 2010:51, 2010. 10
- [85] CATHERINE C BERRY AND ADAM SG CURTIS. Functionalisation of magnetic nanoparticles for applications in biomedicine. Journal of physics D: Applied physics, 36(13):R198, 2003. 10, 25

- [86] YOUNAN XIA, PEIDONG YANG, YUGANG SUN, YIYING WU, BRIAN MAYERS, BYRON GATES, YADONG YIN, FRANKLIN KIM, AND HAOQUAN YAN. One-dimensional nanostructures: synthesis, characterization, and applications. Advanced materials, 15(5):353–389, 2003. 10
- [87] ANDERSON JANOTTI AND CHRIS G VAN DE WALLE. Fundamentals of zinc oxide as a semiconductor. Reports on progress in physics, 72(12):126501, 2009.
- [88] MEILI WANG, CHANGGANG HUANG, ZHI HUANG, WANG GUO, JIQUAN HUANG, HONG HE, HAI WANG, YONGGE CAO, QUANLIN LIU, AND JINGKUI LIANG. Synthesis and photoluminescence of Eu-doped ZnO microrods prepared by hydrothermal method. Optical Materials, 31(10):1502–1505, 2009. 24, 41, 81
- [89] SK LATHIKA DEVI, K SUDARSANA KUMAR, AND A BALAKRISHNAN. Rapid synthesis of pure and narrowly distributed Eu doped ZnO nanoparticles by solution combustion method. *Materials Letters*, 65(1):35–37, 2011. 24
- [90] ATSUSHI ISHIZUMI, SATOSHI FUJITA, AND HISAO YANAGI. Influence of atmosphere on photoluminescence properties of Eu-doped ZnO nanocrystals. Optical Materials, 33(7):1116–1119, 2011. 17
- [91] MEHRDAD NAJAFI AND HAMID HARATIZADEH. The effect of growth conditions and morphology on photoluminescence properties of Eu-doped ZnO nanostructures. Solid State Sciences, 41:48–51, 2015. 17
- [92] DAKSH DAKSH AND YADVENDRA KUMAR AGRAWAL. Rare earth-doped zinc oxide nanostructures: a review. Reviews in Nanoscience and Nanotechnology, 5(1):1–27, 2016. 14, 24
- [93] YONGJIN LUO, KUNCAN WANG, QINGRONG QIAN, WEIWEI ZHENG, HUN XUE, BAOQUAN HUANG, LIREN XIAO, AND QINGHUA CHEN. Fabrication and photocatalytic properties of Gd-doped ZnO nanoparticleassembled nanorods. *Materials Letters*, 149:70–73, 2015.
- [94] SURENDER KUMAR AND PD SAHARE. Gd 3+ incorporated ZnO nanoparticles: a versatile material. Materials research bulletin, 51:217-223, 2014. 24
- [95] S BHUSHAN, AN PANDEY, AND BALAKRISHNA RAO KAZA. Photo-and electroluminescence of undoped and rare earth doped ZnO electroluminors. Journal of Luminescence, 20(1):29–38, 1979.
- [96] ALIREZA KHATAEE, REZA DARVISHI CHESHMEH SOLTANI, ATEFEH KARIMI, AND SANG WOO JOO. Sonocatalytic degradation of a textile dye over Gd-doped ZnO nanoparticles synthesized through sonochemical process. Ultrasonics sonochemistry, 23:219–230, 2015. 24
- [97] JH ZHENG, JL SONG, ZHEN ZHAO, QING JIANG, AND JS LIAN. Optical and magnetic properties of Nddoped ZnO nanoparticles. Crystal Research and Technology, 47(7):713-718, 2012.
- [98] O OPREA, OR VASILE, G VOICU, L CRACIUN, AND E ANDRONESCU. PHOTOLUMINESCENCE, MAGNETIC PROPERTIES AND PHOTOCATALYTIC ACTIVITY OF Gd 3+ DOPED ZnO NANOPARTICLES. Digest Journal of Nanomaterials & Biostructures (DJNB), 7(4), 2012.
- [99] M FAISAL, ADEL A ISMAIL, AHMED A IBRAHIM, HOUCINE BOUZID, AND SALEH A AL-SAYARI. Highly efficient photocatalyst based on Ce doped ZnO nanorods: Controllable synthesis and enhanced photocatalytic activity. Chemical engineering journal, 229:225–233, 2013.
- [100] CHOCKALINGAM KARUNAKARAN, PARAMASIVAN GOMATHISANKAR, AND GOVINDASAMY MANIKANDAN. Preparation and characterization of antimicrobial Ce-doped ZnO nanoparticles for photocatalytic detoxification of cyanide. Materials Chemistry and Physics, 123(2):585–594, 2010.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [101] WALEED E MAHMOUD. Synthesis and optical properties of Ce-doped ZnO hexagonal nanoplatelets. Journal of Crystal Growth, 312(21):3075–3079, 2010.
- [102] GX WAN, SY MA, XB LI, FM LI, HQ BIAN, LP ZHANG, AND WQ LI. Synthesis and acetone sensing properties of Ce-doped ZnO nanofibers. *Materials Letters*, 114:103–106, 2014.
- [103] JING-HAI YANG, GAO MING, YONG-JUN ZHANG, LI-LI YANG, JI-HUI LANG, DAN-DAN WANG, YA-XIN WANG, HUI-LIAN LIU, HOU-GANG FAN, MAO-BIN WEI, ET AL. Synthesis and optical properties of Ce-doped ZnO. Chemical Research in Chinese Universities, 24(3):266-269, 2008. 15
- [104] P ILANCHEZHIYAN, G MOHAN KUMAR, M SUBRAMANIAN, AND R JAYAVEL. Effect of Pr doping on the structural and optical properties of ZnO nanorods. Materials Science and Engineering: B, 175(3):238– 242, 2010.
- [105] MAO-HUA WANG, ZHONG-YIN ZHAO, AND TING-TING LIU. Synthesis of Pr-doped ZnO nanoparticles by sol-gel method and varistor properties study. Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 621:220-224, 2015.
- [106] AHMED ZIANI, CHRISTIAN DAVESNNE, CHRISTOPHE LABBÉ, JULIEN CARDIN, PHILIPPE MARIE, C FRILAY, S BOUDIN, AND X PORTIER. Annealing effects on the photoluminescence of terbium doped zinc oxide films. Thin Solid Films, 553:52–57, 2014.
- [107] ANITA HASTIR, NIPIN KOHLI, AND RAVI CHAND SINGH. Temperature dependent selective and sensitive terbium doped ZnO nanostructures. Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 231:110–119, 2016. 10, 18
- [108] ZHAO ZHEN, JI-LING SONG, JIA-HONG ZHENG, AND JIAN-SHE LIAN. Optical properties and photocatalytic activity of Nd-doped ZnO powders. Transactions of Nonferrous Metals Society of China, 24(5):1434–1439, 2014. 10, 24
- [109] SUNIL CHAUHAN, MANOJ KUMAR, SANDEEP CHHOKER, SC KATYAL, AND VPS AWANA. Structural, vibrational, optical and magnetic properties of sol-gel derived Nd doped ZnO nanoparticles. Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Electronics, 24(12):5102-5110, 2013. 17
- [110] B ROY, S CHAKRABARTY, O MONDAL, M PAL, AND A DUTTA. Effect of neodymium doping on structure, electrical and optical properties of nanocrystalline ZnO. Materials Characterization, 70:1–7, 2012.
- [111] SURENDER KUMAR AND PD SAHARE. Nd-doped ZnO as a multifunctional nanomaterial. Journal of rare earths, 30(8):761–768, 2012. 10
- [112] A URBIETA, R DEL CAMPO, R PÉREZ, P FERNÁNDEZ, AND J PIQUERAS. Luminescence and waveguiding behavior in Tb doped ZnO micro and nanostructures. Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 610:416-421, 2014. 10
- [113] MYUNG-SEOK SEO, INYOUNG JEONG, JOON-SUH PARK, JINWOO LEE, IL KI HAN, WAN IN LEE, HAE JUNG SON, BYEONG-HYEOK SOHN, AND MIN JAE KO. Vertically aligned nanostructured TiO 2 photoelectrodes for high efficiency perovskite solar cells via a block copolymer template approach. Nanoscale, 8(22):11472– 11479, 2016. 10
- [114] JONATHAN E ALLEN, BISWAJIT RAY, M RYYAN KHAN, KEVIN G YAGER, MUHAMMAD A ALAM, AND CHARLES T BLACK. Self-assembly of single dielectric nanoparticle layers and integration in polymer-based solar cells. Applied Physics Letters, 101(6):063105, 2012.

- [115] GUOQIANG REN, PEI-TZU WU, AND SAMSON A JENEKHE. Solar cells based on block copolymer semiconductor nanowires: effects of nanowire aspect ratio. ACS nano, 5(1):376–384, 2010. 10
- [116] WENDY VAN ZOELEN AND GERRIT TEN BRINKE. Thin films of complexed block copolymers. Soft Matter, 5(8):1568–1582, 2009. 13
- [117] VOLKER ABETZ AND PETER SIMON. Phase behaviour and morphologies of block copolymers. Block copolymers I, pages 125–212, 2005. 13
- [118] P MANSKY, P HAIKIN, AND EL THOMAS. Monolayer films of diblock copolymer microdomains for nanolithographic applications. Journal of Materials Science, 30(8):1987–1992, 1995. 13
- [119] P MANSKY, CK HARRISON, PM CHAIKIN, RA REGISTER, AND N YAO. Nanolithographic templates from diblock copolymer thin films. Applied physics letters, 68(18):2586-2588, 1996. 13
- [120] RUPESH S DEVAN, RANJIT A PATIL, JIN-HAN LIN, AND YUAN-RON MA. One-Dimensional Metal-Oxide Nanostructures: Recent Developments in Synthesis, Characterization, and Applications. Advanced Functional Materials, 22(16):3326–3370, 2012. 14
- [121] JINPING LIU, XINTANG HUANG, YUANYUAN LI, KM SULIEMAN, FENGLOU SUN, AND XIANG HE. Selective growth and properties of zinc oxide nanostructures. Scripta materialia, 55(9):795–798, 2006. 15, 16
- [122] AGNIESZKA KOŁODZIEJCZAK-RADZIMSKA AND TEOFIL JESIONOWSKI. Zinc oxideâĂŤfrom synthesis to application: a review. Materials, 7(4):2833–2881, 2014. 16, 24, 55, 101
- [123] WEI JIA, SUIHU DANG, HAIRUI LIU, ZHUXIA ZHANG, CHUNYAN YU, XUGUANG LIU, AND BINGSHE XU. Evidence of the formation mechanism of ZnO in aqueous solution. *Materials Letters*, 82:99–101, 2012. 16
- [124] RUOYU HONG, TINGTING PAN, JIANZHONG QIAN, AND HONGZHONG LI. Synthesis and surface modification of ZnO nanoparticles. Chemical Engineering Journal, 119(2):71–81, 2006. 15
- [125] A MOBALLEGH, HR SHAHVERDI, R AGHABABAZADEH, AND AR MIRHABIBI. ZnO nanoparticles obtained by mechanochemical technique and the optical properties. Surface Science, 601(13):2850–2854, 2007. 15
- [126] A STANKOVIĆ, LJ VESELINOVIĆ, SD ŠKAPIN, S MARKOVIĆ, AND D USKOKOVIĆ. Controlled mechanochemically assisted synthesis of ZnO nanopowders in the presence of oxalic acid. Journal of materials science, 46(11):3716–3724, 2011. 15
- [127] AMRUT S LANJE, SATISH J SHARMA, RAGHUMANI S NINGTHOUJAM, J-S AHN, AND RAMCHANDRA B PODE. Low temperature dielectric studies of zinc oxide (ZnO) nanoparticles prepared by precipitation method. Advanced Powder Technology, 24(1):331–335, 2013. 15
- [128] JIAQIANG XU, QINGYI PAN, ZHIZHUANG TIAN, ET AL. Grain size control and gas sensing properties of ZnO gas sensor. Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 66(1):277-279, 2000. 15
- [129] XINYU ZHAO, BAICUN ZHENG, CHUNZHONG LI, AND HONGCHEN GU. Acetate-derived ZnO ultrafine particles synthesized by spray pyrolysis. Powder Technology, 100(1):20–23, 1998. 16
- [130] GUVENC AKGUL, FUNDA AKSOY AKGUL, KLAUS ATTENKOFER, AND MARKUS WINTERER. Structural properties of zinc oxide and titanium dioxide nanoparticles prepared by chemical vapor synthesis. Journal of Alloys and compounds, 554:177-181, 2013. 16

- [131] LN DEM'YANETS, LE LI, AND TG UVAROVA. Zinc oxide: hydrothermal growth of nano-and bulk crystals and their luminescent properties. Journal of materials science, 41(5):1439–1444, 2006. 16
- [132] MIRA RISTIĆ, SVETOZAR MUSIĆ, MILE IVANDA, AND STANKO POPOVIĆ. Sol-gel synthesis and characterization of nanocrystalline ZnO powders. Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 397(1):L1-L4, 2005. 16
- [133] SVETOZAR MUSIĆ, ĐURĐICA DRAGČEVIĆ, STANKO POPOVIĆ, AND MILE IVANDA. Precipitation of ZnO particles and their properties. *Materials letters*, 59(19):2388–2393, 2005. 16
- [134] JIANDA ZHANG, JIANXIN WANG, SHAOBING ZHOU, KE DUAN, BO FENG, JIE WENG, HONGMEI TANG, AND PEIZUO WU. Ionic liquid-controlled synthesis of ZnO microspheres. Journal of Materials Chemistry, 20(43):9798–9804, 2010. 16
- [135] ZESHAN HU, GERKO OSKAM, AND PETER C SEARSON. Influence of solvent on the growth of ZnO nanoparticles. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 263(2):454–460, 2003. 16, 24
- [136] ANA STANKOVIĆ, S DIMITRIJEVIĆ, AND DRAGAN USKOKOVIĆ. Influence of size scale and morphology on antibacterial properties of ZnO powders hydrothemally synthesized using different surface stabilizing agents. Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 102:21–28, 2013. 16, 17
- [137] FRANZ G PETZOLD, JACEK JASINSKI, EZRA L CLARK, JEONG H KIM, JASON ABSHER, HELGE TOUFAR, AND MAHENDRA K SUNKARA. Nickel supported on zinc oxide nanowires as advanced hydrodesulfurization catalysts. Catalysis today, 198(1):219–227, 2012. 16
- [138] CHUNG-HSIN LU AND CHI-HSIEN YEH. Emulsion precipitation of submicron zinc oxide powder. Materials Letters, 33(3-4):129–132, 1997. 16
- [139] AGNIESZKA KOŁODZIEJCZAK-RADZIMSKA, EWA MARKIEWICZ, AND TEOFIL JESIONOWSKI. Structural characterisation of ZnO particles obtained by the emulsion precipitation method. Journal of Nanomaterials, 2012:15, 2012. 16
- [140] MEGHANA RAMANI, S PONNUSAMY, AND C MUTHAMIZHCHELVAN. From zinc oxide nanoparticles to microflowers: a study of growth kinetics and biocidal activity. Materials Science and Engineering: C, 32(8):2381–2389, 2012. 16
- [141] XIANGCUN LI, GAOHONG HE, GONGKUI XIAO, HONGJING LIU, AND MEI WANG. Synthesis and morphology control of ZnO nanostructures in microemulsions. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 333(2):465–473, 2009. 16
- [142] ZHI CAO, ZHIJUN ZHANG, FENXIA WANG, AND GUANGZHONG WANG. Synthesis and UV shielding properties of zinc oxide ultrafine particles modified with silica and trimethyl siloxane. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 340(1):161–167, 2009. 16
- [143] HUIHU WANG AND CHANGSHENG XIE. Effect of annealing temperature on the microstructures and photocatalytic property of colloidal ZnO nanoparticles. Journal of Physics and Chemistry of Solids, 69(10):2440-2444, 2008. 16
- [144] MARKO BITENC AND ZORICA CRNJAK OREL. Synthesis and characterization of crystalline hexagonal bipods of zinc oxide. Materials Research Bulletin, 44(2):381–387, 2009. 16
- [145] RAZIEH JALAL, ELAHEH K GOHARSHADI, MARYAM ABARESHI, MAJID MOOSAVI, ABBAS YOUSEFI, AND PAUL NANCARROW. ZnO nanofluids: green synthesis, characterization, and antibacterial activity. Materials Chemistry and Physics, 121(1):198–201, 2010. 16
- [146] TENGFEI XU, PENGFEI JI, MENG HE, AND JIANYE LI. Growth and structure of pure ZnO micro/nanocombs. Journal of Nanomaterials, 2012:12, 2012. 16
- [147] LAMIA ZNAIDI. Sol-gel-deposited ZnO thin films: A review. Materials Science and Engineering: B, 174(1):18-30, 2010. 16, 24
- [148] QIN XIE, ZHOU DAI, JIANBO LIANG, LIQIANG XU, WEICHAO YU, AND YITAI QIAN. Synthesis of ZnO threedimensional architectures and their optical properties. Solid state communications, 136(5):304–307, 2005. 16
- [149] JT CHEN, JUN WANG, RF ZHUO, D YAN, JJ FENG, F ZHANG, AND PX YAN. The effect of Al doping on the morphology and optical property of ZnO nanostructures prepared by hydrothermal process. *Applied Surface Science*, 255(7):3959–3964, 2009. 15
- [150] SEU YI LI, PANG LIN, CHIA YING LEE, TSEUNG YUEN TSENG, AND CHORNG JYE HUANG. Effect of Sn dopant on the properties of ZnO nanowires. *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics*, 37(16):2274, 2004.
- [151] EDIT PÁL, VIKTÓRIA HORNOK, ALBERT OSZKÓ, AND IMRE DÉKÁNY. Hydrothermal synthesis of prism-like and flower-like ZnO and indium-doped ZnO structures. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 340(1):1–9, 2009.
- [152] CHAO LIU, HAIPING HE, LUWEI SUN, QIAN YANG, ZHIZHEN YE, AND LANLAN CHEN. Acceptor-related emissions in indium-doped ZnO nanorods. Journal of Applied Physics, 109(5):053507, 2011.
- [153] SEONGHOON BAEK, JAEJIN SONG, AND SANGWOO LIM. Improvement of the optical properties of ZnO nanorods by Fe doping. *Physica B: Condensed Matter*, 399(2):101–104, 2007.
- [154] AKIKO KOBAYASHI, OTTO F SANKEY, AND JOHN D DOW. Deep energy levels of defects in the wurtzite semiconductors AIN, CdS, CdSe, ZnS, and ZnO. Physical Review B, 28(2):946, 1983.
- [155] GD YUAN, WJ ZHANG, JS JIE, XIA FAN, JUAN ANTONIO ZAPIEN, YU HANG LEUNG, LB LUO, PF WANG, CHUN SING LEE, AND SHUIT TONG LEE. p-type ZnO nanowire arrays. Nano letters, 8(8):2591–2597, 2008.
- [156] MINGYA ZHONG, GUIYE SHAN, YAJUN LI, GUORUI WANG, AND YICHUN LIU. Synthesis and luminescence properties of Eu 3+-doped ZnO nanocrystals by a hydrothermal process. Materials Chemistry and Physics, 106(2):305-309, 2007.
- [157] NATALIE OV PLANK, HENRY J SNAITH, CATERINA DUCATI, JAMES S BENDALL, LUKAS SCHMIDT-MENDE, AND MARK E WELLAND. A simple low temperature synthesis route for ZnO-MgO core-shell nanowires. Nanotechnology, 19(46):465603, 2008.
- [158] GUOZHEN SHEN, JUNG HEE CHO, JIN KYOUNG YOO, GYU-CHUL YI, AND CHEOL JIN LEE. Synthesis and optical properties of S-doped ZnO nanostructures: nanonails and nanowires. The Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 109(12):5491–5496, 2005.
- [159] S ANANDAN, S MUTHUKUMARAN, AND M ASHOKKUMAR. Structural and optical properties of Y, Cu codoped ZnO nanoparticles by sol-gel method. Superlattices and Microstructures, 74:247-260, 2014.

- [160] RUEY-CHI WANG AND HSIN-YING LIN. ZnO-CuO core-shell nanorods and CuO-nanoparticle-ZnOnanorod integrated structures. Applied Physics A, 95(3):813-818, 2009.
- [161] SHULIN JI, LIANGLIANG YIN, GUODONG LIU, LIDE ZHANG, AND CHANGHUI YE. A facile method for effective doping of Tb 3+ into ZnO nanocrystals. *Chemical Communications*, (17):2344–2346, 2009.
- [162] GUY L KABONGO, GUGU H MHLONGO, THOMAS MALWELA, BAKANG M MOTHUDI, KENNETH T HILLIE, AND MOKHOTJWA S DHLAMINI. Microstructural and photoluminescence properties of sol-gel derived Tb 3+ doped ZnO nanocrystals. Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 591:156–163, 2014.
- [163] DEBASIS BERA, LEI QIAN, AND PAUL H HOLLOWAY. Time-evolution of photoluminescence properties of ZnO/MgO core/shell quantum dots. Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics, 41(18):182002, 2008.
- [164] BY GENG, GZ WANG, Z JIANG, T XIE, SH SUN, GW MENG, AND LD ZHANG. Synthesis and optical properties of S-doped ZnO nanowires. Applied Physics Letters, 82(26):4791–4793, 2003.
- [165] S MRIDHA AND D BASAK. The fabrication of a ZnO nanowire/La0. 65Sr0. 35MnO3 heterojunction and characterization of its rectifying behavior. Nanotechnology, 20(7):075203, 2009.
- [166] JEN-HAU CHENG. Atomic Layer Deposition Enabled Interconnect and Packaging Technologies for As-Grown Nanowire Devices. 2010.
- [167] MARIANO A ZIMMLER, DANIEL STICHTENOTH, CARSTEN RONNING, WEI YI, VENKATESH NARAYANAMURTI, TO-BIAS VOSS, AND FEDERICO CAPASSO. Scalable fabrication of nanowire photonic and electronic circuits using spin-on glass. Nano letters, 8(6):1695–1699, 2008.
- [168] HK LIANG, SF YU, AND HY YANG. Edge-emitting ultraviolet n-ZnO: Al/i-ZnO/p-GaN heterojunction light-emitting diode with a rib waveguide. Optics express, 18(4):3687–3692, 2010.
- [169] SOUMEN DHARA AND PK GIRI. Stable p-type conductivity and enhanced photoconductivity from nitrogen-doped annealed ZnO thin film. Thin Solid Films, 520(15):5000-5006, 2012. 15
- [170] PP MURMU, J KENNEDY, BJ RUCK, A MARKWITZ, GVM WILLIAMS, AND S RUBANOV. Structural and magnetic properties of low-energy Gd implanted ZnO single crystals. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section B: Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms, 272:100–103, 2012. 17
- [171] A DOUAYAR, P PRIETO, G SCHMERBER, K NOUNEH, R DIAZ, I CHAKI, S COLIS, A EL FAKIR, N HASSANAIN, A BELAYACHI, ET AL. Investigation of the structural, optical and electrical properties of Nd-doped ZnO thin films deposited by spray pyrolysis. The European Physical Journal-Applied Physics, 61(1), 2013. 17, 24
- [172] HASHEM SHAHROOSVAND AND MAHSA GHORBANI-ASL. Solution-based synthetic strategies for Eu doped ZnO nanoparticle with enhanced red photoluminescence. Journal of Luminescence, 144:223–229, 2013.
 17, 24
- [173] A JAGANNATHA REDDY, MK KOKILA, H NAGABHUSHANA, C SHIVAKUMARA, RPS CHAKRADHAR, BM NAGAB-HUSHANA, AND R HARI KRISHNA. Luminescence studies and EPR investigation of solution combustion derived Eu doped ZnO. Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy, 132:305–312, 2014. 17, 24
- [174] PV KORAKE, AN KADAM, AND KM GARADKAR. Photocatalytic activity of Eu 3+-doped ZnO nanorods synthesized via microwave assisted technique. Journal of Rare Earths, 32(4):306–313, 2014. 17

- [175] CJ PAN, CW CHEN, JY CHEN, PJ HUANG, GC CHI, CY CHANG, F REN, AND SJ PEARTON. Optical and structural properties of Eu-diffused and doped ZnO nanowires. Applied Surface Science, 256(1):187–190, 2009. 17
- [176] YANLAN LIU, KELONG AI, QINGHAI YUAN, AND LEHUI LU. Fluorescence-enhanced gadolinium-doped zinc oxide quantum dots for magnetic resonance and fluorescence imaging. *Biomaterials*, 32(4):1185–1192, 2011. 17
- [177] MI GOURI, E AHMED, NR KHALID, M AHMAD, M RAMZAN, A SHAKOOR, AND NA NIAZ. Gadolinium doped zno nanocrystalline powders and its photocatalytic performance for degradation of methyl blue under sunlight. Journal of Ovonic Research, 10:89–100, 2014. 17
- [178] PM ANEESH AND MK JAYARAJ. Red luminescence from hydrothermally synthesized Eu-doped ZnO nanoparticles under visible excitation. Bulletin of Materials Science, 33(3):227-231, 2010. 17, 22
- [179] HVS PESSONI, LJQ MAIA, AND A FRANCO. Eu-doped ZnO nanoparticles prepared by the combustion reaction method: Structural, photoluminescence and dielectric characterization. Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing, 30:135-141, 2015. 17, 80
- [180] XIYING MA AND ZUI WANG. The optical properties of rare earth Gd doped ZnO nanocrystals. Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing, 15(3):227–231, 2012. 17, 24
- [181] HAQ NAWAZ SHEIKH, HEENA KHAJURIA, JIGMET LADOL, RAJINDER SINGH, ET AL. Surfactant assisted sonochemical synthesis and characterization of gadolinium doped zinc oxide nanoparticles. Acta Chimica Slovenica, 62(4):849–858, 2015. 17
- [182] LOKESH KUMAR JANGIR, YOGITA KUMARI, ANIL KUMAR, MANOJ KUMAR, AND KAMLENDRA AWASTHI. Investigation of luminescence and structural properties of ZnO nanoparticles, synthesized with different precursors. *Materials Chemistry Frontiers*, 1:1413–1421, 2017. 15, 75, 80, 101
- [183] AK SINGH, V VISWANATH, AND VC JANU. Synthesis, effect of capping agents, structural, optical and photoluminescence properties of ZnO nanoparticles. Journal of Luminescence, 129(8):874–878, 2009. 15, 64
- [184] JIN-CHUNG SIN, SZE-MUN LAM, KEAT-TEONG LEE, AND ABDUL RAHMAN MOHAMED. Preparation of rare earth-doped ZnO hierarchical micro/nanospheres and their enhanced photocatalytic activity under visible light irradiation. Ceramics International, 40(4):5431–5440, 2014. 18, 72, 75
- [185] KEIGO SUZUKI, KOJI MURAYAMA, AND NOBUHIKO TANAKA. Enhanced luminescence in Eu-doped ZnO nanocrystalline films. Applied Physics Letters, 107(3):031902, 2015. 18
- [186] C JAYACHANDRAIAH AND G KRISHNAIAH. Erbium induced raman studies and dielectric properties of Er-doped ZnO nanoparticles. Adv. Mater. Lett. Adv. Mater. Lett, 6:743-748, 2015. 18
- [187] KAI-SHENG YU, JIAN-YING SHI, ZAI-LI ZHANG, YONG-MEI LIANG, AND WEI LIU. Synthesis, characterization, and photocatalysis of ZnO and Er-Doped ZnO. Journal of Nanomaterials, 2013:75, 2013. 18, 81
- [188] D SRIDEVI AND KV RAJENDRAN. Enhanced optical properties La doped ZnO nanoparticles. Optoelectron. Adv. Mater. Rapid Commun, 4:1591–1593, 2010. 18
- [189] Z PAN, SH MORGAN, A UEDA, R AGA JR, A STEIGERWALD, AB HMELO, AND R MU. Er-doped ZnO films grown by pulsed e-beam deposition. Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter, 19(26):266216, 2007. 18

- [190] KH TAM, CK CHEUNG, YH LEUNG, AB DJURIŠIĆ, CC LING, CD BELING, S FUNG, WM KWOK, WK CHAN, DL PHILLIPS, ET AL. Defects in ZnO nanorods prepared by a hydrothermal method. The Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 110(42):20865–20871, 2006. 18, 20, 21
- [191] WI PARK, YH JUN, SW JUNG, AND GYU-CHUL YI. Excitonic emissions observed in ZnO single crystal nanorods. Applied Physics Letters, 82(6):964–966, 2003. 19
- [192] C BEKENY, T VOSS, B HILKER, J GUTOWSKI, R HAUSCHILD, H KALT, B POSTELS, A BAKIN, AND A WAAG. Influence of ZnO seed crystals and annealing on the optical quality of low-temperature grown ZnO nanorods. Journal of Applied Physics, 102(4):044908, 2007. 19
- [193] JOHANNES FALLERT, ROBERT HAUSCHILD, FELIX STELZL, ALEX URBAN, MARKUS WISSINGER, HUIJUAN ZHOU, CLAUS KLINGSHIRN, AND HEINZ KALT. Surface-state related luminescence in ZnO nanocrystals. Journal of Applied Physics, 101(7):073506, 2007. 19
- [194] DAVID C LOOK, CEVDET COŞKUN, BRUCE CLAFLIN, AND GARY C FARLOW. Electrical and optical properties of defects and impurities in ZnO. Physica B: Condensed Matter, 340:32–38, 2003. 19
- [195] BK MEYER, H ALVES, DM HOFMANN, W KRIEGSEIS, D FORSTER, F BERTRAM, J CHRISTEN, A HOFFMANN, M STRASSBURG, M DWORZAK, ET AL. Bound exciton and donor-acceptor pair recombinations in ZnO. physica status solidi (b), 241(2):231-260, 2004. 19
- [196] E TOMZIG AND R HELBIG. Band-edge emission in ZnO. Journal of Luminescence, 14(3):403-415, 1976. 19
- [197] U OZGUR, YA I ALIVOV, C LIU, AND A TEKE. M. a. Reshchikov, S. DogÌĘan, V. Avrutin, S. JJ Cho, H. MorkocÌğ, Ü. OÌĹzguÌĹr, YI Alivov, C. Liu, A. Teke, M. a. Reshchikov, S. DoÇğan, V. Avrutin, S.-JJ Cho, and H. MorkoÌğ, J. Appl. Phys, 98:041301, 2005. 19
- [198] A TEKE, Ü ÖZGÜR, S DOĞAN, X GU, HADIS MORKOÇ, B NEMETH, J NAUSE, AND HO EVERITT. Excitonic fine structure and recombination dynamics in single-crystalline ZnO. Physical Review B, 70(19):195207, 2004. 19
- [199] J GUTOWSKI, N PRESSER, AND I BROSER. Acceptor-exciton complexes in ZnO: A comprehensive analysis of their electronic states by high-resolution magnetooptics and excitation spectroscopy. *Physical Review B*, 38(14):9746, 1988. 19
- [200] DC REYNOLDS, DAVID C LOOK, B JOGAI, CW LITTON, TC COLLINS, W HARSCH, AND G CANTWELL. Neutraldonor-bound-exciton complexes in ZnO crystals. *Physical Review B*, 57(19):12151, 1998. 19
- [201] K THONKE, TH GRUBER, N TEOFILOV, R SCHÖNFELDER, A WAAG, AND R SAUER. Donor-acceptor pair transitions in ZnO substrate material. *Physica B: Condensed Matter*, 308:945–948, 2001. 19
- [202] T MONTEIRO, C BOEMARE, MJ SOARES, E RITA, AND E ALVES. Photoluminescence and damage recovery studies in Fe-implanted ZnO single crystals. Journal of Applied Physics, 93(11):8995–9000, 2003. 19
- [203] BP ZHANG, NT BINH, Y SEGAWA, Y KASHIWABA, AND K HAGA. Photoluminescence study of ZnO nanorods epitaxially grown on sapphire (1120) substrates. Applied physics letters, 84(4):586–588, 2004. 19
- [204] S OZAKI, T TSUCHIYA, Y INOKUCHI, AND S ADACHI. Photoluminescence and photomodulated transmittance spectroscopy of ZnO nanowires. *physica status solidi* (a), 202(7):1325–1335, 2005. 19

- [205] M STRASSBURG, A RODINA, M DWORZAK, U HABOECK, IL KRESTNIKOV, A HOFFMANN, O GELHAUSEN, MR PHILLIPS, HR ALVES, A ZEUNER, ET AL. Identification of bound exciton complexes in ZnO. physica status solidi (b), 241(3):607–611, 2004. 19
- [206] CHENG-YING CHEN, MING-WEI CHEN, JIAN KE JR, CHIN-AN LIN, JOSÉ RD RETAMAL, AND HAU HE JR. Surface effects on optical and electrical properties of ZnO nanostructures. Pure and Applied Chemistry, 82(11):2055-2073, 2010. 20
- [207] DAVOOD RAOUFI. Synthesis and microstructural properties of ZnO nanoparticles prepared by precipitation method. *Renewable Energy*, 50:932–937, 2013. 20
- [208] LIN GUO, YUN LIANG JI, HUIBIN XU, PAUL SIMON, AND ZIYU WU. Regularly shaped, single-crystalline ZnO nanorods with wurtzite structure. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 124(50):14864–14865, 2002.
- [209] ARUNASISH LAYEK, SUMAN DE, RUHI THORAT, AND ARINDAM CHOWDHURY. Spectrally resolved photoluminescence imaging of ZnO nanocrystals at single-particle levels. The journal of physical chemistry letters, 2(11):1241–1247, 2011. 20
- [210] S VENKATAPRASAD BHAT, SRC VIVEKCHAND, A GOVINDARAJ, AND CNR RAO. Photoluminescence and photoconducting properties of ZnO nanoparticles. Solid State Communications, 149(13):510–514, 2009. 20, 21
- [211] AB DJURIŠIĆ, WALLACE CH CHOY, VELLAISAMY ARUL LENUS ROY, YU HANG LEUNG, CHUNG YIN KWONG, KOK WAI CHEAH, TK GUNDU RAO, WAI KIN CHAN, H FEI LUI, AND CHARLES SURYA. Photoluminescence and electron paramagnetic resonance of ZnO tetrapod structures. Advanced Functional Materials, 14(9):856–864, 2004. 20, 21
- [212] NY GARCES, L WANG, L BAI, NC GILES, LE HALLIBURTON, AND G CANTWELL. Role of copper in the green luminescence from ZnO crystals. Applied Physics Letters, 81(4):622–624, 2002. 21
- [213] PETER KLASON, THOMAS MOE BØRSETH, QING X ZHAO, BENGT G SVENSSON, ANDREJ YU KUZNETSOV, PEDER J BERGMAN, AND MAGNUS WILLANDER. Temperature dependence and decay times of zinc and oxygen vacancy related photoluminescence bands in zinc oxide. Solid State Communications, 145(5):321– 326, 2008. 21
- [214] BIXIA LIN, ZHUXI FU, AND YUNBO JIA. Green luminescent center in undoped zinc oxide films deposited on silicon substrates. Applied Physics Letters, 79(7):943–945, 2001. 21
- [215] K VANHEUSDEN, WL WARREN, CH SEAGER, DR TALLANT, JA VOIGT, AND BE GNADE. Mechanisms behind green photoluminescence in ZnO phosphor powders. Journal of Applied Physics, 79(10):7983–7990, 1996.
 21
- [216] ALEKSANDRA B DJURIŠIĆ AND YU HANG LEUNG. Optical properties of ZnO nanostructures. small, 2(8-9):944-961, 2006. 21
- [217] DH ZHANG, ZY XUE, AND QP WANG. The mechanisms of blue emission from ZnO films deposited on glass substrate by rf magnetron sputtering. Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics, 35(21):2837, 2002. 21
- [218] MK PATRA, K MANZOOR, M MANOTH, SR VADERA, AND N KUMAR. Studies of luminescence properties of ZnO and ZnO: Zn nanorods prepared by solution growth technique. Journal of Luminescence, 128(2):267-272, 2008. 21

- [219] XIANG LIU, XIAOHUA WU, HUI CAO, AND RPH CHANG. Growth mechanism and properties of ZnO nanorods synthesized by plasma-enhanced chemical vapor deposition. Journal of Applied Physics, 95(6):3141-3147, 2004. 21
- [220] ADDY VAN DIJKEN, ERIC A MEULENKAMP, DANIËL VANMAEKELBERGH, AND ANDRIES MEIJERINK. The kinetics of the radiative and nonradiative processes in nanocrystalline ZnO particles upon photoexcitation. The Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 104(8):1715–1723, 2000. 21
- [221] WEN-FENG HSIEH, HSU-CHENG HSU, WAN-JIUN LIAO, HSIN-MING CHENG, KUO-FENG LIN, WEITZE HSU, AND CHIN-JIU PAN. Optical Properties of Zinc Oxide Quantum Dots. In Optical Processes in Microparticles and Nanostructures: A Festschrift Dedicated to Richard Kounai Chang on his Retirement from Yale University. Edited by SERPENGUZEL ALI ET AL. Published by World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd., 2011. ISBN# 9789814295789, pp. 253-267, pages 253-267, 2011. 21
- [222] NR PANDA, BS ACHARYA, AND P NAYAK. Growth and enhanced optical properties of ZnO: S nanorods and multipodes. *Materials Letters*, 100:257–260, 2013. 21
- [223] D LI, YH LEUNG, AB DJURIŠIĆ, ZT LIU, MH XIE, SL SHI, SJ XU, AND WK CHAN. Different origins of visible luminescence in ZnO nanostructures fabricated by the chemical and evaporation methods. Applied Physics Letters, 85(9):1601–1603, 2004. 21
- [224] JIJUN QIU, XIAOMIN LI, WEIZHEN HE, SE-JEONG PARK, HYUNG-KOOK KIM, YOON-HWAE HWANG, JAE-HO LEE, AND YANG-DO KIM. The growth mechanism and optical properties of ultralong ZnO nanorod arrays with a high aspect ratio by a preheating hydrothermal method. Nanotechnology, 20(15):155603, 2009. 21
- [225] RBM CROSS, MM DE SOUZA, AND EM SANKARA NARAYANAN. A low temperature combination method for the production of ZnO nanowires. Nanotechnology, 16(10):2188, 2005. 21, 64
- [226] JP KAR, MH HAM, SW LEE, AND JM MYOUNG. Fabrication of ZnO nanostructures of various dimensions using patterned substrates. Applied Surface Science, 255(7):4087–4092, 2009. 21
- [227] LORI E GREENE, MATT LAW, JOSHUA GOLDBERGER, FRANKLIN KIM, JUSTIN C JOHNSON, YANFENG ZHANG, RICHARD J SAYKALLY, AND PEIDONG YANG. Low-temperature wafer-scale production of ZnO nanowire arrays. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 42(26):3031–3034, 2003. 21
- [228] GANG XIONG, U PAL, JG SERRANO, KB UCER, AND RT WILLIAMS. Photoluminesence and FTIR study of ZnO nanoparticles: the impurity and defect perspective. physica status solidi (c), 3(10):3577–3581, 2006.
 21
- [229] PARTHA P PAL AND J MANAM. Structural and photoluminescence studies of Eu3+ doped zinc oxide nanorods prepared by precipitation method. Journal of Rare Earths, 31(1):37–43, 2013. 21
- [230] G KRISHNA REDDY, A JAGANNATHA REDDY, R HARI KRISHNA, BM NAGABHUSHANA, AND G RAM GOPAL. Luminescence and spectroscopic investigations on Gd³⁺ doped ZnO nanophosphor. Journal of Asian Ceramic Societies, 2017. 22
- [231] SHULIN JI, LIANGLIANG YIN, GUODONG LIU, LIDE ZHANG, AND CHANGHUI YE. Synthesis of Rare Earth Ions-Doped ZnO Nanostructures with Efficient Host- Guest Energy Transfer. The Journal of Physical Chemistry C, 113(37):16439–16444, 2009. 22

- [232] AMNA SIRELKHATIM, SHAHROM MAHMUD, AZMAN SEENI, NOOR HAIDA MOHAMAD KAUS, LING CHUO ANN, SITI KHADIJAH MOHD BAKHORI, HABSAH HASAN, AND DASMAWATI MOHAMAD. Review on zinc oxide nanoparticles: antibacterial activity and toxicity mechanism. Nano-Micro Letters, 7(3):219–242, 2015. 23, 85, 101
- [233] JIN-HYUNG LEE, YONG-GUY KIM, MOO HWAN CHO, AND JINTAE LEE. ZnO nanoparticles inhibit Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilm formation and virulence factor production. *Microbiological research*, 169(12):888–896, 2014. 23
- [234] P GOPINATH, SONIT KUMAR GOGOI, PALLAB SANPUI, ANUMITA PAUL, ARUN CHATTOPADHYAY, AND SID-DHARTHA SANKAR GHOSH. Signaling gene cascade in silver nanoparticle induced apoptosis. Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 77(2):240–245, 2010. 23
- [235] ROB J VANDEBRIEL AND WIM H DE JONG. A review of mammalian toxicity of ZnO nanoparticles. Nanotechnology, science and applications, 5:61, 2012. 23
- [236] RIZWAN WAHAB, MAQSOOD A SIDDIQUI, QUAISER SAQUIB, SOURABH DWIVEDI, JAVED AHMAD, JAVED MUSAR-RAT, ABDULAZIZ A AL-KHEDHAIRY, AND HYUNG-SHIK SHIN. ZnO nanoparticles induced oxidative stress and apoptosis in HepG2 and MCF-7 cancer cells and their antibacterial activity. Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 117:267–276, 2014. 23
- [237] KUMUD KANT AWASTHI, ANJALI AWASTHI, RAJBALA VERMA, NARENDER KUMAR, PARTHA ROY, KAMLENDRA AWASTHI, AND PJ JOHN. Cytotoxicity, genotoxicity and alteration of cellular antioxidant enzymes in silver nanoparticles exposed CHO cells. RSC Advances, 5(44):34927–34935, 2015. 23
- [238] NAGAPRASAD PUVVADA, SHASHI RAJPUT, BN PRASHANTH KUMAR, SIDDIK SARKAR, SURAJ KONAR, KEITH R BRUNT, RAJ R RAO, ABHIJIT MAZUMDAR, SWADESH K DAS, RANADHIR BASU, ET AL. Novel ZnO hollownanocarriers containing paclitaxel targeting folate-receptors in a malignant pH-microenvironment for effective monitoring and promoting breast tumor regression. Scientific reports, 5:11760, 2015. 23
- [239] MOHD JAVED AKHTAR, HISHAM A ALHADLAQ, AWS ALSHAMSAN, MA MAJEED KHAN, AND MAQUSOOD AHAMED. Aluminum doping tunes band gap energy level as well as oxidative stress-mediated cytotoxicity of ZnO nanoparticles in MCF-7 cells. Scientific reports, 5:13876, 2015. 24
- [240] KARUPPAIYA VIMALA, SHENBAGAMOORTHY SUNDARRAJ, MANICKAM PAULPANDI, SRINIVASAN VENGATESAN, AND SOUNDARAPANDIAN KANNAN. Green synthesized doxorubicin loaded zinc oxide nanoparticles regulates the Bax and Bcl-2 expression in breast and colon carcinoma. Process Biochemistry, 49(1):160–172, 2014. 24
- [241] VP MAKHNIY AND VV MELNIK. Surface barrier diode based on zinc selenide with a passivating zinc oxide film. Technical Physics Letters, 29(9):712–713, 2003. 24
- [242] RAJEEV JAIN, ANKITA SINHA, ET AL. Graphene-zinc oxide nanorods nanocomposite based sensor for voltammetric quantification of tizanidine in solubilized system. Applied Surface Science, 369:151–158, 2016.
- [243] JAMAL AL-SABAHI, TANUJJAL BORA, MOHAMMED AL-ABRI, AND JOYDEEP DUTTA. Controlled defects of zinc oxide nanorods for efficient visible light photocatalytic degradation of phenol. *Materials*, 9(4):238, 2016.
- [244] MOHAMMED MARIE, SANGHAMITRA MANDAL, AND OMAR MANASREH. An electrochemical glucose sensor based on zinc oxide nanorods. Sensors, 15(8):18714–18723, 2015. 24

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [245] G VIJAYAPRASATH, R MURUGAN, T MAHALINGAM, Y HAYAKAWA, AND G RAVI. Enhancement of ferromagnetic property in rare earth neodymium doped ZnO nanoparticles. *Ceramics International*, 41(9):10607– 10615, 2015. 24
- [246] REZA ZAMIRI, AJAY KAUSHAL, AVITO REBELO, AND JMF FERREIRA. Er doped ZnO nanoplates: Synthesis, optical and dielectric properties. Ceramics International, 40(1):1635–1639, 2014. 24
- [247] YANQING ZONG, ZHE LI, XINGMIN WANG, JIANTAO MA, AND YI MEN. Synthesis and high photocatalytic activity of Eu-doped ZnO nanoparticles. Ceramics International, 40(7):10375–10382, 2014.
- [248] SILAN BATURAY, YUSUF SELIM OCAK, AND DERYA KAYA. The effect of Gd doping on the electrical and photoelectrical properties of Gd: ZnO/p-Si heterojunctions. Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 645:29– 33, 2015. 24
- [249] MARIANA UNGUREANU, HEIDEMARIE SCHMIDT, QINGYU XU, HOLGER VON WENCKSTERN, DANIEL SPEMANN, HOLGER HOCHMUTH, MICHAEL LORENZ, AND MARIUS GRUNDMANN. Electrical and magnetic properties of RE-doped ZnO thin films (RE= Gd, Nd). Superlattices and Microstructures, 42(1):231–235, 2007. 24
- [250] GOVINDAN POONGODI, RANGASAMY MOHAN KUMAR, AND RAMASAMY JAYAVEL. Structural, optical and visible light photocatalytic properties of nanocrystalline Nd doped ZnO thin films prepared by spin coating method. Ceramics International, 41(3):4169–4175, 2015. 24
- [251] M SINGHAI, V CHHABRA, P KANG, AND DO SHAH. Synthesis of ZnO nanoparticles for varies application using Zn-substituted aerosol OT microemulsion. Materials Research Bulletin, 32(2):239–247, 1997. 24
- [252] RODOULA MOLESKI, EPAMEINONDAS LEONTIDIS, AND FRANK KRUMEICH. Controlled production of ZnO nanoparticles from zinc glycerolate in a sol-gel silica matrix. Journal of colloid and interface science, 302(1):246-253, 2006.
- [253] CHUNG-CHI LIAU AND LIANG-CHIUN CHAO. Growth and characterization of Er doped ZnO prepared by reactive ion beam sputtering. In Nanoelectronics Conference (INEC), 2010 3rd International, pages 976–977. IEEE, 2010.
- [254] JL NOEL, R UDAYABHASKAR, B RENGANATHAN, S MUTHU MARIAPPAN, D SASTIKUMAR, AND B KARTHIKEYAN. Spectroscopic and fiber optic ethanol sensing properties Gd doped ZnO nanoparticles. Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy, 132:634–638, 2014. 24
- [255] DAN-DAN WANG, JING-HAI YANG, JIAN CAO, JI-HUI LANG, MING GAO, AND XIAO-YAN LIU. Synthesis and photoluminescence of Eu-doped ZnO nanosheets. Chem. Res. Chinese. U., 27:174–176, 2011. 24
- [256] JIANZHONG MA, JUNLI LIU, YAN BAO, ZHENFENG ZHU, XIAOFENG WANG, AND JING ZHANG. Synthesis of large-scale uniform mulberry-like ZnO particles with microwave hydrothermal method and its antibacterial property. Ceramics International, 39(3):2803–2810, 2013. 24
- [257] MAGNUS WILLANDER, OMER NUR, JAMIL RANA SADAF, MUHAMMAD ISRAR QADIR, SAIMA ZAMAN, AHMED ZAINELABDIN, NARGIS BANO, AND IJAZ HUSSAIN. Luminescence from zinc oxide nanostructures and polymers and their hybrid devices. *Materials*, 3(4):2643–2667, 2010. 25
- [258] HADIS MORKOC, JEN-INN CHYI, ALOIS KROST, YASUSHI NANISHI, AND DONALD J SILVERSMITH. Challenges and Opportunities in GaN and ZnO Devices and Materials [Scanning the Issue]. Proceedings of the IEEE, 98(7):1113–1117, 2010. 25

- [259] IW HAMLEY. Ordering in thin films of block copolymers: Fundamentals to potential applications. Progress in Polymer Science, 34(11):1161–1210, 2009. 26
- [260] XIAODAN GU, ILJA GUNKEL, ALEXANDER HEXEMER, WEIYIN GU, AND THOMAS P RUSSELL. An In Situ Grazing Incidence X-Ray Scattering Study of Block Copolymer Thin Films During Solvent Vapor Annealing. Advanced Materials, 26(2):273–281, 2014. 26
- [261] ZHE QIANG, YUANZHONG ZHANG, JESSE A GROFF, KEVIN A CAVICCHI, AND BRYAN D VOGT. A generalized method for alignment of block copolymer films: solvent vapor annealing with soft shear. Soft Matter, 10(32):6068–6076, 2014. 26
- [262] SOUHENG WU. Surface and interfacial tensions of polymer melts. II. Poly (methyl methacrylate), poly (n-butyl methacrylate), and polystyrene. The Journal of Physical Chemistry, 74(3):632–638, 1970. 26
- [263] ADAM M WELANDER, HUIMAN KANG, KARL O STUEN, HARUN H SOLAK, MARCUS MÜLLER, JUAN J DE PABLO, AND PAUL F NEALEY. Rapid directed assembly of block copolymer films at elevated temperatures. Macromolecules, 41(8):2759–2761, 2008. 26, 27
- [264] F FERRARESE LUPI, TJ GIAMMARIA, M CERESOLI, G SEGUINI, K SPARNACCI, D ANTONIOLI, V GIANOTTI, M LAUS, AND M PEREGO. Rapid thermal processing of self-assembling block copolymer thin films. Nanotechnology, 24(31):315601, 2013. 26
- [265] GABRIELE SEGUINI, TOMMASO J GIAMMARIA, FEDERICO FERRARESE LUPI, KATIA SPARNACCI, DIEGO ANTO-NIOLI, VALENTINA GIANOTTI, FRANCESCO VITA, IMMACOLATA F PLACENTINO, JAN HILHORST, CLAUDIO FER-RERO, ET AL. Thermally induced self-assembly of cylindrical nanodomains in low molecular weight PS-b-PMMA thin films. Nanotechnology, 25(4):045301, 2014. 26, 27
- [266] TAKEHIRO SESHIMO, RINA MAEDA, RIN ODASHIMA, YUTAKA TAKENAKA, DAISUKE KAWANA, KATSUMI OHMORI, AND TERUAKI HAYAKAWA. Perpendicularly oriented sub-10-nm block copolymer lamellae by atmospheric thermal annealing for one minute. Scientific reports, 6, 2016. 26
- [267] F FERRARESE LUPI, TJ GIAMMARIA, FG VOLPE, F LOTTO, G SEGUINI, BRANKO PIVAC, M LAUS, AND M PEREGO. High aspect ratio PS-b-PMMA block copolymer masks for lithographic applications. ACS applied materials & interfaces, 6(23):21389-21396, 2014. 26, 27
- [268] SHENGXIANG JI, CHI-CHUN LIU, WEN LIAO, ALYSSA L FENSKE, GORDON SW CRAIG, AND PAUL F NEALEY. Domain orientation and grain coarsening in cylinder-forming poly (styrene-b-methyl methacrylate) films. Macromolecules, 44(11):4291–4300, 2011. 27
- [269] SEUNG HYUN KIM, MATTHEW J MISNER, AND THOMAS P RUSSELL. Solvent-Induced Ordering in Thin Film Diblock Copolymer/Homopolymer Mixtures. Advanced Materials, 16(23-24):2119–2123, 2004. 28
- [270] SEUNG HYUN KIM, MATTHEW J MISNER, TING XU, MASAHIRO KIMURA, AND THOMAS P RUSSELL. Highly oriented and ordered arrays from block copolymers via solvent evaporation. Advanced Materials, 16(3):226-231, 2004. 28
- [271] DIPU BORAH, MATTHEW T SHAW, JUSTIN D HOLMES, AND MICHAEL A MORRIS. Sub-10 nm feature size PS-b-PDMS block copolymer structures fabricated by a microwave-assisted solvothermal process. ACS applied materials & interfaces, 5(6):2004–2012, 2013. 28

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [272] XIAOJIANG ZHANG, KENNETH D HARRIS, NATHANAEL LY WU, JEFFREY N MURPHY, AND JILLIAN M BURIAK. Fast assembly of ordered block copolymer nanostructures through microwave annealing. ACS nano, 4(11):7021–7029, 2010.
- [273] JAE WON JEONG, YOON HYUNG HUR, HYEONG-JUN KIM, JONG MIN KIM, WOON IK PARK, MI JEONG KIM, BUMJOON J KIM, AND YEON SIK JUNG. Proximity injection of plasticizing molecules to self-assembling polymers for large-area, ultrafast nanopatterning in the sub-10-nm regime. ACS nano, 7(8):6747–6757, 2013. 28
- [274] ERIK M FREER, LESLIE E KRUPP, WILLIAM D HINSBERG, PHILIP M RICE, JAMES L HEDRICK, JENNIFER N CHA, ROBERT D MILLER, AND HO-CHEOL KIM. Oriented mesoporous organosilicate thin films. Nano letters, 5(10):2014–2018, 2005. 28
- [275] WILLIAM A PHILLIP, BRANDON OÂĂŹNEILL, MARC RODWOGIN, MARC A HILLMYER, AND EL CUSSLER. Selfassembled block copolymer thin films as water filtration membranes. ACS applied materials & interfaces, 2(3):847–853, 2010.
- [276] JUN YIN, XUEPING YAO, JIUN-YOU LIOU, WEI SUN, YA-SEN SUN, AND YONG WANG. Membranes with highly ordered straight nanopores by selective swelling of fast perpendicularly aligned block copolymers. ACS nano, 7(11):9961–9974, 2013. 28
- [277] TOMOYASU HIRAI, MELVINA LEOLUKMAN, CHI CHUN LIU, EUNGNAK HAN, YUN JUN KIM, YOSHIHITO ISHIDA, TERUAKI HAYAKAWA, MASA-AKI KAKIMOTO, PAUL F NEALEY, AND PADMA GOPALAN. One-Step Direct-Patterning Template Utilizing Self-Assembly of POSS-Containing Block Copolymers. Advanced Materials, 21(43):4334–4338, 2009. 28
- [278] EUNHYE KIM, HYUNGJU AHN, SUNGMIN PARK, HOYEON LEE, MOONGYU LEE, SUMI LEE, TAEWOO KIM, EUN-AE KWAK, JUN HAN LEE, XIE LEI, ET AL. Directed assembly of high molecular weight block copolymers: highly ordered line patterns of perpendicularly oriented lamellae with large periods. ACS nano, 7(3):1952–1960, 2013. 28
- [279] G KIM AND M LIBERA. Morphological Development in Solvent-Cast Polystyrene- Polybutadiene-Polystyrene (SBS) Triblock Copolymer Thin Films. *Macromolecules*, 31(8):2569–2577, 1998. 28
- [280] WEI-HAN HUANG, PO-YU CHEN, AND SHIH-HUANG TUNG. Effects of annealing solvents on the morphology of block copolymer-based supramolecular thin films. *Macromolecules*, 45(3):1562–1569, 2012. 28, 30, 90
- [281] YU XUAN, JUAN PENG, LIANG CUI, HANFU WANG, BINYAO LI, AND YANCHUN HAN. Morphology development of ultrathin symmetric diblock copolymer film via solvent vapor treatment. Macromolecules, 37(19):7301-7307, 2004.
- [282] YOU WANG, XIAODONG HONG, BAOQUAN LIU, CHANGYOU MA, AND CHUNFANG ZHANG. Two-dimensional ordering in block copolymer monolayer thin films upon selective solvent annealing. *Macromolecules*, 41(15):5799–5808, 2008.
- [283] HAIYING HUANG, FAJUN ZHANG, ZHIJUN HU, BINYANG DU, TIANBAI HE, FUK KAY LEE, YONGJIAN WANG, AND OPHELIA KC TSUI. Study on the origin of inverted phase in drying solution-cast block copolymer films. *Macromolecules*, 36(11):4084–4092, 2003. 28
- [284] W BAI, KG YAGER, AND CA Ross. In situ characterization of the self-assembly of a polystyrenepolydimethylsiloxane block copolymer during solvent vapor annealing. *Macromolecules*, 48(23):8574– 8584, 2015. 30

- [285] ALEXANDER SIDORENKO, IGOR TOKAREV, SERGIY MINKO, AND MANFRED STAMM. Ordered reactive nanomembranes/nanotemplates from thin films of block copolymer supramolecular assembly. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 125(40):12211–12216, 2003. 30, 31, 94, 95
- [286] E BHOJE GOWD, BHANU NANDAN, MUKESH KUMAR VYAS, NADJA C BIGALL, ALEXANDER EYCHMÜLLER, HEIKE SCHLÖRB, AND MANFRED STAMM. Highly ordered palladium nanodots and nanowires from switchable block copolymer thin films. Nanotechnology, 20(41):415302, 2009. 30
- [287] T THURN-ALBRECHT, J SCHOTTER, GA KÄSTLE, N EMLEY, T SHIBAUCHI, L KRUSIN-ELBAUM, K GUAR-INI, CT BLACK, MT TUOMINEN, AND TP RUSSELL. Ultrahigh-density nanowire arrays grown in selfassembled diblock copolymer templates. *Science*, 290(5499):2126–2129, 2000. 31
- [288] MIRI PARK, CHRISTOPHER HARRISON, PAUL M CHAIKIN, RICHARD A REGISTER, AND DOUGLAS H ADAM-SON. Block copolymer lithography: periodic arrays of 1011 holes in 1 square centimeter. Science, 276(5317):1401–1404, 1997. 31
- [289] SOKOL NDONI, MARTIN E VIGILD, AND ROLF H BERG. Nanoporous materials with spherical and gyroid cavities created by quantitative etching of polydimethylsiloxane in polystyrene- polydimethylsiloxane block copolymers. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 125(44):13366–13367, 2003. 31
- [290] RONG-MING HO, CHUN-KU CHEN, AND YEO-WAN CHIANG. Novel Nanostructures from Self-Assembly of Chiral Block Copolymers. Macromolecular rapid communications, 30(17):1439–1456, 2009. 31
- [291] HUA-YAN SI, JING-SHENG CHEN, AND GAN-MOOG CHOW. A simple method to prepare highly ordered PS-b-P4VP block copolymer template. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 373(1):82-87, 2011. 31
- [292] AMIR WAGIH FAHMI, H-G BRAUN, AND MANFRED STAMM. Fabrication of Metallized Nanowires from Self-Assembled Diblock Copolymer Templates. Advanced Materials, 15(14):1201–1204, 2003. 32
- [293] CHANCHAYYA GUPTA CHANDALURI, GILAD PELOSSOF, RAN TEL-VERED, ROY SHENHAR, AND ITAMAR WILLNER. Block Copolymer Patterns as Templates for the Electrocatalyzed Deposition of Nanostructures on Electrodes and for the Generation of Surfaces of Controlled Wettability. ACS applied materials & interfaces, 8(2):1440-1446, 2016. 32
- [294] SONG-ZHU CHU, KENJI WADA, SATORU INOUE, AND SIN-ICHI TODOROKI. Synthesis and Characterization of Titania Nanostructures on Glass by Al Anodization and Sol- Gel Process. Chemistry of materials, 14(1):266-272, 2002. 32
- [295] MARJORIE ROULET, MARYLÈNE VAYER, AND CHRISTOPHE SINTUREL. A simple route to ordered metal oxide nanoparticle arrays using block copolymer thin films. European Polymer Journal, 49(12):3897–3903, 2013. 32, 33, 34
- [296] PAVAN S CHINTHAMANIPETA, QIN LOU, AND DEVON A SHIPP. Periodic titania nanostructures using block copolymer templates. ACS nano, 5(1):450–456, 2010. 32
- [297] LIXIN SONG, YENG MING LAM, CHRIS BOOTHROYD, AND PUAT WEN TEO. One-step synthesis of titania nanoparticles from PS-P4VP diblock copolymer solution. Nanotechnology, 18(13):135605, 2007. 33
- [298] QIN LOU, PAVAN S CHINTHAMANIPETA, AND DEVON A SHIPP. Mechanism of Titania Deposition into Cylindrical Poly (styrene-block-4 vinyl pyridine) Block Copolymer Templates. Langmuir, 27(24):15206– 15212, 2011. 33

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [299] JUAN PENG, WOLFGANG KNOLL, CHEOLMIN PARK, AND DONG HA KIM. Two-dimensional arrays of strings of TiO2 nanoparticles via cooperative block copolymer self-assembly. Chemistry of Materials, 20(4):1200– 1202, 2008. 33
- [300] BHANU NANDAN, BIPLAB K KUILA, AND MANFRED STAMM. Supramolecular assemblies of block copolymers as templates for fabrication of nanomaterials. European Polymer Journal, 47(4):584–599, 2011. 34
- [301] WONJOO LEE, SEUNG YONG LEE, XIN ZHANG, ODED RABIN, AND RM BRIBER. Hexagonally ordered nanoparticles templated using a block copolymer film through Coulombic interactions. Nanotechnology, 24(4):045305, 2013. 35
- [302] ZHICHENG LIU, TONGXIN CHANG, HAIYING HUANG, AND TIANBAI HE. Gold nanoparticle arrays assembled on the reconstructed surface of block copolymer thin films. *RSC Advances*, **3**(43):20464–20470, 2013.
- [303] BHANU NANDAN, E BHOJE GOWD, NADJA C BIGALL, ALEXANDER EYCHMÜLLER, PETR FORMANEK, PAUL SIMON, AND MANFRED STAMM. Arrays of inorganic nanodots and nanowires using nanotemplates based on switchable block copolymer supramolecular assemblies. Advanced Functional Materials, 19(17):2805–2811, 2009.
- [304] ANDRIY HORECHYY, BHANU NANDAN, NIKOLAOS E ZAFEIROPOULOS, PETR FORMANEK, ULRICH OERTEL, NADJA C BIGALL, ALEXANDER EYCHMÜLLER, AND MANFRED STAMM. A Step-Wise Approach for Dual Nanoparticle Patterning via Block Copolymer Self-Assembly. Advanced Functional Materials, 23(4):483– 490, 2013. 34
- [305] ANDRIY HORECHYY, NIKOLAOS E ZAFEIROPOULOS, BHANU NANDAN, PETR FORMANEK, FRANK SIMON, ANTON KIRIY, AND MANFRED STAMM. Highly ordered arrays of magnetic nanoparticles prepared via block copolymer assembly. Journal of Materials Chemistry, 20(36):7734-7741, 2010. 34
- [306] I BARANDIARAN AND G KORTABERRIA. Synthesis and characterization of nanostructured PS-b-P4VP/Fe
 2 O 3 thin films with magnetic properties prepared by solvent vapor annealing. RSC Advances, 5(116):95840-95846, 2015. 34
- [307] GREGORY W NYCE, JOEL R HAYES, ALEX V HAMZA, AND JOE H SATCHER. Synthesis and characterization of hierarchical porous gold materials. Chemistry of materials, 19(3):344–346, 2007. 35
- [308] EDWARD JW CROSSLAND, SABINE LUDWIGS, MARC A HILLMYER, AND ULLRICH STEINER. Control of gyroid forming block copolymer templates: effects of an electric field and surface topography. Soft Matter, 6(3):670-676, 2010. 35
- [309] OLEG LUPAN, THIERRY PAUPORTÉ, TANGUI LE BAHERS, BRUNO VIANA, AND ILARIA CIOFINI. Wavelengthemission tuning of ZnO nanowire-based light-emitting diodes by Cu doping: experimental and computational insights. Advanced Functional Materials, 21(18):3564–3572, 2011. 35
- [310] OLEG LUPAN, THIERRY PAUPORTÉ, AND BRUNO VIANA. Low-Voltage UV-Electroluminescence from ZnO-Nanowire Array/p-GaN Light-Emitting diodes. Advanced Materials, 22(30):3298–3302, 2010.
- [311] SANG WUK LEE, HAK DONG CHO, GENNADY PANIN, AND TAE WON KANG. Vertical ZnO nanorod/Si contact light-emitting diode. Applied Physics Letters, 98(9):093110, 2011.
- [312] MIN-CHANG JEONG, BYEONG-YUN OH, MOON-HO HAM, SANG-WON LEE, AND JAE-MIN MYOUNG. ZnO-Nanowire-Inserted GaN/ZnO Heterojunction Light-Emitting Diodes. Small, 3(4):568–572, 2007.

- [313] XIAO-MEI ZHANG, MING-YEN LU, YUE ZHANG, LIH-J CHEN, AND ZHONG LIN WANG. Fabrication of a High-Brightness Blue-Light-Emitting Diode Using a ZnO-Nanowire Array Grown on p-GaN Thin Film. Advanced Materials, 21(27):2767-2770, 2009.
- [314] SHENG XU, CHEN XU, YING LIU, YOUFAN HU, RUSEN YANG, QING YANG, JAE-HYUN RYOU, HEE JIN KIM, ZACHARY LOCHNER, SUK CHOI, ET AL. Ordered Nanowire Array Blue/Near-UV Light Emitting Diodes. Advanced Materials, 22(42):4749–4753, 2010. 35
- [315] YR RYU, TS LEE, JA LUBGUBAN, HW WHITE, YS PARK, AND CJ YOUN. ZnO devices: Photodiodes and p-type field-effect transistors. Applied Physics Letters, 87(15):153504, 2005. 35
- [316] DJ ROGERS, F HOSSEINI TEHERANI, A YASAN, K MINDER, P KUNG, AND M RAZEGHI. Electroluminescence at 375 nm from a Zn O/ Ga N: Mg/ c-Al 2 O 3 heterojunction light emitting diode. Applied Physics Letters, 88(14):141918, 2006. 35
- [317] SUN-HONG PARK, SEON-HYO KIM, AND SANG-WOOK HAN. Growth of homoepitaxial ZnO film on ZnO nanorods and light emitting diode applications. Nanotechnology, 18(5):055608, 2007. 35, 36
- [318] JJ DONG, XW ZHANG, ZG YIN, JX WANG, SG ZHANG, FT SI, HL GAO, AND X LIU. Ultraviolet electroluminescence from ordered ZnO nanorod array/p-GaN light emitting diodes. Applied Physics Letters, 100(17):171109, 2012. 37
- [319] SG ZHANG, XW ZHANG, ZG YIN, JX WANG, JJ DONG, HL GAO, FT SI, SS SUN, AND Y TAO. Localized surface plasmon-enhanced electroluminescence from ZnO-based heterojunction light-emitting diodes. Applied Physics Letters, 99(18):181116, 2011.
- [320] O LUPAN, TH PAUPORTÉ, B VIANA, IM TIGINYANU, VV URSAKI, AND R CORTES. Epitaxial electrodeposition of ZnO nanowire arrays on p-GaN for efficient UV-light-emitting diode fabrication. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 2(7):2083–2090, 2010. 37
- [321] JX WANG, XW SUN, Y YANG, H HUANG, YC LEE, OK TAN, AND LIONEL VAYSSIERES. Hydrothermally grown oriented ZnO nanorod arrays for gas sensing applications. Nanotechnology, 17(19):4995, 2006. 37, 41
- [322] XD WANG, JUN ZHOU, CS LAO, JH SONG, NS XU, AND ZHONG L WANG. In situ field emission of densitycontrolled ZnO nanowire arrays. Advanced Materials, 19(12):1627–1631, 2007. 38
- [323] Y-K TSENG, C-J HUANG, H-M CHENG, I-N LIN, K-S LIU, AND I-C CHEN. Characterization and fieldemission properties of needle-like zinc oxide nanowires grown vertically on conductive zinc oxide films. Advanced functional materials, 13(10):811-814, 2003. 38
- [324] JUNCONG SHE, ZHIMING XIAO, YUHUA YANG, SHAOZHI DENG, JUN CHEN, GUOWEI YANG, AND NINGSHENG XU. Correlation between resistance and field emission performance of individual ZnO one-dimensional nanostructures. Acs Nano, 2(10):2015–2022, 2008. 41
- [325] Q ZHAO, HZ ZHANG, YW ZHU, SQ FENG, XC SUN, J XU, AND DP YU. Morphological effects on the field emission of ZnO nanorod arrays. Applied Physics Letters, 86(20):203115, 2005.
- [326] A WEI, XIAO WEI SUN, CX XU, ZL DONG, MB YU, AND W HUANG. Stable field emission from hydrothermally grown ZnO nanotubes. Applied Physics Letters, 88(21):213102, 2006.

- [327] HAIBO ZENG, XIJIN XU, YOSHIO BANDO, UJJAL K GAUTAM, TIANYOU ZHAI, XIAOSHENG FANG, BAODAN LIU, AND DMITRI GOLBERG. Template Deformation-Tailored ZnO Nanorod/Nanowire Arrays: Full Growth Control and Optimization of Field-Emission. Advanced Functional Materials, 19(19):3165–3172, 2009. 38
- [328] MATT LAW, LORI E GREENE, ALEKSANDRA RADENOVIC, TEVYE KUYKENDALL, JAN LIPHARDT, AND PEIDONG YANG. ZnO- Al2O3 and ZnO- TiO2 core- shell nanowire dye-sensitized solar cells. The Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 110(45):22652–22663, 2006. 39
- [329] YUN-JU LEE, DOUGLAS S RUBY, DAVID W PETERS, BONNIE B MCKENZIE, AND JULIA WP HSU. ZnO nanostructures as efficient antireflection layers in solar cells. Nano letters, 8(5):1501–1505, 2008. 39
- [330] MATT LAW, LORI E GREENE, JUSTIN C JOHNSON, RICHARD SAYKALLY, AND PEIDONG YANG. Nanowire dyesensitized solar cells. Nature materials, 4(6):455–459, 2005. 39
- [331] PUNNIAMOORTHY RAVIRAJAN, ANA M PEIRÓ, MOHAMMAD K NAZEERUDDIN, MICHAEL GRAETZEL, DONAL DC BRADLEY, JAMES R DURRANT, AND JENNY NELSON. Hybrid polymer/zinc oxide photovoltaic devices with vertically oriented ZnO nanorods and an amphiphilic molecular interface layer. The Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 110(15):7635–7639, 2006. 39
- [332] LORI E GREENE, MATT LAW, BENJAMIN D YUHAS, AND PEIDONG YANG. ZnO- TiO2 core- shell nanorod/P3HT solar cells. The Journal of Physical Chemistry C, 111(50):18451–18456, 2007. 39
- [333] MARÍA AYMERICH, ANA I GÓMEZ-VARELA, EZEQUIEL ÁLVAREZ, AND MARÍA T FLORES-ARIAS. Study of Different Sol-Gel Coatings to Enhance the Lifetime of PDMS Devices: Evaluation of Their Biocompatibility. Materials, 9(9):728, 2016. 44
- [334] B.D. CULLITY AND S.R. STOCK. Elements of X-ray Diffraction. Prentice Hall, 2001. 46
- [335] ANDRÉ GUINIER. X-ray diffraction in crystals, imperfect crystals, and amorphous bodies. Courier Corporation, 1994. 46
- [336] E.N. KAUFMANN. Characterization of Materials, 2 Volume Set. Wiley, 2003. 47
- [337] CHALLA SSR KUMAR. Transmission electron microscopy characterization of nanomaterials. Springer Science & Business Media, 2013. 48
- [338] DB WILLIAMS AND CB CARTER. SpringerLink (Online service). Transmission Electron Microscopy: A Textbook for Materials Science, 2009. 49
- [339] CHALLA SSR KUMAR. UV-VIS and photoluminescence spectroscopy for nanomaterials characterization. Springer, 2013. 50
- [340] JAN TAUC. Optical properties and electronic structure of amorphous Ge and Si. Materials Research Bulletin, 3(1):37-46, 1968. 50
- [341] SERGEI N MAGONOV AND MYUNG-HWAN WHANGBO. Surface analysis with STM and AFM: experimental and theoretical aspects of image analysis. John Wiley & Sons, 2008. 51, 52
- [342] PIER CARLO BRAGA AND DAVIDE RICCI. Atomic force microscopy: biomedical methods and applications, 242. Springer Science & Business Media, 2004. 52

- [343] V YU DAVYDOV, VV LUNDIN, AN SMIRNOV, NA SOBOLEV, AS USIKOV, AND AM EMELYANOV. Electronic and optical properties of semiconductors. Semiconductors, 33(1):1, 1999. 55
- [344] DEEP JARIWALA, VINOD K SANGWAN, LINCOLN J LAUHON, TOBIN J MARKS, AND MARK C HERSAM. Carbon nanomaterials for electronics, optoelectronics, photovoltaics, and sensing. Chemical Society Reviews, 42(7):2824–2860, 2013. 55
- [345] V SRIKANT AND D R_ CLARKE. On the optical band gap of zinc oxide. Journal of Applied Physics, 83(10):5447-5451, 1998. 55
- [346] YUNHUA HUANG, XUEDONG BAI, AND YUE ZHANG. In situ mechanical properties of individual ZnO nanowires and the mass measurement of nanoparticles. Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter, 18(15):L179, 2006. 55
- [347] DS KING AND RM NIX. Thermal stability and reducibility of ZnO and Cu/ZnO catalysts. Journal of Catalysis, 160(1):76–83, 1996.
- [348] YOGENDRA K MISHRA, SÖREN KAPS, ARNIM SCHUCHARDT, INGO PAULOWICZ, XIN JIN, DAWIT GEDAMU, STEFAN FREITAG, MARIA CLAUS, SEBASTIAN WILLE, ALEXANDER KOVALEV, ET AL. Fabrication of macroscopically flexible and highly porous 3D semiconductor networks from interpenetrating nanostructures by a simple flame transport approach. Particle & Particle Systems Characterization, 30(9):775–783, 2013.
- [349] NASTARAN FARAJI, CLEMENS ULRICH, NIKLAS WOLFF, LORENZ KIENLE, RAINER ADELUNG, YOGENDRA KUMAR MISHRA, AND JAN SEIDEL. Visible-Light Driven Nanoscale Photoconductivity of Grain Boundaries in Self-Supported ZnO Nano-and Microstructured Platelets. Advanced Electronic Materials, 2(9), 2016. 55
- [350] ZHIGANG LI, WENWU ZHONG, XIAOMING LI, HAIBO ZENG, GUPING WANG, WEIKE WANG, ZHAORONG YANG, AND YUHENG ZHANG. Strong room-temperature ferromagnetism of pure ZnO nanostructure arrays via colloidal template. Journal of Materials Chemistry C, 1(41):6807–6812, 2013. 55
- [351] RAJESH KUMAR, O AL-DOSSARY, GIRISH KUMAR, AND AHMAD UMAR. Zinc Oxide Nanostructures for NO2 Gas-Sensor Applications: A Review. Nano-Micro Letters, 7(2):97–120. 55
- [352] DEZHONG YU, RUXIU CAI, AND ZHIHONG LIU. Studies on the photodegradation of Rhodamine dyes on nanometer-sized zinc oxide. Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy, 60(7):1617 - 1624, 2004. 55
- [353] THOMAS BAIRD, PATRICK J DENNY, ROBERT HOYLE, FIONA MCMONAGLE, DIANE STIRLING, AND JAMES TWEEDY. Modified zinc oxide absorbents for low-temperature gas desulfurisation. J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans., 88(22):3375–3382, 1992. 55
- [354] RAVINDRA P SINGH, VINEET K SHUKLA, RAGHVENDRA S YADAV, PRASHANT K SHARMA, PRASHANT K SINGH, AND AVINASH C PANDEY. Biological approach of zinc oxide nanoparticles formation and its characterization. 2011. 55
- [355] YIN PENG, AN-WU XU, BIN DENG, MARKUS ANTONIETTI, AND HELMUT CÖLFEN. Polymer-controlled crystallization of zinc oxide hexagonal nanorings and disks. The Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 110(7):2988– 2993, 2006. 55
- [356] GC CHINCHEN, PJ DENNY, DG PARKER, MS SPENCER, AND DA WHAN. Mechanism of methanol synthesis from CO 2/CO/H 2 mixtures over copper/zinc oxide/alumina catalysts: use of 14 C-labelled reactants. Applied Catalysis, 30(2):333-338, 1987. 55

- [357] TIM REIMER, INGO PAULOWICZ, ROBERT ROÌLDER, SOÌLREN KAPS, OLEG LUPAN, STEFFEN CHEMNITZ, WOLF-GANG BENECKE, CARSTEN RONNING, RAINER ADELUNG, AND YOGENDRA K MISHRA. Single step integration of ZnO nano-and microneedles in Si trenches by novel flame transport approach: whispering gallery modes and photocatalytic properties. ACS applied materials & interfaces, 6(10):7806-7815, 2014. 55
- [358] KUN HO KIM, KI CHEOL PARK, AND DAE YOUNG MA. Structural, electrical and optical properties of aluminum doped zinc oxide films prepared by radio frequency magnetron sputtering. Journal of Applied Physics, 81:7764-7772, 1997. 55
- [359] ZHONG LIN WANG. Zinc oxide nanostructures: growth, properties and applications. Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter, 16(25):R829, 2004. 55
- [360] XIAOMING LI, JIZHONG SONG, YANLI LIU, AND HAIBO ZENG. Controlling oxygen vacancies and properties of ZnO. Current Applied Physics, 14(3):521–527, 2014. 55
- [361] KARIN KEIS, C BAUER, GERRIT BOSCHLOO, ANDERS HAGFELDT, K WESTERMARK, HÅKAN RENSMO, AND HANS SIEGBAHN. Nanostructured ZnO electrodes for dye-sensitized solar cell applications. Journal of Photochemistry and photobiology A: Chemistry, 148(1):57–64, 2002. 55
- [362] TAPAN K GUPTA. Application of zinc oxide varistors. Journal of the American Ceramic Society, 73(7):1817– 1840, 1990. 55
- [363] DANIELE COSTENARO, FABIO CARNIATO, GIORGIO GATTI, LEONARDO MARCHESE, AND CHIARA BISIO. Preparation of luminescent ZnO nanoparticles modified with aminopropyltriethoxy silane for optoelectronic applications. New Journal of Chemistry, 37(7):2103–2109, 2013. 55
- [364] ELISABETTA COMINI. Metal oxide nano-crystals for gas sensing. Analytica Chimica Acta, 568(1):28–40, 2006. 55
- [365] JX WANG, XIAOWEI SUN, A WEI, Y LEI, XP CAI, CHANG MING LI, AND ZHILI DONG. Zinc oxide nanocomb biosensor for glucose detection. 2006. 55
- [366] THIERRY PAUPORTÉ AND DANIEL LINCOT. Electrodeposition of semiconductors for optoelectronic devices: results on zinc oxide. Electrochimica Acta, 45(20):3345–3353, 2000. 55
- [367] V PARTHASARATHI AND G THILAGAVATHI. Synthesis and characterization of zinc oxide nanopartilce and its application on fabrics for microbe resistant defence clothing. International Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, 3(4):392–398, 2011. 56, 59
- [368] SHRIWAS S ASHTAPUTRE, APARNA DESHPANDE, SONALI MARATHE, ME WANKHEDE, JAYASHREE CHIMANPURE, RENU PASRICHA, J URBAN, SK HARAM, SW GOSAVI, AND SK KULKARNI. Synthesis and analysis of ZnO and CdSe nanoparticles. Pramana, 65(4):615–620, 2005. 56, 57
- [369] SR SENTHILKUMAR AND T SIVAKUMAR. Green tea (Camellia sinensis) mediated synthesis of zinc oxide (ZNO) nanoparticles and studies on their antimicrobial activities. Int J Pharm Pharm Sci, 6:461–465, 2014. 57, 59
- [370] SULBHA K. KULKARNI. Nanotechnology: Principles and Practices. Springer, Mahaveer Street, Darayagang, New Delhi, 1 edition, 2009. 57

- [371] FANG QIAN, PUI CHING LAN, TAMMY OLSON, CHENG ZHU, ERIC B DUOSS, CHRISTOPHER M SPADACCINI, AND T YONG-JIN HAN. Multiphase separation of copper nanowires. Chemical Communications, 52(78):11627– 11630, 2016. 58
- [372] ANIL KUMAR, LOKESH KUMAR JANGIR, YOGITA KUMARI, MANOJ KUMAR, VINOD KUMAR, AND KAMLENDRA AWASTHI. Electrical behavior of dual-morphology polyaniline. Journal of Applied Polymer Science, 133(41), 2016. 58
- [373] MIKIYASU INOUE AND IZUMI HIRASAWA. The relationship between crystal morphology and XRD peak intensity on CaSO 4· 2H 2 O. Journal of Crystal Growth, 380:169–175, 2013. 58
- [374] JD YE, SL GU, F QIN, SM ZHU, SM LIU, X ZHOU, W LIU, LQ HU, R ZHANG, Y SHI, ET AL. Correlation between green luminescence and morphology evolution of ZnO films. Applied Physics A, 81(4):759–762, 2005. 65
- [375] XL WU, GG SIU, CL FU, AND HC ONG. Photoluminescence and cathodoluminescence studies of stoichiometric and oxygen-deficient ZnO films. Applied Physics Letters, 78(16):2285–2287, 2001. 65, 80
- [376] SAYAN BHATTACHARYYA AND A GEDANKEN. Microwave-assisted insertion of silver nanoparticles into 3-D mesoporous zinc oxide nanocomposites and nanorods. The Journal of Physical Chemistry C, 112(3):659– 665, 2008. 65
- [377] BHARATI DEBNATH, GANGA HALDER, AND SAYAN BHATTACHARYYA. One-step synthesis, structural and optical characterization of self-assembled ZnO nanoparticle clusters with quench-induced defects. Science of Advanced Materials, 6(6):1160-1169, 2014. 65, 68
- [378] YINYAN GONG, TAMAR ANDELMAN, GERTRUDE F NEUMARK, STEPHEN OÂĂŹBRIEN, AND IGOR L KUSKOVSKY. Origin of defect-related green emission from ZnO nanoparticles: effect of surface modification. Nanoscale Research Letters, 2(6):297, 2007. 65, 68
- [379] CHEOL HYOUN AHN, YOUNG YI KIM, DONG CHAN KIM, SANJAY KUMAR MOHANTA, AND HYUNG KOUN CHO. A comparative analysis of deep level emission in ZnO layers deposited by various methods. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 105(1):013502, 2009. 65, 68
- [380] SA STUDENIKIN, NICKOLAY GOLEGO, AND MICHAEL COCIVERA. Fabrication of green and orange photoluminescent, undoped ZnO films using spray pyrolysis. Journal of Applied Physics, 84(4):2287–2294, 1998.
 65
- [381] AB DJURIŠIĆ, YH LEUNG, KH TAM, L DING, WK GE, HY CHEN, AND S GWO. Green, yellow, and orange defect emission from ZnO nanostructures: Influence of excitation wavelength. Applied Physics Letters, 88(10):103107, 2006. 68
- [382] TAPAS KUMAR KUNDU, NANTU KARAK, PUSPENDU BARIK, AND SATYAJIT SAHA. Optical properties of ZnO nanoparticles prepared by chemical method using poly (vinyl alcohol)(PVA) as capping agent. International Journal of Soft Computing and Engineering, 1:19-24, 2011. 68
- [383] A OUDHIA, A CHOUDHARY, S SHARMA, S AGGRAWAL, AND SJ DHOBLE. Study of defect generated visible photoluminescence in zinc oxide nano-particles prepared using PVA templates. Journal of Luminescence, 154:211–217, 2014. 68

- [384] ION TIGINYANU, LIDIA GHIMPU, JORIT GRÖTTRUP, VITALIE POSTOLACHE, MATTHIAS MECKLENBURG, MARION A STEVENS-KALCEFF, VEACESLAV URSAKI, NADER PAYAMI, ROBERT FEIDENHANSL, KARL SCHULTE, ET AL. Strong light scattering and broadband (UV to IR) photoabsorption in stretchable 3D hybrid architectures based on Aerographite decorated by ZnO nanocrystallites. Scientific Reports, 6, 2016. 69
- [385] HELENA BRUNCKOVA, LUBOMIR MEDVECKY, ALEXANDRA KOVALCIKOVA, MARTIN FIDES, ERIKA MUDRA, JURAJ DURISIN, JIRI SKVARLA, AND MARIA KANUCHOVA. Structural and mechanical properties of lanthanide doped La1/3Nb0. 8Ta0. 2O3 thin films prepared by sol-gel method. Smart Materials and Structures, 26(4):045009, 2017. 69
- [386] CHU-CHI TING, SAN-YUAN CHEN, WEN-FENG HSIEH, AND HSIN-YI LEE. Effects of yttrium codoping on photoluminescence of erbium-doped TiO 2 films. Journal of Applied Physics, 90(11):5564-5569, 2001. 69
- [387] BEATRIZ JULIÁN, ROSA CORBERÁN, ELOISA CORDONCILLO, PURIFICACIÓN ESCRIBANO, BRUNO VIANA, AND CLÉMENT SANCHEZ. One-pot synthesis and optical properties of Eu3+-doped nanocrystalline TiO2 and ZrO2. Nanotechnology, 16(11):2707, 2005. 69
- [388] APPL POLMAN. Erbium implanted thin film photonic materials. Journal of Applied Physics, 82(1):1–39, 1997. 69
- [389] C FALCONY, ANIBAL ORTIZ, M GARCIA, AND JS HELMAN. Photoluminescence characteristics of undoped and terbium chloride doped zinc oxide films deposited by spray pyrolysis. Journal of applied physics, 63(7):2378–2381, 1988. 69
- [390] A ORTIZ, C FALCONY, M GARCIA, AND A SANCHEZ. Terbium-doped zinc oxide films deposited by spray pyrolysis. Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics, 20(5):670, 1987.
- [391] FENG GU, SHU FEN WANG, MENG KAI LÜ, GUANG JUN ZHOU, DONG XU, AND DUO RONG YUAN. Structure evaluation and highly enhanced luminescence of Dy3+-doped ZnO nanocrystals by Li+ doping via combustion method. Langmuir, 20(9):3528-3531, 2004. 69
- [392] DAPENG WANG. Fabrication and Characterization of ZnO Related Materials Thin Films for Optical Device Application. 2012. 69
- [393] S-K LEE, SHULA L CHEN, D HONGXING, L SUN, Z CHEN, WM CHEN, AND IRINA A BUYANOVA. Long lifetime of free excitons in ZnO tetrapod structures. Applied Physics Letters, 96(8):083104, 2010.
- [394] VU XUAN QUANG, NGUYEN QUANG LIEM, NGUYEN CONG THANH, TRUONG VAN CHUONG, AND LE THI LE THANH. Photoluminescence of rare-earth centers in ZnO phosphors. physica status solidi (a), 78(2), 1983. 69
- [395] RUPALI DAS, NAVEEN KHICHAR, AND SANTA CHAWLA. Dual mode luminescence in rare earth (Er3+/Ho3+) doped ZnO nanoparticles fabricated by inclusive co precipitation technique. Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Electronics, 26(9):7174–7182, 2015. 72
- [396] ANUKORN PHURUANGRAT, ORANUCH YAYAPAO, TITIPUN THONGTEM, AND SOMCHAI THONGTEM. Synthesis and characterization of europium-doped zinc oxide photocatalyst. Journal of Nanomaterials, 2014, 2014.
- [397] ALIREZA KHATAEE, ATEFEH KARIMI, MAHMOUD ZAREI, AND SANG WOO JOO. Eu-doped ZnO nanoparticles: sonochemical synthesis, characterization, and sonocatalytic application. Ultrasonics sonochemistry, 2015. 72

- [398] RITA JOHN AND RAJARAM RAJAKUMARI. Synthesis and characterization of rare earth ion doped nano ZnO. Nano-Micro Letters, 4(2):65–72, 2012. 72
- [399] SRINIVASAN ANANDAN, AJAYAN VINU, TOSHIYUKI MORI, NARASIMHAN GOKULAKRISHNAN, PAVULURI SRINIVASU, VELAYUTHAM MURUGESAN, AND KATSUHIKO ARIGA. Photocatalytic degradation of 2, 4, 6-trichlorophenol using lanthanum doped ZnO in aqueous suspension. Catalysis Communications, 8(9):1377–1382, 2007. 72
- [400] VÁCLAV ŠTENGL, SNEJANA BAKARDJIEVA, AND NATALIYA MURAFA. Preparation and photocatalytic activity of rare earth doped TiO 2 nanoparticles. *Materials Chemistry and Physics*, 114(1):217–226, 2009. 75
- [401] KUPPULINGAM THIRUMALAI, MANOHAR SHANTHI, AND MEENAKSHISUNDARAM SWAMINATHAN. Hydrothermal fabrication of natural sun light active Dy 2 WO 6 doped ZnO and its enhanced photo-electrocatalytic activity and self-cleaning properties. RSC Advances, 7(13):7509–7518, 2017. 75
- [402] SZE-MUN LAM, JIN-CHUNG SIN, AHMAD ABDULLAH, AND ABDUL MOHAMED. Efficient photodegradation of resorcinol with Ag2O/ZnO nanorods heterostructure under a compact fluorescent lamp irradiation. Chemical Papers, 67(10):1277–1284, 2013. 78
- [403] LOKESH KUMAR JANGIR, PURVA BANSAL, YOGITA KUMARI, GHANSHYAM SINGH, MANOJ KUMAR, K C SWAMI, AND KAMLENDRA AWASTHI. Effective doping of Er(3+) in ZnO nanoparticles to control its luminescent properties. Macromolecular Symposia, masy.201700005.R1(-):xxx, 2017. 80
- [404] QI YU, TAOTAO AI, LIYUN JIANG, YINGTANG ZHANG, CHUANG LI, AND XINQIANG YUAN. Efficient energy transfer in Eu-doped ZnO on diamond film. RSC Advances, 4(96):53946–53949, 2014. 80
- [405] A SHARMA, S DHAR, BP SINGH, T KUNDU, M SPASOVA, AND M FARLE. Influence of Tb doping on the luminescence characteristics of ZnO nanoparticles. Journal of Nanoparticle Research, 14(2):676, 2012. 80
- [406] BR JUDD. Optical absorption intensities of rare-earth ions. Physical Review, 127(3):750, 1962. 80
- [407] JIANGTAO CHEN, JUN WANG, FEI ZHANG, DE YAN, GUANGAN ZHANG, RENFU ZHUO, AND PENGXUN YAN. Structure and photoluminescence property of Eu-doped SnO2 nanocrystalline powders fabricated by sol-gel calcination process. Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics, 41(10):105306, 2008. 80
- [408] YONGZHE ZHANG, YANPING LIU, LIHUI WU, ERQING XIE, AND JIANGTAO CHEN. Photoluminescence and ZnOâĘŠ Eu3+ energy transfer in Eu3+-doped ZnO nanospheres. Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics, 42(8):085106, 2009. 80
- [409] PAUL D TOPHAM, ANDREW J PARNELL, AND ROGER C HIORNS. Block copolymer strategies for solar cell technology. Journal of Polymer Science Part B: Polymer Physics, 49(16):1131–1156, 2011. 85
- [410] CHARLES T BLACK, RICARDO RUIZ, GREGORY BREYTA, JOY Y CHENG, MATTHEW E COLBURN, KATHRYN W GUARINI, H-C KIM, AND YING ZHANG. Polymer self assembly in semiconductor microelectronics. *IBM Journal of Research and Development*, 51(5):605–633, 2007.
- [411] ALMUT MECKE, CHRISTIAN DITTRICH, AND WOLFGANG MEIER. Biomimetic membranes designed from amphiphilic block copolymers. Soft Matter, 2(9):751-759, 2006.
- [412] ANTONIO CHECCO, ATIKUR RAHMAN, AND CHARLES T BLACK. Robust Superhydrophobicity in Large-Area Nanostructured Surfaces Defined by Block-Copolymer Self Assembly. Advanced Materials, 26(6):886– 891, 2014. 85

- [413] FRANK S BATES AND GLENN H FREDRICKSON. Block copolymer thermodynamics: theory and experiment. Annual review of physical chemistry, 41(1):525-557, 1990. 85, 86
- [414] DW SCHWARK, DL VEZIE, JR REFFNER, EL THOMAS, AND BK ANNIS. Characterization of the surface morphology of diblock copolymers via low-voltage, high-resolution scanning electron microscopy and atomic force microscopy. Journal of materials science letters, 11(6):352–355, 1992. 85
- [415] TING XU, AV ZVELINDOVSKY, GJA SEVINK, KS LYAKHOVA, H JINNAI, AND TP RUSSELL. Electric field alignment of asymmetric diblock copolymer thin films. *Macromolecules*, 38(26):10788–10798, 2005. 85
- [416] EUNGNAK HAN, KARL O STUEN, MELVINA LEOLUKMAN, CHI-CHUN LIU, PAUL F NEALEY, AND PADMA GOPALAN. Perpendicular orientation of domains in cylinder-forming block copolymer thick films by controlled interfacial interactions. *Macromolecules*, 42(13):4896–4901, 2009.
- [417] WILLIAM A PHILLIP, MARC A HILLMYER, AND EL CUSSLER. Cylinder orientation mechanism in block copolymer thin films upon solvent evaporation. *Macromolecules*, 43(18):7763–7770, 2010. 85
- [418] SHIH-HUANG TUNG, NISHA C KALARICKAL, JIMMY W MAYS, AND TING XU. Hierarchical assemblies of block-copolymer-based supramolecules in thin films. *Macromolecules*, 41(17):6453–6462, 2008. 85, 90
- [419] JIN WOOK LEE, CHANSUB LEE, SU YEON CHOI, AND SEUNG HYUN KIM. Block Copolymer- Surfactant Complexes in Thin Films for Multiple Usages from Hierarchical Structure to Nano-Objects. Macromolecules, 43(1):442-447, 2009.
- [420] CHIH-HUNG LEE AND SHIH-HUANG TUNG. Microdomain control in block copolymer-based supramolecular thin films through varying the grafting density of additives. *Soft Matter*, 7(12):5660–5668, 2011.
- [421] JUNHUAN LI, YILIN LI, JUN-TING XU, AND CHRISTINE K LUSCOMBE. Self-Assembled Amphiphilic Block Copolymers/CdTe Nanocrystals for Efficient Aqueous-Processed Hybrid Solar Cells. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 2017. 85
- [422] SG ZHANG, XW ZHANG, FT SI, JJ DONG, JX WANG, X LIU, ZG YIN, AND HL GAO. Ordered ZnO nanorods-based heterojunction light-emitting diodes with graphene current spreading layer. Applied Physics Letters, 101(12):121104, 2012. 85
- [423] JUN ZHANG, XIANGHONG LIU, GIOVANNI NERI, AND NICOLA PINNA. Nanostructured Materials for Room-Temperature Gas Sensors. Advanced Materials, 28(5):795–831, 2016.
- [424] MOHAMED A BASYOONI, MOHAMED SHABAN, AND ADEL M EL SAYED. Enhanced Gas Sensing Properties of Spin-coated Na-doped ZnO Nanostructured Films. Scientific Reports, 7, 2017.
- [425] MATTHEW C BEARD, JOSEPH M LUTHER, AND ARTHUR J NOZIK. The promise and challenge of nanostructured solar cells. Nature nanotechnology, 9(12):951–954, 2014.
- [426] XI QIN, YUXIU SUN, NAIXIN WANG, QI WEI, LINHUA XIE, YABO XIE, AND JIAN-RONG LI. Nanostructure array assisted aggregation-based growth of a Co-MOF-74 membrane on a Ni-foam substrate for gas separation. RSC Advances, 6(96):94177-94183, 2016. 85
- [427] MASSIMO LAZZARI, CARLOS RODRÍGUEZ-ABREU, JOSÉ RIVAS, AND M ARTURO LÓPEZ-QUINTELA. Self-assembly: a minimalist route to the fabrication of nanomaterials. Journal of nanoscience and nanotechnology, 6(4):892–905, 2006. 86

- [428] MAREK GRZELCZAK, JAN VERMANT, ERIC M FURST, AND LUIS M LIZ-MARZÁN. Directed self-assembly of nanoparticles. ACS nano, 4(7):3591–3605, 2010.
- [429] MARIELA J PAVAN AND ROY SHENHAR. Two-dimensional nanoparticle organization using block copolymer thin films as templates. Journal of Materials Chemistry, 21(7):2028–2040, 2011.
- [430] SEOK-SOON KIM, CHAEMIN CHUN, JAE-CHUL HONG, AND DONG-YU KIM. Well-ordered TiO 2 nanostructures fabricated using surface relief gratings on polymer films. Journal of Materials Chemistry, 16(4):370–375, 2006. 86
- [431] IVANA VUKOVIC, GERRIT TEN BRINKE, AND KATJA LOOS. Block copolymer template-directed synthesis of well-ordered metallic nanostructures. Polymer, 54(11):2591–2605, 2013. 86
- [432] C CUMMINS, D BORAH, SOZARAJ RASAPPA, A CHAUDHARI, T GHOSHAL, BMD O'DRISCOLL, P CAROLAN, N PETKOV, JD HOLMES, AND MA MORRIS. Self-assembly of polystyrene-block-poly (4-vinylpyridine) block copolymer on molecularly functionalized silicon substrates: fabrication of inorganic nanostructured etchmask for lithographic use. Journal of Materials Chemistry C, 1(47):7941-7951, 2013. 86
- [433] SIAO-WEI YEH, KUNG-HWA WEI, YA-SEN SUN, U-SER JENG, AND KENG S LIANG. CdS nanoparticles induce a morphological transformation of poly (styrene-b-4-vinylpyridine) from hexagonally packed cylinders to a lamellar structure. *Macromolecules*, 38(15):6559–6565, 2005. 86
- [434] BUMJOON J KIM, JULIA J CHIU, G-R YI, DAVID J PINE, AND EDWARD J KRAMER. Nanoparticle-Induced Phase Transitions in Diblock-Copolymer Films. Advanced Materials, 17(21):2618–2622, 2005. 86
- [435] GLENN H FREDRICKSON AND FRANK S BATES. Dynamics of block copolymers: theory and experiment. Annual Review of Materials Science, 26(1):501–550, 1996. 91
- [436] TING XU, CRAIG J HAWKER, AND THOMAS P RUSSELL. Interfacial interaction dependence of microdomain orientation in diblock copolymer thin films. *Macromolecules*, 38(7):2802–2805, 2005. 93
- [437] JAE MAN SHIN, YONGJOO KIM, HONGSEOK YUN, GI-RA YI, AND BUMJOON J KIM. Morphological Evolution of Block Copolymer Particles: Effect of Solvent Evaporation Rate on Particle Shape and Morphology. ACS nano, 11(2):2133–2142, 2017. 93
- [438] WENDY VAN ZOELEN, EVGENY POLUSHKIN, AND GERRIT TEN BRINKE. Hierarchical terrace formation in PS-b-P4VP (PDP) supramolecular thin films. Macromolecules, 41(22):8807–8814, 2008. 95
- [439] PETER K STOIMENOV, ROSALYN L KLINGER, GEORGE L MARCHIN, AND KENNETH J KLABUNDE. Metal oxide nanoparticles as bactericidal agents. Langmuir, 18(17):6679–6686, 2002. 99
- [440] CHRISTINE A MURRAY, EMMA H GOSLAN, AND SIMON A PARSONS. TiO2/UV: Single stage drinking water treatment for NOM removal? Journal of Environmental Engineering and Science, 6(3):311–317, 2007.
- [441] BINGSHE XU, MEI NIU, LIQIAO WEI, WENSHENG HOU, AND XUGUANG LIU. The structural analysis of biomacromolecule wool fiber with Ag-loading SiO 2 nano-antibacterial agent by UV radiation. Journal of photochemistry and photobiology A: Chemistry, 188(1):98–105, 2007.
- [442] ZHONGBING HUANG, XU ZHENG, DANHONG YAN, GUANGFU YIN, XIAOMING LIAO, YUNQING KANG, YADONG YAO, DI HUANG, AND BAOQING HAO. Toxicological effect of ZnO nanoparticles based on bacteria. Langmuir, 24(8):4140-4144, 2008. 99

- [443] KRISHNA R RAGHUPATHI, RANJIT T KOODALI, AND ADHAR C MANNA. Size-dependent bacterial growth inhibition and mechanism of antibacterial activity of zinc oxide nanoparticles. Langmuir, 27(7):4020– 4028, 2011. 99
- [444] LOGANATHAN PALANIKUMAR, SINNA NADAR RAMASAMY, AND CHANDRASEKARAN BALACHANDRAN. Sizedependent antimicrobial response of zinc oxide nanoparticles. IET nanobiotechnology, 8(2):111–117, 2014. 99
- [445] MARY ELLEN DAVEY AND GEORGE A O'TOOLE. Microbial biofilms: from ecology to molecular genetics. Microbiology and molecular biology reviews, 64(4):847-867, 2000. 99
- [446] IAN W SUTHERLAND. Biofilm exopolysaccharides: a strong and sticky framework. Microbiology, 147(1):3– 9, 2001. 99
- [447] LILIA FRANSISCA, BIN ZHOU, HEEKYUNG PARK, AND HAO FENG. The effect of calcinated calcium and chlorine treatments on Escherichia coli O157: H7 87–23 population reduction in radish sprouts. Journal of food science, 76(6), 2011. 99
- [448] ROB VAN HOUDT AND CHRIS W MICHIELS. Biofilm formation and the food industry, a focus on the bacterial outer surface. Journal of applied microbiology, 109(4):1117–1131, 2010. 99
- [449] HAIBO MU, JIANGJIANG TANG, QIANJIN LIU, CHUNLI SUN, TINGTING WANG, AND JINYOU DUAN. Potent antibacterial nanoparticles against biofilm and intracellular bacteria. Scientific reports, 6:18877, 2016. 99
- [450] TIINA MATTILA-SANDHOLM AND GUN WIRTANEN. Biofilm formation in the industry: a review. Food Reviews International, 8(4):573–603, 1992. 99
- [451] MANUEL SIMÕES, LUCIA C SIMOES, AND MARIA J VIEIRA. A review of current and emergent biofilm control strategies. LWT-Food Science and Technology, 43(4):573-583, 2010. 99
- [452] JEFFREY B KAPLAN, CHANDRAN RAGUNATH, NARAYANAN RAMASUBBU, AND DANIEL H FINE. Detachment of Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans biofilm cells by an endogenous β -hexosaminidase activity. Journal of bacteriology, 185(16):4693–4698, 2003. 99
- [453] M NITSCHKE, LV ARAÚJO, SGVAO COSTA, RC PIRES, AE ZERAIK, ACLB FERNANDES, DMG FREIRE, AND JONAS CONTIERO. Surfactin reduces the adhesion of food-borne pathogenic bacteria to solid surfaces. Letters in applied microbiology, 49(2):241–247, 2009. 100
- [454] UTE RÖMLING. Rationalizing the evolution of EAL domain-based cyclic di-GMP-specific phosphodiesterases. Journal of bacteriology, 191(15):4697–4700, 2009. 100
- [455] OLGA E PETROVA, KATHRYN E CHERNY, AND KARIN SAUER. The diguanylate cyclase GcbA facilitates Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilm dispersion by activating BdlA. Journal of bacteriology, 197(1):174–187, 2015. 100
- [456] DAVIDE ANTONIANI, PAOLA BOCCI, ANNA MACIAG, NADIA RAFFAELLI, AND PAOLO LANDINI. Monitoring of diguanylate cyclase activity and of cyclic-di-GMP biosynthesis by whole-cell assays suitable for highthroughput screening of biofilm inhibitors. Applied microbiology and biotechnology, 85(4):1095–1104, 2010. 100

- [457] KARTHIK SAMBANTHAMOORTHY, RUDOLPH E SLOUP, VIJAY PARASHAR, JOSHUA M SMITH, ERIC E KIM, MAR-TIN F SEMMELHACK, MATTHEW B NEIDITCH, AND CHRISTOPHER M WATERS. Identification of small molecules that antagonize diguanylate cyclase enzymes to inhibit biofilm formation. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 56(10):5202–5211, 2012. 100
- [458] LIZZIANE KRETLI WINKELSTRÖTER AND ELAINE CP DE MARTINIS. Different methods to quantify Listeria monocytogenesbiofilms cells showed different profile in their viability. Brazilian Journal of Microbiology, 46(1):231–235, 2015. 100
- [459] STACY SOMMER, ABDULLAH EKIN, DEAN C WEBSTER, SHANE J STAFSLIEN, JUSTIN DANIELS, LYNDSI J VAN-DERWAL, STEPHANIE EM THOMPSON, MAUREEN E CALLOW, AND JAMES A CALLOW. A preliminary study on the properties and fouling-release performance of siloxane-polyurethane coatings prepared from poly (dimethylsiloxane)(PDMS) macromers. Biofouling, 26(8):961–972, 2010. 100
- [460] SYLVIE MIQUEL, ROSYNE LAGRAFEUILLE, BERTRAND SOUWEINE, AND CHRISTIANE FORESTIER. Anti-biofilm activity as a health issue. Frontiers in microbiology, 7, 2016. 100
- [461] KUMUD KANT AWASTHI, ANJALI AWASTHI, NARENDER KUMAR, PARTHA ROY, KAMLENDRA AWASTHI, AND PJ JOHN. Silver nanoparticle induced cytotoxicity, oxidative stress, and DNA damage in CHO cells. Journal of nanoparticle research, 15(9):1898, 2013. 100
- [462] ANJALI AWASTHI, ANKITA DUBE, YOGITA KUMARI, LOKESH KUMAR JANGIR, KUMUD KANT AWASTHI, AND KAM-LENDRA AWASTHI. Toxicological Evaluation of TiO₂ Nanoparticles in Bacterial Cell. In Macromolecular Symposia, 357, pages 235–240. Wiley Online Library, 2015. 100
- [463] FIDEL MARTINEZ-GUTIERREZ, LAURA BOEGLI, ALESSANDRA AGOSTINHO, ELPIDIO MORALES SÁNCHEZ, HORACIO BACH, FACUNDO RUIZ, AND GARTH JAMES. Anti-biofilm activity of silver nanoparticles against different microorganisms. Biofouling, 29(6):651–660, 2013. 100
- [464] MAGDALENA LUNGU, ȘTEFANIA GAVRILIU, ELENA ENESCU, IOANA ION, ALEXANDRA BRĂTULESCU, GRIGORE MIHĂESCU, LUMINIȚA MĂRUȚESCU, AND MARIANA CARMEN CHIFIRIUC. Silver-titanium dioxide nanocomposites as effective antimicrobial and antibiofilm agents. Journal of nanoparticle research, 16(1):2203, 2014. 100
- [465] ANDREIA FONSECA DE FARIA, ANA CAROLINA MAZARIN DE MORAES, PRISCYLA DANIELY MARCATO, DIEGO STÉFANI TEODORO MARTINEZ, NELSON DURÁN, ANTÔNIO GOMES SOUZA FILHO, ADRIANO BRANDELLI, AND OSWALDO LUIZ ALVES. Eco-friendly decoration of graphene oxide with biogenic silver nanoparticles: antibacterial and antibiofilm activity. Journal of nanoparticle research, 16(2):2110, 2014. 100
- [466] SHATAVARI KULSHRESTHA, SHAKIR KHAN, RAMOVATAR MEENA, BRAJ R SINGH, AND ASAD U KHAN. A graphene/zinc oxide nanocomposite film protects dental implant surfaces against cariogenic Streptococcus mutans. *Biofouling*, 30(10):1281–1294, 2014. 100
- [467] PRAJNA JENA, SOUMITRA MOHANTY, ROJEE MALLICK, BIJU JACOB, AND AVINASH SONAWANE. Toxicity and antibacterial assessment of chitosancoated silver nanoparticles on human pathogens and macrophage cells. International journal of nanomedicine, 7:1805, 2012. 100
- [468] VARUN SAMBHY, MEGAN M MACBRIDE, BLAKE R PETERSON, AND AYUSMAN SEN. Silver bromide nanoparticle/polymer composites: dual action tunable antimicrobial materials. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 128(30):9798–9808, 2006. 100

- [469] JUSTIN T SEIL AND THOMAS J WEBSTER. Reduced Staphylococcus aureus proliferation and biofilm formation on zinc oxide nanoparticle PVC composite surfaces. Acta biomaterialia, 7(6):2579–2584, 2011. 100
- [470] MICHAL ESHED, JONATHAN LELLOUCHE, SHLOMO MATALON, AHARON GEDANKEN, AND EHUD BANIN. Sonochemical coatings of ZnO and CuO nanoparticles inhibit Streptococcus mutans biofilm formation on teeth model. Langmuir, 28(33):12288–12295, 2012. 100
- [471] ANNIE SHRESTHA, SHI ZHILONG, NEOH KOON GEE, AND ANIL KISHEN. Nanoparticulates for antibiofilm treatment and effect of aging on its antibacterial activity. Journal of endodontics, 36(6):1030–1035, 2010. 100
- [472] YI-HUANG HSUEH, WAN-JU KE, CHIEN-TE HSIEH, KUEN-SONG LIN, DONG-YING TZOU, AND CHAO-LUNG CHIANG. ZnO nanoparticles affect Bacillus subtilis cell growth and biofilm formation. PloS one, 10(6):e0128457, 2015. 100
- [473] QI WANG AND THOMAS J WEBSTER. Nanostructured selenium for preventing biofilm formation on polycarbonate medical devices. Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A, 100(12):3205-3210, 2012.
 100
- [474] RENE HERNANDEZ-DELGADILLO, DONAJI VELASCO-ARIAS, JUAN JOSE MARTINEZ-SANMIGUEL, DAVID DIAZ, INTI ZUMETA-DUBE, KATIUSHKA AREVALO-NIÑO, AND CLAUDIO CABRAL-ROMERO. Bismuth oxide aqueous colloidal nanoparticles inhibit Candida albicans growth and biofilm formation. International journal of nanomedicine, 8:1645, 2013. 100
- [475] ANJA KOTIRANTA, KARI LOUNATMAA, AND MARKUS HAAPASALO. Epidemiology and pathogenesis of Bacillus cereus infections. *Microbes and infection*, 2(2):189–198, 2000. 101
- [476] HONGBO MA, PHILLIP L WILLIAMS, AND STEPHEN A DIAMOND. Ecotoxicity of manufactured ZnO nanoparticles-a review. Environmental Pollution, 172:76-85, 2013. 101
- [477] GEORGE A O'TOOLE. Microtiter dish biofilm formation assay. Journal of visualized experiments: JoVE, (47), 2011. 101
- [478] MANORANJAN ARAKHA, MOHAMMED SALEEM, BAIRAGI C MALLICK, AND SUMAN JHA. The effects of interfacial potential on antimicrobial propensity of ZnO nanoparticle. Scientific reports, 5, 2015. 102
- [479] SANGEETHA GUNALAN, RAJESHWARI SIVARAJ, AND VENCKATESH RAJENDRAN. Green synthesized ZnO nanoparticles against bacterial and fungal pathogens. Progress in Natural Science: Materials International, 22(6):693-700, 2012. 103
- [480] TADAYUKI IWASE, AKIKO TAJIMA, SHINYA SUGIMOTO, KEN-ICHI OKUDA, IPPEI HIRONAKA, YUKO KAMATA, KOJI TAKADA, AND YOSHIMITSU MIZUNOE. A simple assay for measuring catalase activity: a visual approach. Scientific reports, 3:3081, 2013. 104
- [481] XIAOGANG LI, ZHUN YAN, AND JIANPING XU. Quantitative variation of biofilms among strains in natural populations of Candida albicans. *Microbiology*, 149(2):353–362, 2003. 104
- [482] BETSEY PITTS, MARTIN A HAMILTON, NICHOLAS ZELVER, AND PHILIP S STEWART. A microtiter-plate screening method for biofilm disinfection and removal. Journal of microbiological methods, 54(2):269–276, 2003. 104

- [483] NICOLE JONES, BINATA RAY, KOODALI T RANJIT, AND ADHAR C MANNA. Antibacterial activity of ZnO nanoparticle suspensions on a broad spectrum of microorganisms. FEMS microbiology letters, 279(1):71– 76, 2007. 104
- [484] JUSTIN T SEIL AND THOMAS J WEBSTER. Antimicrobial applications of nanotechnology: methods and literature. International journal of nanomedicine, 7:2767, 2012. 104
- [485] BING WANG, YUYING ZHANG, ZHENGWEI MAO, DAHAI YU, AND CHANGYOU GAO. Toxicity of ZnO nanoparticles to macrophages due to cell uptake and intracellular release of zinc ions. Journal of nanoscience and nanotechnology, 14(8):5688–5696, 2014. 104

List of Publications related to research work

- Lokesh Kumar Jangir, Yogita Kumari, Anil Kumar, Manoj Kumar and Kamlendra Awasthi, "Investigation of luminescence and structural properties of ZnO nanoparticles, synthesized with different precursors", Mater. Chem. Front., 2017, 1, 1413.
- Lokesh Kumar Jangir, Yogita Kumari, Manoj Kumar and Kamlendra Awasthi, "Effective doping of Er³⁺ in ZnO nanoparticles to control its luminescent properties", Macromolecular Symposia", xxx (2017) xxx (accepted).
- Yogita Kumari, Lokesh Kumar Jangir, Manoj Kumar, Kamlendra Awasthi, "Titania Nanodots Array using Self-Assembled poly(styrene)b-poly(4- vinylpyridine) Block Copolymer Nanotemplates via ex-situ Approach", Materials Letters, 2017, 209, 365-368.
- Yogita Kumari, Lokesh Kumar Jangir, Manoj Kumar, K. C. Swami and Kamlendra Awasthi, "Effect of volume fraction of minority block on the morphology of PS-b-P4VP nanotemplates, Macromolecular Symposia", xxx (2017) xxx (accepted).
- 5. Lokesh Kumar Jangir, Yogita Kumari, Manoj Kumar and Kamlendra Awasthi, "Enhanced optical properties of rare earth (Tb, Er, Eu) doped ZnO NP's ", RSC Advanced, (submitted).
- Puja Sharma, Lokesh Kumar Jangir, Garima Awasthi, Kumud Kant Awasthi, Kamlendra Awasthi, Anjali Awasthi, "Effect of ZnO nanoparticles on biofilm activity of *Bacillus subtilis*", journal of colloid and interface science, (submitted).